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Class B.

CORRESPONDENCE

WITH

FOREIGN POWERS,

RELATING TO

THE SLAVE TRADE.

1837.




‘Note.—A. further Return, containing the Correspondence from the st of January 1838 to the 24th of
April 1838, and including the Annual Repoits of the €ominissioners for 1837, is in preparation, All
the Reports have not yet been received, but those still wanting may be ‘expected shortly, and the further
Return will probably be presented to the House soon after the Easter Recess.
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Class B. 1837.

LIST OF PAPERS.

No.

1. Mr. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston - -

9, Mr. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston - -

3. Mr. Villiers to Viscount Pa.lmerston - -

4. Viscount Palmerston to Mr, Villiers - -

5. Mr. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston - -

SPAIN.
Date and Receipt.

One Enclosure R.April 3, —

D. April 8, —
One Enclosure R. April 18, —

D. April 22, —
One Enclosure R. April 30, —
- D.May 10, —
One Enclosure

- D.May 6, —
One Enclosure R.May 14, —

6. Viscount Palmerston to M. 'd’Agullar - -« D.May 15 —

7. Mr. Villiers {0 Viscount Palmerston - -

D.June 3, —
One Enclosure "R.June 11, —

8. Viscount Palmerston to Mr. Villiers - - - DiJune 15, —

9, Mr. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston - -

10. Mr, Villiers to. Viscount Palmerston - -

11, Viscount Palmerston to Mr. Villiers - - - D.June 27,
12. Mr. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston - -

13. Mr, Villiers to Viscount Palmerston - -
14, Viscount Pa.lmerston to Mr. Villiers - - - D, August 8,

15. Viscount Palmerston to Mr. Villiers - -

D.June 18,
One Enclosure R. June - 26,

D.June 18, -
One Enclosure R. June 26, —

D.July 15 —
One Enclosure R. July 26, —

D.July 22,

Two Enclosures R. July 31,

One Enclosure

D. August 9, —
One Enclosure

16. Viscount Palmerston to Mr. Villiers - - - D. Augustio, —

17. Mr. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston - -
18, Mr. Villiers to szcount Palmerston - -

19. Viscount Palmerston to Mr. Villiers - -

20. Mr. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston - - - D. August2s,

D. Augusl: 5,
Five Enclosures R. August 14,
D. August 12,
Two Enclosures R. Auvgust 19,
D. August 23, —

One Enclosure

Pl

One Enclosure R. Sept. 3,

21, Mr. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston - - - D. August 26,

22. Mr. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston - - - D.Sept. 9,

23. Mr. Villiers to Viseount Palmerston - - - D.Sept. 9,

One Enclosure R.Sept. 3,

Three Enclosures R. Sept. 17,

One Enclosure R. Sept, 17,

24. Mr. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston - - - D, Sepf. 16,

Crass B.

Two Enclosures R, Sept. 27, —

D. March 25, 1837.

11

SUBJECT. Page

Emaneipated negroes: hulk
and lazaret.. - - -

Protection of the Slave
Trade by the Authontres
of Cuba -

Form of Bond and Cerhﬁ-
cates - -

Slave Trade under ll:e Spa—
nish flag near Sierra
Leone - - - -

Distribution of emancipated
negroes under the Treaty
of 1817 - -

“ Dr.Madden :” SlaveTrade
at Cuba -

i Slave Trade in the nexgh-

bourhood of Sierra Leone

Papers laid before Pa.rlra—
ment - -

Enactment of a law in eon-

formity with the 2d Art, -

of Treaty of 1835 - -

Bond and Certificate under
10th Art. of Treaty- -

Romney hulk - - -

Romney hulk: departure
for Havana - -

“Eliza :” permission to em-
bark leg-irons - -

Negroes emancipated under
the Treatyof 1817 - -

British negroes detained as
slaves at Porto'Rico "~ -
To press the passing of the
.penal law against slave-
traders - - - -

Form of Bond and Certlﬁ-
cate - -

Form of Bond and 'Certrﬁ-
cate - -

“ Matilde” captured com-
plaint against Lreutenant
Cruz, of the “ Teresita’

Treatment of emancxpated
negroesin Cuba - -
Law against slave-traders -

Detention of British negroes
at Porto Rxco - -

“ Matilde : complamt
. against Lleulenant Cruz,
of the * Teresita” - -

“ Matilde:” inquiry to be’
made into the conduct of
Lieutenant Craz = - -

18
16

18

20
21

21




List or PAPERs.

V1
No. Date and Receipt.
25. Viseount Palmerston to Mr. Villiers - - D. Oct. 6, 1837.
One Enclosme :
26. M. Villiers fo Viscount Palmerston - - - D, Sept. 30, —
Two Enclosures R. Oct. 9, —
27. Viscount Palmerston to Mr. Villiers - - D. Oct. 11, ~—
One Enclosme
28, Mr. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston - - - D.Oct. 28, -
‘One Enclosure R. N ov. 6, —
29, Viscount Palmerston to Sir G. Villiers - - D, Nov. 14, —
One Enclosme
30, SirG. Vllhels to Viscount Palmelston - - D. Nov. 4, —
One Enclosure. R. Nov, 14, —
3L Sir G. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston” -~ - D, Dec. 3,
One Enclosure R.Dec. 12, —-
32. Sir G. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston - D. Dee. 3, —
R.Dee. 12, —
33. Sir G. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston - - D.Dee. 10,0 —
Two Enclosuus R.Dee. 19, —
34, Sir G. Villiers to szcount Palmerston = - D.Dee. 17, —
* Three Enclosures - R. Dec. 26, —
35. Viscount Palmerston to Bir G. Villiers -+ - D.Dec. 27, —
One Enclosure
, SPAIN. (Consular.)
36. Viscount Palmerston to Mr. Brackenbury - - D, March 30, 1837,
One Enclosure
37. Mr. Hardy to Viscount Palmerston - - - D.Feb, 18, —
" R.Apil 19, —
38. Mr. Brackenbury to Viscount Palmerston - - D. April 13, —
R. April 25, —
39. Mr. Brackenbury to Viscount Palmerston - - D, April 14, —
R. April 25, —
PORTUGAL.
40, Lord Howard de Walden to Viscount Palmerston D Jan., 14,1837,
R.Jan. 23, —
41, Viscount Palmerston to Lord Howard de Walden D.Feb. 28, —
42. Lord Howard de Walden to Viscount Palmerston D. March 12, —
R. March 27, —
43. Lord Howard de Walden to Viscount Palmerston 1. March 18, —
: e R. March 26, —
44, Lord Howard de Waldento Viscount Palmerston D. Apil 1, —
: ‘ R. April 19, —
45, Lord Howard de Walden to Viscount I’almerston D. April 8, —
) i ' R. April - 25, —
46. Lord Howard de Walden to Viscount Palmerston D. April 22, —
One Enclosure - R. May - 2, —
47, Lord Howard de Walden to Viscount Palmerston D. April . 26, —
Seven Enclosures R. May 4, —
. 48, Viscount Palmerston to Lord Howard de Walden D, May 6, —
One Enclosure .
49. Lord Howard de Walden to Viscount Palmerston D. April 30, —
_ R. May 7, —
50, Lord Howard de Walden to Viscount Palmerston D. May 1, —
R. May 7, —
51, szcount Palmerston toLord Howard de Walden D.May 10, =
Two Enclosures
52, Lord Howard de Walden to Viscount Palmerston D. May 5, —
53, Lord Howard de Walden to Viscount Palmerston D. %ay 5, —
. . May 14, —

SUBJECT.

Delivery of emancipated ne-
groes to the Brltlsh
Superintendent -

Romney hulk: orders for
her reception at Havana

Sale of bozal negroes at the
Havana- - -

Delivery of emancipated ne-
groes fo the Bntlsh
Superintendent -

Romney hulk: landing of
free negroes employed on
board - - -

Sale of bozal negroes at
Havana - - -

Romney hulk: free negroes
appointed to do duty on
board -

Law against slave—traders -

Romney hulk: free negroes
employed on board -

Sale of bozal negroes at
Havana - - -

“ Vencedora:” negroes con-

cealed on board while at
Cadiz - - - -

‘“ Esperan¢a” and “ Vigi-
lante,” purchased at
Sierfa Leone for Pedro
Blanco - - - -

400 negroes landed from
the Portuguese vessel
“Boca Negra” - -

“ Esperanga,” slave-vessel,
purchased at Sierra Leone

“ Cavallo -Marino * sailed’
for Manilla - - .

Decree of 10th December
1836: No progress in
Negotiations of Treaty -

Treaty : Toreportthe actual
state of Negotiations -

Treaty : No prospect of pro-
gress until after the pro-
rogation of Cortes - -

Treaty: Has pressed for 1ts
conclusion - -

Treaty: V. Sada Ba.ndelra
is preparing a Project -

Treaty: Alleged employ-
‘ment of British vessels in
the Slave Trade - -

“Latona” fitted for the
Slave Trade - -

“ Latona” - - -

Fernandez, a slave trader,
as Portuguese Consul at
Havana - - -

* Latona :” The Awmerican
Consul has withdrawn his
protection - - -

¢ Latona” - - -

Portuguese Slave Trade

at Porto Prayo - -
¢ Latona” - - -

‘Treaty: Portuguese counter—
project - - -

Page

22
23

23
24

24

25

26
26

27

27

28

2y

29
29

30

3¥

31
32
32
32

33

33

38
39
39
40
40

41



List or PAPERS.

No.
54, Lord Howard de Walden to Viseount Palmerston
’ One Enclosure

55. Viscount Palmerston to Lord Howard de Walden
One Enclosure

56, Viscount. Palmerstonto Lord Hovy;;g %9;1 gfoilg:;
57, Viseount Palmerston to Lord Howard de Walden
58, Viscount Palmerston to Lord Howard de Walden
59, Lord Howard de Walden to Viscount Palmerston
-60. Lord Howard de Walden to Viscount Palmerston

61. Lord Howard de Walden to Viscourit Palmerston

62, Viscount Palmeréton'to'Lord Howard de Walden
One Enclosure

63. Lord Howard de Walden to Viscount Palmerston
One Enclosure

Date and ' Receipt.

D. May
R..May
D. June

D. Oct.

D. Oct.
D.-Oet.

D. Nov.
R. Nov.

D. Nov.
R. Nov.

D. Nov.
R.'Nov.
D.Dec.

D. Dee,
R. Dec.

‘14,
.25,

.29,

13, 1837.

27, —
9,

7,

18, -

27,

21,

21,
29,

4,
11,
18,

PORTUGAL. (Consular.)

64. Viscount Palmerston o Mr. Egan- - - D.May 10, 1837,
65, Mr,Eganto Mr, Bidwel - - - - ©D.Nov. 17, —
i - R.Dec. .18, —
NETHERLANDS.
66, Viseount Palmerston to Sir E.C. Disbrowe - D.June 30, 183Y.
One Enclosure
67, Sir E. C. Disbrowe to Vrscount Palmerston - D. July 7, —
‘One Enclosure R.July 13, —
68. 8ir E. C. Disbrowe to Viscount Palmerston =~ - D.July 17, —
. " R.July 20, -~
69, Viscount Palmerston to Sir E. C. Disbrowe = - D. Aug. T1, —
One Enclosure
70,°Sir E. C. Disbrowe to Viseount Palmerston -~ D, Aug. 21, —
One Enclosure R. Aug. 24, —
71. Sir E, C. Disbrowe to Viscount Palmerston - D. Oet. 3 —
One Enclosure R. Oct. 5 —
BRAZIL.
72. Mr. Hamilton to Viscount Palmerston - <« D.Feb. 27, 1837,
Three Enclosures R. May 4, —
73. Mr. Hamilton to Viscount Palmerstdn - - D.March 22, —
Three Enclosures R. May 13, —
74, Mr. Hamilton to Viscount Palmerston - ~ D.April 18, —
Two Enclosures R, June 18, -~—
75. Mr. Hamilton to Viscount Palmerston - - D. April 18,
Two Enclosures R.June 18, —
76. Mr. Hamilton to Viscount Palmerston - - D, May .24,
‘Three Enclosures R.. July ‘26,
77, Mr. Hamilton to Viscount Palmerston - -~ D.June 24, —
One Enclosure R. Aug. 22, —
78. Mr. Hamilton to Viscount Palmerston - - D.June 26,
One Enclosure R. Aug. 22,
79. Mr. Hamilton to Vlscount Palmerston - - D.July s
One Enclosure R. Aug. 22,
‘80, Mr. Hamilton to Viscount. Palmerston - D. July 3, -
Two Enclosures -R.Aug. 22, —
81. Viscount Palmerston to Mr. Hamilton - - D, Sept. 6, —
82. Mr. Hamilton to Viscount Palmerston - - D. Au 15, —
One-Enclosure 6, =

R. Oct.

SUBJECT.
Treaty: Portuguese counter-

project - -
Portuguese Slave Tra.de:
Havana- - - = -

Slave Trade of Portugal:
“Flor de Tajo” and * Pro-

.-videncia” - - -
Portuguese Slave Trade:
Brazils - - - -

To press Treaty ongma]ly
proposed -

Treaty: M. Sa da Bandeira.

will renew Negotiations -

“Eugenia” captured by a
Brazilian cruizer -

Treaty: Has urged Portu—
guese Minister to resume
Negotiations- - - - =

Slave Trade under Portu-
guese flag: Brazils . -

“ Flor de Tajo” and *Provi-
dencia” - . -- - =

Instructions to watch the
Slave Trade - - -

Capture of thé * Traga.
‘Millas” - -

Arrival of General Verveer’s
Mission at Coomassie -~

General Verveer's Mission

General Verveer has bronght
two Ashantee princes -

Probable bad effects of :Ge-
neral Verveer’s. Mission -
General Verveer’s Mission :
Note to Baron Verstolk -
General Verveer’s Mission:

Answer from Baron Ver-
stolk - - - -

“ Mindello:” Further Cor-
.respondence with the Bra~
‘zilian Government - <

ﬁReply made by Brazﬂlan

Minister - =

Delays in adjudxcatlon
Hulk for the receptwn of
negroes - -

Slave-vessel “ Vinto Douos :

de Setembre” - -

Slave Trade Report for
March -

Has urged ratification of
the Additicnal Article =

Ordinanee for visiting ves~
sels arriving from Coast
-of Afrxca» - - -

Marquis of Barbacena’s
project of Law on Slave
Trade - - - -

‘Slave Trade Report for May
and June -

vil

Page

41

41

42
42
43
43

43

43
44

44

46

46

48
48
49
49

51

51

56

59

61
63
63

65

67

67

70

To press for the ratlﬁca.tmn :

of Additional Articles -
Non-ratification of Addi-
tional Articles: Project

of Law by Murqms of
Barbacena, -

71

72




viii List oF PaPERS.

No. Date and Receipt,

83, Mr. Hamilton fo Viscount Palmerston - - D. Aug.
Two Enclosures R, Oct.

84, Mr. Hamilton to Viscount Palmerston - . D, Aug.
Five Enclosures R. Oct.

85, Viscount Palmerston to Mv, Hamillon - - D. Oct.

86. Mr. Hamilton to Viscount Palmerston - - D, Sept.
Two Enclosures R. Nov.

D. Oct.
R. Nov.

88. Mr. Hamilton to Viscount Palmerston - - D. Oct.
One Enclosure R. Nov.

89, Viscount Palmerston to Mr. Hamilton - - D, Nov.

87. Mr. Hamilton to Viscount Palmerston -

90, Viscount Palmerston to Mr. Hamilton - - D. Dee,

15,1837,

6, ~—
15, —

6, —

16, —

14,
16,

14,
28,

14,
28,

30,

Tt

4,

BRAZIL. (Consular.)

91. Mr, Robilliard to Viscount Palmerston - - D. Jan. 1,1837.
Two Enclosures R.May, 1, —
92. Mr. Robilliard to Viscount Palmerston - - D. April 26, —
R.June 22, —
93. Mr. Watts to Viscount Palmerston - - - D.May 5 -—
R. June 20, —
94, Mr. Consul Moon to Viscount Palmerston - - D, May 27, —
R.July 24, —
95. Mr. Hesketh to Viscount Palmerston - - D.May 24, —
R.July 31, —
96, Mr. Hesketh to Viscount Palmerston - - D .Aug. 4, —
R.Oct. 7, —
97. Mr. Hesketh to Viscount Palmerston - - D, Avg. 14, —
R. Oct, 7, —
98, Mr. Hesketh to Viscount Palmerston - - D.Aug. 28, —
R.Nov. 22, —
99. Mr. Hesketh to Viscount Palmerston - = D.Sept. 14, —
R.Nov. 15, —
100. Mr. Watts to Viscount Palmerston - - - D, Sept. 23, -~
. R.Nov. 15, ==
101. Mr. Hesketh to Viscount Palmerston = -« D.Oct. 11, —
R.Nov. 28, —

FRANCE.

102. Earl Granville to Viscount Palmerston - - D.Jan. 16,1837
) One Enclosure R.Jan. 19, —
103. Earl Granville to Viscount Palmerston -~ - D.June 9, —
One Enclosure R.June 11, —

DENMARK.

104. Sir W. Wynne ta Viscount Palmerston . . D, May 21,1837

. Four Enclosures R. May 26, —

SUBJECT.

Additional duty on goods in
transitu for the African
market - - - -

Reports onSlave Trade from
Maranham and Pernam.
buco : Arrivals and de.
partures, Rio, July- .

To protest against aqdi.
tional duty on goods in
transitu: To press for ra-
tification of Additiona]
Articles - - .

Non-ratification of Addi-
tional Article: Report of
Committee of Diplomacy
thereupon - .

Proceedings on M. Barba.
cena’s project of law .

Slave Trade report for
Avgust - . . L

To press ratification of Ad.
ditional Article - -

Approval of intention to
protest against the Mar-
quis of Barbacena’s pro-
jeetoflaw - .7 .

(Bahia): Half-yearly re-
turn of vessels arrived and
sailed for Africa - -

Receipt of Cireular with
Portuguese Decree -
Difficulty of obtaining in-
formation respecting the
Slave Trade - - -

No Slave Trade at present
carried on at Maranham

Receipt of Cireular with the
Portuguese Decree -

“Especulador :* Duty of
16% per cent. on goods in
transitu for the African
market - - - -

¢ Especulador :* Duty . of
164 per cent. on goods in
transitu for the African
market - . . .

“ Especulador:” Duty of
164 per cent. on goods in
transitu for the African
market - - . -

“ Especulador:” Duty of
164 per cent, on goods in
fransitu for the African
market - - - -

Receipt of Cirenlar with
Parliamentary Papers -

Receipt of Circular with
Parliamentary Papers -

Proposed Treaty between
the Five European Powers
Debate in the French Cham-
bers on the Abolition of
Slavery~ - . -

Sale of British negroes in
Danish West India
Islands - - - -

Paga

73

74

77

78
80
80

80

81

82

84

84
84

85

85

86

86

86
87

87

88

80



List or PAPERS.; ix

HANSE TOWNS.

No Date and Receipt, SUBJECT. Page
M. Canni i n - - D.June 13,1837. Treaty of Accession to the
105. M. Canning to Visoount Palmersto R.June 17, — Coxy;vention with France

concluded and signed - 93
- D.Aug. 3,1837. Treaty: His Majesty’s rati-

1

106. Viscount Palmerston to Mr. Canning

fieation -~ - - 93

7N i i ton - . D.Sept. 12, -~ Treaty: Ratifications ex-
107, Mr. Canning to Viscount Palmers > Segt. 1% = e cations ex-

PRUSSIA.

\ i t Palmerston - D.Feb. 11,1837. Portuguese Decree of 10th

108, Lovd Wan. Russell to Viscoun One Enclosure R, Feb. 21, — December published in
the State Gazette - - 95

RUSSIA. |
109, Earl Durham to Viscount Palmerston - - D.March 1,1837. Receipt of Portuguese De-

R. March 14, — cree of 10th December . 96

SARDINIA.
. Sir A. Forster to Viscount Palmerston - - D.Jan. 27,1837. Reportof a slaver fitting out
110, 8ir A Forsterto Vi .Two Enclosures R.Feb. 3, — atGenoa - - - 97

TWO SICILIES.

i11. Mr. Temple to Viscount Palmerston- - - D.Feb. [6,1837. Treaty with Naples: Dif-
Two Enclosures R. Feb. 22, — ficnlties- - - - 99

112. Viscount Palmerstonto Mr. Temple - - - D, March 25, — _ Treaty with Naples: Dif-
. ficulties- - - - 101

113. Viscount Palmerston to Mr. Temple - - - D.April 25, — A slave-vessel, under Sici-
One Enclosure lian colours,nearSurinam 101

114. Mr. Temple to Viscount Palmerston - - - D.April 30, — The King of Naples con-

: R.May 18, — sents that the negotia~
tions shall be opened - 102

115, Mr, Temple to Viscount Palmerston - - - D.May 18, —  Slave.vessel, under Sicilian

’ R.June 1, — colours, near Surinam :
Not a Sicilian vessel - 102

116, Mr, Temple to Viscount Palmerston- - - D.May 31, — Treaty: Progress of Nego-
R. June 15, — tiation - - -  -102

117, Mr. Temple to Viscount Palmerston - - - D.June 6, — Proposed Treaty submitted .
R. June 19, — to the King of Naples in"~

Council - -  -103

118, Mr. Temple fo Viscount Palmerston - - - D.Sept. 16, — The proposed Treaty ap-

R. Oct. 2, - proved of by the King of
Naples - - - -103

119, Mr, Temple to Viscount Palmerston - - - D.Sept. 17, -—— The Treaty will be signed

R.Oct. 7, — without further delay - 163

TUSCANY.

120, Mr. Abercrombie to Viscount Palmerston - - D.Feh. 11,1837. Proposal to Tuscany to ac-
R. Feb. 21, ~— cede to the Conventions

with France - - - 104

121, Mr. Abercrombie to Viscount Palmerston- - D.Feb. 18, — Tuscany will accede to the
One Enclosure R, Feb, 28, — Conventions with France 104

122, Mr, Abercrombie to Viscount Palmerston- - D.Nov. 24, —  Convention of Accession
R. Dec. 5, — signed - - - -105

BUENOS AYRES. ,

123. Viscount Palmerston to My, Mandeville -~ - D.June 9,1836, To press the conclusion of
‘& Treaty - - =106

124, Mr. Mandeville to Viscount Palmerston - - D.QOct, 5, — Treaty: conference with

One Enclosure R, Jan. 8, 1837,  Senor Arana - - 107




x LisT or PAPERs.
No. Date and Receipt,
125. Mr. Mandeville to Viscount Palmerston - - D.Nov. 15, 1836.
One Enclosure R.Jan. 24, 1837,
126, Mr. Mandeville to Viscount Palmerston - - D.Dec. 21,1836.
R. March 23, 1837.
127, Mr, Mandeville to Viscount Palmerston - - D.Jan. 20, 1837,
Two Enclosures R, May 12, —~—
128. Mr. Mandeville to Viscount Palmerston - - D. March 1, —
129. Viscount Palmerston to Mr. Mandeville ~ - 1. June 10, —
_ One Enclosure
130. Mr. Mandeville to Viscount Palmerston - ~ D.May 8, —
Six Enclosures R. Aug. 22, —
131. Viscount Palmerston to Mr. Mandeville - - D, Oct. 24, —
132, Mr. Mandeville to Viscount Palmerston - - D.Aug. 18, —
R, Nov. 16, —
CHILL
133. Mr. Walpole to Viscount Palmerston- - - D, April 20, 1837,
R, Aug. 24, —
134, Mr. Walpole to Viscount Palmerston- - - D, June 11, —
R, Nov. 2, —

NEW GRENADA.

135. Mr. Turner to Viscount Palmerston - - - D,May 25,1837,

R, Sept. 1, —
MEXICO.

136. Mr. Pakenham to Viscount Palmerston - - D, March 4, 1837.
R. April 29, —
137. Mr. Pakenham to Viscount Palmerston - - D, April 25, —
R,June 19, —
138, Mr. Ashburnham fo Viscount Palmerston - - D, May 1, —
One Enclosure. R, June 19, —
139, Mr. Ashburnham to Viscount Palmerston- - D.May 1, —
One Enclosure R. June 19, —
140. Viscount Palmerston to Mr. Ashburnham - - D, Aug, 14, —
141. Mr. Ashburnham to Viscount Palmerston - - D. Oct. 3 —
Two Enclosures R.Dee. 15, -
142. Mr. Ashburnham to Viscount Palmerston - - D.Nov. 7, —
R, Dec. 31, -~

MEXICO. (Consular.)

143, Mr, Parkinson to Viscount Palmerston - - D. Sept. 30, 1837,
) R. Dee. 15, —

144. Mr. Parkinson to Viscount Palmerston - - D.Oct. 3, —
R.Dec. 15, ~

One Enclosure

MONTE VIDEO.

145. Mr. Hood to Viscount Palmerston - - - D. March 28, 1837,
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No. 1.
Myr. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received April 3.)

My Logrp, Madyid, 25th March, 1837.

I HavE the honour to enclose the Translation of a Note, which I have
received from Count Almodovar, informing me that, in compliance with the
request contained in my Note of the 19th January to M. Calatrava, orders have
been sent to the Captain-General of Cuba to permit a hulk to be established in the
bay of the Havana for the reception of liberated negroes, and a lazaret on land for
negroes whose state of health requires, that they should be separated from those
on board the hulk. v :

I have, &ec.
(Signed) ~ GEORGE VILLIERS.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B.

&c. &c. &c.

Enclosure in No. 1.
(Translation.) Count of Almodovar to Mr. Villiers,

Sin, Madrid, 12th March, 1837.

Wizn reference to my communication to you, of the 21st January last, in reply to the Note
which you were pleased to address to me on the 19th of that month, agreeably to Instructions from
‘your Government, respecting the stationing of a hulk in the harbour of the Havana for the reception
of negroes liberated by the Mixed Court of Justice, and the establishment of a lazaret in some building
on shore, for the small number of negroes whose bad state of health will not permit of their remaining
on board the hulk, I have tlie honour to communicate lo you, that Her Majesty’s Government approves
and permits both these arrangements, for the reasons alleged in your above-mentiofied Note ; and
consequently, under this date, I send to the Captain-General of Cuba the necessary Instructions to
give every aid in his power towards carrying them into effect; but, at the same time, and also by Her
Majesty’s Command, I inform him :—first, that it being difficult to determine from hence, with cer-
fainty, if the stationing of the hulk in the harbour itself of the Havana may not be attended with
some difficulties, in consequence of the impediment which it may cause to the entrance, departure, and
stay of other vessels, he is to concert with the British Commissioner the port or point in which the
said hulk can be stationed, bearing in mind that this measure has no other object than that of greater
public convenience, united with the safety of the country; and secondly, that, in concert with the said
British Commissioner, he shall select the place or building for the estgblishment of.the depft or
lazaret for the sick negroes, in order that they may be properly taken care of, for which object he is
ot to lose sight of the Sanitory Regulations, and, in conformity with them, previous to the disem-
barkation of the sick negroes, a Physician, appointed by the Captain-General himself, is to examine
them. Having the satisfaction of making the above communication to yon, I do not doubt that, on
your part, you will make use of it, as may appear to you best calculated for carrying into effect the
objects proposed by both Governments. ‘ - : ‘

. o T avail myself, &e. - o :
The Brjsfz'sh Jginister, ’ (Signed) COUNT OF ALMODOVAR.

e &e. . ‘

Crass B,
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No. 2.
Mpr. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received April 18.)

My Lorp, Madrid, 8th April, 1837.

I uave the honour to enclose the Copy of a Note which, in compliance with
the Instructions contained in your Lordship’s Despatch, Slave Trade, of the*28t}
of February, I have addressed to M. Calatrava, respecting the means resorted o
at the Havana for evading the Treaty of 1835, and the protection afforded to the
Slave Trade by the Authorities of Cuba.

I have, &e.

(Signed) GEORGE VILLIERS.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B.

&e. &e. &e.

Enclosure in No. 2.

Mr. Villiers ta M. Calatrava.
Sz, Madrid, 6th April, 1837,

I HAvE received Instructions to express to your Excellency the anxiety of my Government to
be informed, whether any measures have yet bten taken for the fulfilment of the provisions of
Article 2 of the Treaty for the Suppression of the Slave Trade, of 28th June 1835, by the promulga-
tion of a law inflicting severe punishment on all thpse subjects of Her Catholic Majesty who shall take
any part whatever in the traffic of slaves. -

I deeply regret to have, at the same time, to communicate to your Excellency that certain Authori-
ties of Her Catholic Majesty, in the Havana, instead of zealously endeavouring to carry into effect the
Treaty of 1835 for the abolition of this execrable traffic, appear to countenance the means which are
resorted to for its evasion.

In order that the trade may be carried on as secretly as possible, since the ratification of the Treat
inquestion, the regulation that all vessels returning from the Coast of Africa to the Havana should hoist
a red flag has been dispensed with. The arrival of such vessels is now forbidden to be noticed in the
newspapers ; and, what is more, vessels sailing to that Coast are perinitted to leave the harbour in the
dark,—an act which, in all other cases, involves a severe penalty.

In order to avoid the provisions of this Treaty, well-known Spanish vessels are permitted to enter
the harbour under Portuguese colours ; and no inquiry appears to be made, nor is any difficulty inter-
posed, which would tend to secure the observance of the provisions of the Treaty.

The crews of captured vessels are permitted to purchase their liberation; and, in short, it would
seem that the persons concerned in this trade have resolved upon setting the Government of the
mother-country at defiance; and that, with the servants of that Government in the Colony, their mis-
conduct finds favour and protection. It would be idle on my part, in addressing myself to yout
Excelleney, to dwell upon the faith of Treaties, or upon the paramount importance of their provisions
being scrupulously fulfilled ; for I do not doubt that your Excellency, as strongly impressed with these
truths asany one can be, will immediately take such measures, both in Spain and the Spanish Colonies,
as will prove that the solemn engagements of Her Catholic Majesty’s Government are not to be
violated with impunity.

I have, &ec.
His Excellency Don Jose Maria Calatreva, (Signed) GEORGE VILLIERS,
&e. &ec. &e.
‘ No, 3.
My. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received April 80.)
My Lorp, Madrid, 22d April, 1837.

In obedience to the Instructions contained in your Lordship’s Despatch,
marked Slave Trade, of the 30th March, I have addressed a Note to M. Calatrava,
of which I herewith enclose the Copy, renewing my application respecting the form
of Bond and Certificates to be issued under the Regulations of the Slave Trade
Treaty, to vessels carrying out casks to the Coast of Africa for the purpose of

trading in palm oil.
I have, &ec.

(Signed) GEORGE VILLIERS.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G-.C.B.

&e. &c. &e.

Enclosure in No. 8.

: Mpr, Villiers to M. Calalrava.
Stx, : Madrid, 19th April, 1837.
In my Note of the 9th June last, I had the honour to inform your Excellency’s predecessor
that I had received the Instructions of my Government to apply to the Spanish Government with
respect to the form of Bond and Certificates to be granted, under the Regulations of the Treaty for
the Abolition of the Slave Trade, to vessels carrying out casks to the Coast of Africa for the purpose of
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trading in palm oil. I had also the honour to enclose a Copy of the Bond and Certificate which had
‘peen adopted in these cases by the British Government, and to request that, as soon as the Spanish
Government had resolved upon their form for these docaments, they might be communicated to me
for the information of the Mized Court of Justice sitting at Sierra Leone.

As yet, I have not had the honour of receiving an answer to my Note. I beg, hovyever, to.st,ate to
your Excellency that it is extremely desirable that some form of Certificate, framed in the spirit and
according to the Regulations of the Treaty, should be adopted, in order torelieve the Mixed Cou.rt f:rom
the embarrassment they may be thrown into by the presentation of irregular documents of _thls kind,
which, though issued by Officers of the Spanish Government, have no legal force, from not being drawn
up according to the meaning of the Equipment Article of the Treaty. :

I have the honour to enclose a Copy [of one of these documents, found among the ‘Papers.of the
captured ship * Luisita,” which your Excellency will perceive loses all its validity fi rom its making no
mention of security having been taken for the lawful employment of casks referred to in the document.

I have, &ec.
His Excellency Don Jose Maria Calatrara. (Signed) GEORGE VILLIERS.
&e. &e. &c.
No. 4.
Viscount Palmerston to Mr. Villiers.
SiR, ' Foreign Office, 10th May, 1837.

WoitH reference to my Despatch to you of the 28th of February last, con-
taining Copy of the Report made by His Majesty’s Commissioners at Havana
upon Slave Trade during the year 1836, I now transmit to you for your further
information, and for communication to the Spanish Government, the Copy of a
Despatch, and of its Enclosures, from His Majesty’s Commissioners at Sierra
Leone, reporting the state of the Slave Trade in the neighbourhood of that Colony
during the year above mentioned.

I am, &ec.

G. W. F. Villiers, Esq. (Signed) PALMERSTON.
&e. &e. &ec.

Enclosure in No. 4.
(See Class A. of 1836. Supplement A, No. 3.)

No. 5.
My. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received May 14.)

My Lorp, Madrid, 6th May, 1837.

I mave the honour to enclose the Translation of a Note, which I have
received from M. Calatrava, in answer to the complaints which, at various times, I
have addressed to his Excellency, upon the manner in which the stipulations of the
Slave Treaty are disregarded by the Authorities of Cuba.

I have, &ec.- '
(Signed) GEORGE VILLIERS.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B.

&e. &e. §e.

Enclosure in No. 5.
(Translation.) M. Calatrava to Mr. Villiers.
Sir, Madrid, 28th April, 1837.

Ox the 5th June last my predecessor had the honour to inform you that, by Her Majesty’s
Commands he had addressed the most positive orders to the Captain-General of Cuba, direct-
ing him, agreeably to the engagements between Spain and Great Britain® for the Abolition of the
Slave Trade, contained in the Treaties of the years 1817 and 1835, to pay the greatest attention to
the scrupulous execution of the stipulations of -the said Treaties, in order to insure to the liberated
negroes the complete emancipation, which, by those Treaties, is granted to them ; and it falls now to
my lot to have the hionour to satisfy your complaints upon this subject, by transeribing herewith that
which the abovementioned Captain-General states with respect to the same subject, and by forward-
ing to you the enclosed Copies, to which reference is made. )

“The Royal Order which I have just mentioned, far from producing any.embarrassment in the
frank manifestation of my proceedings, places me in the advantageous position of being able to give
an exact account of them ; to repeat that which upon other occasions I had the bonour of representing
to Her Majesty ; to show that the stipulations of the existing Treaties have been in no way violated ;
‘and that the accusation. brought forward against the Authorities of the island is founded upon mali-
clous reports, ’
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¢ Already once before, on the 81st December 1834, upon the occasion of a similar complaint mad
© belore, on L MOer 182%, 1) e
by one of the British Commissioners of Arbitration, in this place, I addressed to Her Majesty throumI;
the office which your Excellency so worthily directs, a communication, in which I stated the’ just dis
positions which I had taken with regard to this subject. The contribution of 17 dollars, exacted iaefore:,
my taking this command, upon the hire of cach liberated negro, and which contribution was de 0
sited in the office of this Governmgat for the sugport of public establishments, gave rise to suspici(?n;
more or less founded, more or less probable, that other sums were received by the officers who inter.
vened in the distribution of the liberated negroes. In order to strike at the root of a complaint of thig
kind, always prejudicial to the decorum of the Authorities, I thought it expedient to do away with the
abovementioned contribution, and to prevent any sum whatever being received by the officers employed
in the Secvetaryship of this Government, either under this or any other title, For the custody of
the sums destined for the several public works, which I undertook from the moment of my taking the
command of this island, I appointed two of the richest persons, who also enjoyed a well-merited ?epu.
tation, namely, the Count of the Reunion, and Don Joachim Gorney, President of the Tribunal of
Commerce; and I recommended that, in the distribution of liberated negroes, those persons should
be preferred who, possessing the required qualifications, might prove, with the receipts of the above-
mentioned depositaries, that they had rendered some service, or contributed with voluntary donations
to the funds applied to public works,

“ There is nothing objectionable in this method of distributing the liberated negroes: no price is
fixed upon them, neither is their civil condition altered. Free at the time of their being delivered, they
continue in the enjoyment of their liberty during ‘the whole time that they are employed in service, or
in labouring for the persen under whose care they are placed ; and any one who should abuse suc’h 2
deposit, and endeavour to reduce to slavery a free man, would be punished with all the rigour of the
Spanish laws, which, in this respect, are not less severe than those of England, and those which are in
force in other civilized nations. ILet, upon this occasion, the regulations, or set of conditions, be
examined, under which liberated negroes were distributed before my taking this command, and of
which T forward Copies, under No. 1, as well as the new set of counditions established during my
government, and of which Copies are enclosed nnder No. 2,and the gond treatment of the liberated
negroes will be found to be us much respected in them as in the British Possessions themselves.

*“ According to these regulations, no person cau take charge of a liberated negro if he is not a pro-
prietor of land, or if he does not give proper security ; and he is strictly bound to provide both good
nourishmeunt and religious education for the negro, and all other things necessary to make them useful
individuals. By the 8th Article it is determined, that any person who shall sell one of the abovemen-
tioned negroes, or shall report him to be dead or fugitive, shall be prosecuted with all the rigour of the
law for the crime of selling a free man; and, besides that, shall be compelled to pay a fine of 500
dollars, half of which is to be paid into the hands of the informer. It was wished to give a stimulus
to denunciation, and this circumstance proves the care that has been taken to prevent all abuse from
being committed upon a free man. I, therefore, cannot conceive what grounds the British Minister
can have had to consider the distribution of liberated negroes in no other light than that of @ sale :
when a crime of this nature is forbidden by the repulutions, and severely punished by the laws: when
two persons are both legally entitled to solicit an emancipated negro, does the preference given to that
one who may prove that he has rendered some service merit such a qualification? Is the civil condi-
tion of the libarated negro altered thereby in the least? Are the couditions altered under which that
person receives him? In the note in question also a further accusation is made, because the taking
the liberated negroes to the interior of the country is permitted ; and, truly, this circumstance does not
merit any blame whatever. 'The 4th Article of the Annex. sub litt. C., which forms a part of the
Treaty concluded in Madrid, on the 28th of June, 1835, only stipulates that the Spanish Government
shall canse.the liberated negroes to be treated in strict conformity with the regulations lately promul-
gated in this city, or with those which may in future be adopted. No article exists in those regulations
enacting that the liberated negroes are bound to reside in the city of the Havana, and if it did exist,
the considerable number of this class agalomerated from the year 1817 up to this day would imme-
diately compromise the existence of the island. Their good treatment is recommended in general terms,
as well as their being taught useful labours, by which they may acquire sufficient skill to earn their live-
lihood in future : a religious education is prescribed, and none of these requisites are incompatible with
their residence in the country. Moreover, public tranquillity, political considerations of the greatest
moment, and impatience, have compelled me to prefer employing liberated negroes in the country.
There it is easier to waich over them, and there is more facility for rendering them useful members of
society, and preventing their contact with suspected negroes. In the city, on the contrary, the means
of dissipation abound, care canuot produce the same effects as in the country, nor preserve them entirely
from the intercourse with bad negroes, who, by inspiring them with exaggerated ideas of their condi-
tion, may render them dangerous for communicating even with the newly imported negroes.”

I avail, &e.
The British Minister, (Signed) JOSE M. CALATRAVA.

§e. &e.

No. 6
Viscount Palmerston to M. D’ Aguilar.
Foreign Office, 15th May, 1837. .

Tae Undersigned, &c., has the honour to return to M. D’Aguilar, &c.,
the Papers, which M. D’Aguilar communicated to the Undersigned, upon the
subject of the proposed removal of Dr. Madden, His Majesty’s Superintendent
of Emancipated Negroes, resident at the Havana. : o

The Undersigned must express his regret, that the zeal and perseverance in the
performance of a public duty, which have obtained for Dr. Madden the approbation
of his own Government, should not have equally secured for him that of the
Government of Cuba. ' ' '
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His Majesty’s Government have as yet had no reason to think, that Dr. Madden
has done anything in the fulfilment of the duties assigned to him, either as Super-
intendent of Liberated Africans, or as temporary member of the Mixed Court of
Justice, which would justly subject him to such a mark of censure on the part of
the Crown, as would be his removal from his post: on the contrary, Dr. Madden
has given indisputable proofs of that anxiety and assiduity in the discharge of
difficolt and irksome duties, without which he would not be fit for the appointment
for which he has been selected. v

‘As the Captain-General of Cuba Don M. Tacon positively declares, that he in
no degree protects, and in no manner encourages the illicit importation of slaves
into Cuba, His Majesty’s Government is bonnd to believe, that he is ignorant of
the gross and continued misconduct in this respect of all the subordinate auntho-
sities under his command. But that an extensive and continual traffic in slaves
does take place, in and from Cuba ; that slave-ships are notoriously fitted out at ihe
Havana, and sent to the Coast of Africa for slaves ; that many of these ships
return to Cuba, and there illegally land their cargoes; that this fraudulent trafiic
is connived at and encouraged by all the subordinate Local Authorities ; that the
names of ships going to and returning from the Coast of Africa are no longer
published in the Official Gazette ; that such ships are now no longer required to
hoist the distinguishing red flag at the mast-head ; that ships destined for the
Slave Trade are permitted, for the sake of secrecy, to quit the port after nightfall -
all these and many other facts of a similar tendency are well known to His
Majesty’s Government; and it is of great importance for the honour of the
Spanish Government, which suffers by the continuance of such practices, that
these facts should, without delay, be made known also to Don M. Tacon, in order
that he may, for his own sake, and out of regard for the character of Spain, take
those promptand energetic measures, which will doubtless occur to him, for putting
an immediate stop to these scandalous proceedings, which are at variance with all
the professions of the Spanish Government, and incompatible with the solemn.
engagements of the Spanish Crown.

: I have, &ec.
To Monsieur D’ Aguilar, (Signed) PALMERSTON.
e. e,  &e. ‘ '
No. 7. . ‘
Mpy. Villiers to Viscournt Palnerston.—(Received June 11.)
(Extract.) Madyid, 3d June, 1837.

I save the honour to enclose the Copy of a Note, which, in obedience to
the Instructions contained in your Lordship’s Despatch, marked Slave Trade, of
the 10th ultimo, I have addressed to M. Calatrava.

Enclosure in No. 7.
Mpr. Villiers to M. Calatrava.

Sir, ' Madrid, 2d June, 1837.

I nave the honour to inform your Excellency that my Government, persuaded of - the zeal and
good will which animate the Government of Her Catholic Majesty in_their co-operation. with that .of
His Britannic Majesty in endeavouring to suppress the odious traffic in slaves, has instructed me .to-
inform your Excelleucy that 51 cases of vessels' captured as being engaged in this trade, have been
adjudged in the Courts of Mixed Commission established at Sierra Leone, between the 1st of January,.
1836, and the 1st Jauuary, 1837. L .

Twenty-eizht of these vessels were seized and prosecuted for having equipped for the Slave Trade,
under the 10th Article of the Treaty of 1835, between Great Britain and Spain, Of these 28 vessels
24 were condemned, and may, therefore, be looked upon as a clear gain to the cause. of humanity,
arising out of the conclusion of the T'reaty in question.  Itis, however, to be lamented that a sincere
and cordial desire does not exist, on the part of thé Authorities of Cuba, to carry into full operation
the stipulations of this Treaty, otherwise this inhuman traffic would shortly. receive its death-blow.
When these Authorities are found clearing out slave-irons as an article of merchandize, as I had the
!mnour to represent to your Excellency in my Note of 19th January last, and when, at the same time,
in place of the formal Bouds and Certificates drawn up according to the Equipmient Article of the
'.l.‘reaty, these same Authorities grant to vessels (foreign as well as Spanish) a loosely worded permis-
sion to carry an extraordinary quantity of water-casks, without any security having beed taken for the
lawf.ul employment of their casks (as your Excellency will find fully detailed in my Note of the 19th
..Apnl last, requesting the Spanish Government to adopt a similar form of Bond and Certificate to that
issued by the British Government), it is clear that a faithful compliance with the letter and spirit of
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the Treaty is not to be expected from the agents of the Spanish Government in that Island, unlesg
your Excellency will be pleased to adopt some measure of an efficient character, in order to impress
upon these agents that it is their duty to aid, by every means in their power, the undoubted intentiong
of the Metropolitan Government, honourably and punctually to fulfil its engagements.

I am furiher instructed to represent to your Excellency, that as the Penal Laws of Spain do not
visit with punishment the crime of being engaged in the Slave Trade, and as the stipulation in the
Treaty of 1835, that a severe penalty on this offence shall be enacted, has not yet been carried into
effect, a feeling of perfect security is entertained by ihe persous employed in slave-vessels; and imme-
diately after the condemnation of their vessel they are very generally re-engaged in their nefarious pur:’
suits, at some of the slave marts in the vicinity of {he seats of the Courts of Mixed Commission.

In my Note of 6th April I have already had the honour to request that your Excellency would
inform me what steps had been taken towards carrying through the Spanish Legislature the measure
stipulated for in the 2d Article of the Treaty, but as yet I have not been favoured with any communi-
cation on the subject. ]

I have, &c.
His Excellency Don Jose Maria Calatrava, (Signed) GEORGE VILLIERS.
&ec. &e. &ec.
. No. 8.
(Circular.) Viscount Palmerston to Mr. Villiers.
SIr, Foreign Office, 15th June, 1837.

I uerewiTH transmit for your information Copies of Papers, marked A and
B, relating to the Slave Trade, which have been presented, by His Majesty’s
Command, to both Houses of Parliament.

I am, &ec.
G. W. F. Villiers, Esq. (Signed) PALMERSTON.
&e. §e.
. No. 9.
My. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received June 26.)
My Lorp, : Moadrid, 18th June, 1837,

I uave the honour to enclose the Translation of a Note, which I have
received from M. Calatrava, in reply to one which I addressed to his Excellency
respecting the enactment of a Law for the severe punishment of Spaniards, con-
victed of being engaged in the Slave Trade, in conformity with the 2d Article of
the Treaty of 1835.

. I have, &ec.

(Signed) - GEORGE VILLIERS.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B.

&e. . &e. &c.

Enclosure in No. 9.
‘{Translation.) M. Calatrava to Mr, Villiers.
Sir, ' Madrd, 9th June, 1831.

I nave the honour to inform.you, in reply to the Note which you were pleased to address to me on
the 6th of April last, that on the 10th of December, 1835, Her Majesty’s Government presented to
the Chamber of “ Proceres” a project of Penal Law, drawn up in conformity wi  the provisions of
the 2d Asticle of the Treaty concluded in the same year between Spain and Great Britain, for the
Suppression of the Slave Trade. On the 20th of May, 1836, the said Chamber was reminded of the
discussion on this matter, and ceased to exist without its having taken place.

- From the foregoing you will perceive that Her Majesty’s Government has desired the due fu]ﬁ!me_nt
of the said Article; and that if it has not been carried into effect, it has been on account of the 1p5hs-
pensable recessity in which, in consequence of the change which has taken place in our political
institutions since the date of the Treaty, the Government is placed, of obtaining the concurrence of the
Cortes for the promulgation of a new Penal Law; but I can assure you that it will continue, as
hitherto, to promote in them this affair as much as it possibly can, and that I shall lose no time In
informing you of the result. ‘

. ' I avail myself, &e
The British Minister, (Signed) JOSE M. CALATRAVA.

&e. &ec.
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No. 10.
My. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received June 26.)

My Lorbp, Madrid, 18th June, 1837.

1 uave the honour to enclose the Translation of a Note, which I have
received from M. Calatrava, in answer to a remewed application from me
respecting the Bonds to be required for the exportation of barrels destined to
contain palm oil.

I have, &ec.
(Signed) GEORGE VILLIERS.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B.
&e. &e. &e.
Enclosure in No. 10,
(Translation.) M. Calatrava to Mr. Villiers.
Sir, Madrid, 15tk June, 1887.

IN your communuication of the 2d instant you express the wish to be informed of the measures
adopted by the Spanish Government for carrying into effect the stipulations of the 2d Article of the
Treaty concluded for the Suppression of the Slave Trade ; and you renew your application, that in the
Spanish Custom-houses a Bond should be required from the Owners of vessels who wish to export
barrels or casks destined to contain palm oil, before granting the Certificate required of the said vessels
by the 6th Clause of the 10th Article of the Treaty above mentioned.

With respect to this last part, I have the honour to inform you in reply, that I have reminded the
Minister of Finance of the inquiry which this Minister has made at his office upon the subject, on the
27th of June, 1836, and 19th of May last, the result of which I shall hasten to acquaint you with
immediately ; and with reference to the other part of your Note, respecting which I replied to you on
the 9th instant, I have, for the present, no remark to offer in addition.

T avail myself, &c.

The British Minister, (Signed) JOSE M. CALATRAVA.
&e. &c. ‘ : :
No. 11.
Viscount Palmerston to My. Villiers.
Sz, Foreign Office, 27th June, 1837.

Wit reference to your Despatch, marked Slave Trade, of the 25th of
March last, stating that orders had been sent to the Captain-General of Cuba to
permit a hulk to be established at the Havana for the reception of liberated
negroes, I have to aequaint you that Her Majesty’s ship “ Romney” has been
selected for this service, and is about to proceed to the Havana, under the com-
mand of Lientenant Jenkins. -

I have, therefore, to instruct you to communicate this information to the Govern-
ment of Her Catholic Majesty, and to request that instructions may be issued to
the Spanish Authorities at the Havana, for the reception of Her Majesty’s ship,
above named, at that port. ’ :

I am, &e.
G. W. F. Villiers, Esq. - (Signed) PALMERSTON.
&e. &e. ‘ » '
No. 12. ‘
Myr. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received July 25.)
My Lorp, © Madrid, 15th July, 1837, -

I savE the honour to enclose the Copy ofa Note, which I have addressed
to M. Calatrava, communicating to his Excellency that Her Majesty’s ship
“ Romney” had been directed to proceed to the Havana for the reception of
liberated negroes, and requesting that the Captain-General of-Cuba may be in-

structed to receive the “ Romney,” and to assist her Commander in the execution
of his duties. ‘ ’

I have had the honour to receive your ‘Lordship’s Despatches, marked Slave
Trade, of the 27th and 30th of June. : ‘

I have, &ec. s
(Signed) GEORGE VILLIERS.
The Right Hon, Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B. '

c. &e. &e.
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Enclosure in No. 12.

M. Villiers to Mr. Calatrava.

Sir, Madrid, 12th July, 1837,

I nave the honour to inform your Excellency that I have received instructions to communieate
1o the Government of Her Catholic Majesty, that Her Britannic Majesty’s ship “ Romney” is aboyt
to be sent to the Havana to be stationed there as a hulk for the temporary reception of lberated
negroes, under the permission which the Count of Almodovar was pleased to inform me, in his Note
ef 12th March last, had been accorded by the Goyernment of Her Catholic Majesty; orders to that
effect having been sent out to the Captain-General of Cuba.

I have the honour likewise to state, for your Excellency's information, that Lieut. Jenkin has been
selected to command the “ Romney,”” who, in addition to the general instructions given for the con-
duct of British Naval officers in a Foreign Port, has been especially recommended by the Lords of
the Admiralty to endeavour, by every means in his power, to conciliate the good opinion and respect
of the public Authorities and the inhabitants, of the place at which he is to be stationed.

I have not the least doubt that these instructions will be fully complied with by Lieutenant Jenkin
and the Officers under his command ; and, on the other hand, I have the honour to request that your
Excellency will be pleased to instruct the Captain-General of .Cuba 1o receive the Romney,” and to
give such assistance as may be in his power to Lieutenant Jenkin in the discharge of the duties
imposed on him.

I have, &e.
His Excellency Don Jose Marie Calatrave, (Signed) GEORGE VILLIERS.
&e. &e. &e.

No. 13.
My. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received July 381.)
My Lorbp, Madrid, 22d July, 1837.

I nave the honour to enclose the Copy and Translation of a Note, with its
Enclosure, which I have received from M. Calatrava, in reply to mine of the
19th January, complaining that the Custom-House Authorities of Santiago de
Cuba had permitted 120 pairs of leg-irons to bé embarked on board the  Eliza.”

M. Calatrava likewise states (with reference to a verbal request from me, that no
unnecessary delay should take place upon the subject) that I shall receive an
answer respecting the Bond to be required for barrels intended to contain palm-
oil, so soon as the Minister of Finance shall have received the information he has
asked for upon the matter.

I have, &ec.
(Signed) GEORGE VILLIERS.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmeiston, G.C.B.

&e. &e. &e.

First Enclosure in No. 13.
(Translation.) M. Calatrava tp Mr. Villiers.

Bz, Palace, 13th July, 1837.

"IN consequence of that which I had the honour of communicating in the Note which I
addressed to you on the 21st of January last, in answer to yours of the 19th of the same month, in
which you complain of the proceedings of the employés in the Custom-house of St. Jago de Cuba,
who gave permission to the * Eliza’ to carry on board 120 pair of leg-shackles, and being desirous
of satislying the above-mentioned reclamation, I hasten to transmit to you the enclosed Copy of the
Reply given upon this subject, on the 19th of April last, by the Intendant of the Havana to the
Minister of Finance. .

At the same time I have the honour to inform you, respecting your proposition, that in the Spanish
Custom-houses a Bond should be required from the Owners of vessels who present for export barrels
intended to contain palm-oil ; that the Minister of Finance has also informed me that the necessary
data and inquiries are being made upon this subject, in order to obtain all the/necessary information,
and, as soon as it is received, the office under his charge will communicate thie information which it
has been desired to furnish,

T avail myself, &e.
G. W. F. Villiers, Esq. (Signed) JOSE M. CALATRAVA.

§e. e

Sub-Enclosure in No. 13.
‘(Translation.) ‘

Copy of the Letler addressed by the Intendant of the Havana on the 19th of April last to the
- Minister of Finance.

In order to carry into due effect the Royal Order issued on the 21st of January last by the
Secretary of State’s Office, which was transmitted to me on the 20th of February following, through
that of your Excellency, desiring that the necessary measures shoold be immediately taken for inves-
tigating and pumishing the guilty employés in the Custom-house of St. Jago de Cuba, who allowed
120 pair of leg-irons to be carried on board the Spanish schooner *° Eliza,”® 1 have ordered the
proper information to be collected, and to be sent to the Intendant of that Province for the necessary
investigation to be made. According to its results I shall act, and shall also inform, your Excellency
of that which ought to be brought under Her Majesty’s notice, and other necessary measures.
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No. 14.
Viscount Palmerston to Mr. Filliers.
SIR, Foreign Office, 8th August, 1837.

I nave received and laid before the Queen your Despatch marked Slave
Trade of the 6th of May, enclosing a Note addressed to you by M. Calatrava, in
reply to the representations which you have been instructed to make, respecting
the alleged non-execution of those stipulations of the Treaty of 1817 with Spain,
which provide for the good treatment of negroes emancipated under that Treaty.

M. Calatrava, it appears, considers, that these representations have been satis-
factorily answered by the Despatch of the Captain-General of Cuba, the substance
of which is recapitulated in his Note to you of the 28th of April last, and which
contains only a general denial of the facts reported to Her Majesty’s Goverment,
with a summary of the Regulations now in force for the treatment of emancipated
negroes in that Island ; but I must observe, that Great Britain complains, not so
much of any defect in the Regulations themselves, as of the manner in which they
are allowed to remain unexecuted and disregarded. '

The Captain-General indeed states, that he has put an end to the contribution of
17 dollars, formerly exacted on the hiring of each negro, and which was applied
to the support of public establishments; but in the same Despatch it appears, that,
in the distribution of the emancipated negroes, a preference is given to those
persons who have rendered some public service, or who have contributed volun-
tary donations to public works; and there is manifestly little or no difference in
principle, between this method of taking money on the hiring out of the negroes,
and that which the Captain-General makes a merit of having put an end to.

Again, while it is admitted, that the Treaty of 1817 contains no positive stipu-
lation, under which the negroes are entitled to reside in the city of Havana; still,
according to the spirit of that Treaty, the Authorities are bound, not to allow the
negroes to be taken by their masters to such a distance as shall preclude the
possibility of their being carefully watched over and protected. '

The negroes are, it seems, hired out to proprietors of land, that is to say, of
sugar and coffee estates ; and when once removed from the neighbourhood of the
city, and employed with other negroes in a state of slavery, it is obvious, that their
condition will be eventually assimilated with that of the slaves with whom they are
put to work ; for they must be entirely at the mercy of their masters, and utterly
unable to avail themselves of the protection of the Government, however good
the regulations for their treatment may be, and however heavy the punishment
denounced by the law for those who may do them wrong. :

I have therefore {o instruct you, o express to the Spanish Government the
regret, with which Her Majesty’s Government perceives, that the only fruit pro-
duced by the Royal Order, issued to the Captain-General on this subject last year,
is a mere recapitulation by that Officer of Regulations, unsupported by any state-
ment of facts showing that these Regulations are duly executed ; while, from the
Havana, I receive information, such as is contained in the accompanying Papers,
which places the present deplorable condition of the emancipated negroes beyond
the possibility of a doubt. _

But hopeless as the case seems to be, one course still remains open, by the
adoption of which these negroes may at length obtain the good treatment and
complete freedom to which they are entitled, and which it seems impossible to
secure to them as long as they remain in an Island where slavery is still permitted,
and where the authority of the Spanish Government is set at nought and disre-
garded in all that relates to the Slave Trade,

You will, therefore, state to the Spanish Government, that Great Britain is
willing to relieve the Island of Cuba.from the burthen of these negroes, by
removing them, without distinction of age or sex, to the British Colonies, where,
under the protection of the British law-and among freed-men _of their cwn eolour,
they will run no risk either of being treated as slaves, or of relapsing into a state
of slavery, through the bad faith and cupidity of the slave-owners, to whose care
they must unavoidably be committed under the -system at present in force in the
Island of Cuba. o

I am, &e. ‘

G W&F, Villiers, Esg. - (Signed) PALMERSTON.
.. & | o

CLAés B. |
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Enclosure in No. 14.
My, Stephen to Mr. Backhouse.
Sir, Downing-sireet, 22d June 1837,

I am directed by Lord Glevelg to transmit to you herewith, for the information of Viscount
Palmerston, an Extract of a Letter from the Havana, dated the 28th April, representing the treatment
by the Spanish Authorities in the Island of Cuba, of those captured Africans who were liberated b;
the Court of Mixed Commission before the late Treaty with Spain for the Suppression of the Slave
"T'rade came into operation ; and I am to state that, if Viscount Palmerston should think it right to act
upon the suggestion contained in this Letter, and propose to the Spanish Government to relieve it from
the burthen of the negroes referred to, Lord Glenelg anticipates no difficulty in providing for them in
the British Colonies,

I have, &ec.
J. Backhoui;’ Esq, (Signed) JAMES STEPHEN.
&ec. . .

Sub-Enclosure in No, 14.
Eziract of a Letter, dated Havana, 28th April, 1831.

TroucH the negroes emancipated previously to the operation of the New Treaty do not come within
the sphere of my duties, in the hope that some steps may be taken to rescue them from their lament-
able situation, I venture to make known to your Lordship the state in which they are.

They have lapsed into hopeless slavery, unless hope there be for them in the interference, strong and
speedy, of the Government which rescued them from slavery, and trusted their liberty to the faith of
this Government. The remnant of the many thousands of these poor people who are now alive in this
Island would actually be benefited by the terms pf common slavery ; so great are the hardships they
suffer from the contempt and hatred in which they are held, strange to- say, both by the slaves and by
their masters. 'The latter, to whom they are hired by the Governor, have no interest, no life interest in
their health and strength, and consequently-of their comforts. Their interest is in a given time to get
out of these emancipados, as they are calle'in mockery, the greatest possible quantity of labour that
may fall short of producing death during the term of their service. )

The Spaniards now say the New Treaty put all matters relating to it on a new footing; that it
provided only for negroes liberated since its operation, consequently, the others ave taken out of the
power of the Commissioners ; nay, are beyond the care of the British Government. The consequence
is, the ‘mere iorm which the Governor formerly went through, at stated times, of inspecting the eman-
cipados is done away with. An advertisement appears at the usual period of inspection, calling on the
employers of the emancipados to produce them ; and certificates of death, disease, and distance from
the Havana, suffice for the mockery of this ceremony. 'The Governor no longer affects to distribute
them without profit; he now sells their services openly, for terms. varying from 5 to 15 years, for sums
from 5 to 15 ounces, under the name of a voluntary contribution towards the completion of the public
works ; and on such terms a Mining Company, at St. Jago de Cuba, has lately procured a number of
these unfortunate slaves, called emancipados, to work their mines.

The practice, whenever a bond-fide slave dies in the possession of an Owner holding emancipados,
being to represent in their Returns, the death of one of the latter, when the other has taken place, it
follows that temporary slavery geuerally becomes perpetual ; and where the Governor has the power
and the will to prevent that practice, one period of servitude has no sooner clapsed than he hires them
out anew ; and a change of masters only leads to pew and severer claims on labour. In short, my
Lord, in every respect the emancipados are infinitely worse off than other slaves.

Where there is so strong a desire in our*Colonies for the introduction of negro labourers, and little
doubt of ihe willingness of the Colonists to pay all the expenses of their removal, T would venture to
suggest, whether an application to the Spanish Government might not be attended with some good
effect, proposing to relieve them of the burthen of those liberated negroes, and to remove them to such
of our Colonies as might be prepared to receive them on the proposed terms. If the application failed,
it would deprive the Spaniards of their great argument for the ill treatment these poor people receive,
—that they do not know what to do with them ;—and it wonld show the Authorities here that the
British Government has not lost sight of these people.

I have, &e.
J. Backhouse, Esq. (Signed) R. B. MADDEN.
&c. &ec.
No. 15.
Viscount Palmerston to Mr. Villiers. _
Sir, Foreign Office, 9th August, 1837.

I nEREWITH transmit the Copy of a Letter and of its Enclosures, which
have been received from the Colonial Office, respecting certain British negroes,
who, it is supposed, are detained as slaves in the Island of Porto Rico.

From the evidence, contained in the depositions enclosed in this Letter, it would
appear, that, about the year 1832, 19 British slaves were removed from Anguilla
to the Island of St. Thomas, and were there sold, and that of this number 14 were
transferred to Porto Rico. .

In 1836 His Majesty’s ship Vestal, Captain Jones, was employed to visit St.
Thomas and Porto Rico, for the purpose of recovering such British negroes, as
might be found on these Islands.

~ In the Danish Island he experienced no difficulty, in effecting the freedom of the
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British subjects there held in slavery; but at Porto Rico no satisfactory result
attended Captain Jones’s efforts ; and the accompanying Extracts of Reports m‘flde
by that Officer give reason to_believe, that there is no prospect of recovering
these negroes, except by the direct interference of the Spanish Government in
their behalf. _

I have therefore to desire, that you will communicate to the Spanish Government,
the Papers enclosed in this Despatch, and request that peremptory orders may be
issued to the Authorities of Porto Rico, to cause a strict search to be set on foot,
not only for the 14 negroes named in the depositions, but for any others, the
subjects of Great Britain, who may be held in slavery in that Island; and to lend
all the aid in their-power to such Officers of Her Britannic Majesty, as may be
employed to procure for these individuals the enjoyment of those privileges as
free men, to which they are entifled in their capacity ofI subjects of Her Majesty.

am, &ec.
G. W. F. Villiers, Esq. (Signed) PALMERSTON.
&e. &e.

First Enclosure in No. 15.
Mr. Stephen to Mr. Backhouse.

Siz, . Downing-sireet, 5th June, 1837.

Wirn reference to ‘your Letter of the 5th November, requesting to be furnished with such
specific and particular information respecting the British negroes said to be detained as slaves in Porto
Rico, as may enable Viscount Palmerston to address the Spanish Government on the sabject with
effect ; I am directed by Lord Glenelg to transmit to you, for his Lordship’s information, the enclosed
Copies of depositions taken before the Chief Justice of the Court of King’s Bench and Commean Pleas
in the Island of Anguilla, on the 25th March, 1835. The deponents are described by Mr. Solicitor-
General Claxton, in a Letter to Sir E. Murray Macgregor, as consisting of *“ those persons in Anguilla
who knew the slaves that were removed to St. Thomas’s, and who could give evidence of their subse~
quent disposal.” :

These depositions contain positive evidence that a number of British slaves (19 in all) have been
tranferred from Anguilla to St. Thomas's; have been sold in the latter Island, and subsequently
removed from it; and are believed to have been transferred to Porto Rico.

No opportunity having been offered of examining persons resident in Porto Rico, it. is, of course,
impossible to prove, by the direct testimony of eye-witnesses, that these British negroes are now to be
found there, or even that they ever actually arrived. But in the case of the greater number of them,
we have positive evidence that, after having been sold in St. Thomas’s, they were seen to go on board
vessels bearing Spanish colours, which were understood to be bound for Porto Rico. Of these, only
one has yet been discovered and restored.

Lord Glenelg trusts that the Spanish Government may be induced, on the strength-of this informa-
tion, to give such peremptory orders to the Captain-General of Porto Rico as may ensure the resti-
tution of these persons, if they are to be found in the Island.

T have, &e.
J. Backhouse, Esq. (Signed) =~ JAMES STEPHEN.
&c. &ec.

Sub-Enclosure in No. 15.
(Copy.) No. 1.

Before the Honourable Joseph King Wattley, Esq., Chief Justice of the Court of King’s Bench and
Common Pleas in the Island of Anguilla. :

Prrsonarty=appeared Benjamin Hanagan, Joseph Gumbs, and London Ryrie, who,; being respec-
tively sworn on the Holy Evangelists of Almighty God, severally make oath and say,— : .

And, first, Benjamin Hanagan saith, that he went to St. Thomas in the schooner * Deborah,”
nearly 8 years ago; that a slave named Isaac, the property of William Derrick, went in the same
vessel ; that he worked with Isaac, as slaves, at a large fire-proof housé belonging to Mr. Launce,
and shortly Isaac was sold by the late Mr. Benjamin Gumbs to Mr. Cappé, the Vendue Master ; that
Mr. Cappé afterwards sold Isaac to Mr. Lane, and he was shipped, as he believes, to Porto Rico;

Secondly, Joseph Gumbs saith that he'knows Isaac was brought from Anguilla to St. Thomds in
the schooner ¢ Deborah ;”* that he was soldto Mr. Cappé, and afterwards sent to Porto Rico.

Lastly, London Ryrie saith that he knows Mr. Cappé bought Isaac, having seen him working for
him as his slave, and knows that he was sold afterwards to Mr. Lane, and subsequently, as he heard
and believes, was sent to Porto Rico.

his
(Siemed) BENJAMIN x HANAGAN.
mark.
his
(Signed) JOSEPH x GUMBS.
mark,
. his
(Signed) LONDON x RYRIE.
mark.

Sworn before me, the same being first read over and explained to the deponents, this 25th day of
March, 1885,

(Signed) JOSEPH K. WATTLEY,
Chief Justice.
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No. 2.

Before, &c.

Personally appeared Benjamin Hanagan, Rosey, and Richard Carter, who, being respectively sworp
on the Holy Evangelists of Almighty God, respectively make oath and say,—

And, first, the said Benjamin Haunagan saith that Richard, @ native slave of Anguilla, was taken to
St. Thomas by Peter O’Boyle, since deceased, and there sold to Mr. Da Costa, who subsequently
sent him to Porto Rico; that deponent frequently saw him in'the service of Mr. Da Costa; and that
the day before he sailed for Porto Rico he shogk hands with deponent, and told him, that as he hag
no friends at St. Thomas to assist him to escape, he had made up his mind to go to Porto Rico with
Mr. Da Costa.

Secondly, the said Rosey saith that Richard was taken by his deceased master, Peter O’Boyle, to
St. Thomas, in the * Deborah,” at the same time that deponent went there ; knows that he was sold
to Mr. Da Coste, but only heard that he was subsequently sent to Porto Rico.

Lastly, Richard Carter deposeth that he has seen Richard, formerly the property of Mr, O’Boyle,
frequently in the service of Mr. Da Costa at St. Thomas.

his
(Signed) BENJAMIN x HANAGAN
mark.
his
(Signed) RICHARD % CARTER.
mark,
her
(Signed) ROSEY. x
mark,
Sworn before, &c., 25th day of March, 1835.
(Signed) JOSEPH K. WATTLEY,
Chief Justice,
No. 8.

Before, &c.

Personally appeared Frankey, George Gumbs, and William Gumbs, who, being respectively sworn
on the Holy Evangelists of Almighty God, severally make oath and say,—

And, first, the said Frankey saith that Mingo, g slave in Anguilla of Mr. William Gumbs, went to
St. Thomas in the same vessel with this deponept, and was sold by him before deponent left St.
Thomas, and sent to Porto Rico.

Secondly, George Gumbs saith that he knew Mingo in St. Thomas, and that he was sold and sent
to Porto Ricvo, but does not know to whom he was sold.

Lastly, William Gumbs saith that he knew Mingo in St. 'Thomas ; that he was sold to a coloured
person named Da Costa, in whose employment he saw him frequently working, and was present on
the wharf when the said Mingo was shipped by Da Costa in his own s¢hooner, the * Chuaico Blanco,”
to Porto Rico.

her
(Signed) FRANKEY. x
mark,
his
(Signed) GEORGE x GUMBS.
mark.
his
(Signed) WILLIAM x GUMBS.
mark,
Sworn, &e., 25th March, 1835, ‘
(8igned) JOSEPH K. WATTLEY,
Chief Justice,

No, 4.

Personally appeared Joseph Gumbs and Frankey, who, being respectively duly sworn upon the
Holy Evangelists of Almighty God, severally make oath and say,— .

And, first, the said Joseph Gumbs saith that he kuew Adam, the slave of Mr. William Pitt Hodge,
in Anguilla, and saw his master, the said William Pitt Hodge, trying to sell the said Adam at St.
Thomas; and this deponent further saith that he, after the said Adam was sold, saw him go on board
a vessel bound to the Island of Porto Rico.

Secondly, Frankey saith, that when at St. Thomas, she saw the said Adam taken by two of the
Police down to the King’s Wharf, and who, in a small boat, conveyed them on board of a Porto Rico
vessel. .

his
(Signed) JOSEPH x GUMBS.
mark.

her

(Signed) FRANKEY. x
mark,
Sworn, &e., this 25th March, 1835,
: (Signed) JOSEPH K. WAT,TLEY:

 Chief Justice.
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No. 5.
Before, &c.

Personally appeared Frankey Carter, Rosey, George Gumbs, and London Ryrie, who, being
respectively sworn on the Holy Evangelists of Almighty God, severally make oath and say,—

And, first, Frankey Carter saith that while she was in St. Thomas, about 3 years ago, she saw there
Dinah and her 3 children, slaves of Anguila, belonging to Mr. William Pitt Hodge ; they had been sold
by him at St Thomas ; they were working as slaves for their Owners, whose names deponent does
not know.

Secondly, Rosey saith she saw Dinah and her 3 children at St. Thomas ; knows that they were
sent to Porto Rico, as she shook hands with Dinah the day she went away; her Owner in St. Thomas,
as this deponent believes, was a Miss Charlotte. :

Thirdly, George Gumbs saith thathe knew Dinah and her 3 children, and saw them at St, Thomas;
they were brought from Santa Cruz by Mr. William Pitt ; deponent passed by the Vendue Office just
after they were sold at Vendue, and met them going down the street below the Big Market, with the
person who had just purchased them, whose name deponent did not know; he saw Mr. William Pitt
Hodge immediately after at the Vendue Office, and understood he had just sold them.

Fourthly, London Ryrie saith that he was present when Dinah and her 3 children were sold at
auction, in presence of Audley, by the direction of Mr. William Pitt Hodge in St. Thomas.

her -
(Signed) FRANKEY x CARTER.
mark,
her
{Signed) ROSEY. X
mark.
his
(Signed) GEORGE x GUMBS.
mark,
. his
(Signed) LONDON x RYRIE.
. _ mark. '
Sworn, &e., the 25th March, 1835. ]
(Signed) JOSEPH K. WATTLEY,
' Chief Justice..
No. 6.
Before, &e

Personally appeared Joseph Gumbs, George Gumbs, and William Gumbs, free persons, who being™
respectively sworn on the Holy Evangelists of Almighty God, severally make oath and say,—
TFirst, Joseph Gumbs saith that he knew Tom in Anguilla, the slave of Mr. Fleming, and has seen~
him frequently at St. Thomas working as a slave, but not with Mr. Fleming ; deponeut left him there

in May last ; does not know his Owner.

Secondly, George Gumbs saith that he knew Tom in Anguilla, and saw him at St. Thomas, he
was sold to a person in the country, whose name deponent does not know.

Lastly, William Gumbs saith that he knew Tom in St Thomas as a slave, but does not know the
name of his master: he attempted to make his escape to Tortola, but was brought back, and was sub-
sequently sent, as this deponent heard, to Porto Rico. N

114
(Signed) JOSEPH x GUMBS.
raark,
his
(Signed) GEORGE x GUMBS.

mark.

his
(Signed) WILLIAM x GUMBS.

mark.

Sworn, &e., this 25th March 1835.
) (Signed) JOSEPH K. WATTLEY,.

Chief Justice. .

No. 7.
Before, &c.

Personally appeared George Gumbs and William Gumbs, who being respectively sworn on the Holy
Evangelists of Almighty God, severally make oath and say,— , : ,

“And first, the said George Gumbs saith that he wes formerly the slave of Benjamin Gumbs, Esq.,
deceased, and accompanied his late master and his family as a free person from Anguilla to St. Thomas,
but on his arrival there, he was hired out by him, and treated as a slave by the family until his return
to Anguilla; he knows that Jeannette and Abrabam, Esther and her son J ack, Bella, Eve, and Adam,
were sold ofter the death of Mr. Gumbs, and were, with the exception of Abraham and Adam, sent to
Porto Rico ; Abraham was sold to Mr. French, but deponent does not know the name of the person
to whom Adam was sold, but lefi them both at St. Thomas. Deponent heard from Havriet, a fellow-
servant, that one evening the police had taken the above-mentioned slaves, who were sent to Porto
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Rico, and locked them up in a room in Mr, Gumbs’s house until the next morning, when they were
shipped.

Secondly, William Gumbs saith that he knows the slaves aliove-mentioned to have been sold by
Mrs. Gumbs, the widow of the lute Benjamin Gumbs, at St. Thomas. Adam was sold to a Monsieur
Hanks, who keeps a spirit shop near the butcher’s stall in St. Thomas, and who put him as an ap-
prentice to a cigar-maker: deponent saw two of the police go down in. 2 bumb-boath with J eannette
James, Esther, Luke, Bella, and Eve, and ship them from Mr. Tapshire’s wharf, on board g Shallo;;
belonging to Crab Island, from whence deponent heard that they were sent to Porto Rico. This de-
ponent was informed, that a Mr. Monsanter paid Mr, Gumbs the money for them,

his
(Signed) GEORGE x GUMBS.
mark,
his '
(Signed) WILLIAM x GUMBS.
maork,
Sworn, &c., this 25th March 1835. ’
Signed) JOSEPH K. WATTLEY.

Chief Justice.

—e o

No. 8.

Before, &e.

Personally appeared Violet Gumbs, Bristol Gumbs, and Joseph Brooks, who, being respécetively
duly sworn on the Holy Evangelists of Almighty God, make oath and say,—

First, the said Violet Gumbs saith that her son Andrew asked his master, Doctor Hodge, to allow
him, the said Andrew, to go to St. Thomas to work for himself, which request was acceded to by the
said Doctor Hodge, who also told deponent that Mr. Morrison, of St. Thomas, was his attorney, and
that he, the said Doctor Hodge, had put the said Andrew under the said Mr. Morrison’s charge ;
and deponent saith that she was told by the said Mr. Morrison himself, in St. Thomas, that some
time ago the said Andrew was spld, and sent to the Island of Porto Rico; that the said Doctor
Hodge had sent a power of atlorney to him, the said Mr. Morrison, authorizing him to sell the said
Andrew ; that the said Doctor Hodge had got 400 dollars for him, and that deponent never would see
the said Andrew again. And this deponent further saith that she has received from Minnah Pat-
terson, of St. Thomas, a Letter, in which she mentions that she had heard of her son Andrew at the
Island of Porto Rico, and that he was only allowed 2 hours to sleep was worked day and night, and
on Sunday also.

Secondly, Bristol Gumbs saith that he went with Andrew to the Island of Porto Rico; that they
were both hired by Mr. Bodaige to work on his estate, called Isidore Platello Town, and that, after
they had been in Porto Rico some time, the police took deponent and Andrew, and placed them in
confinement. And this deponent further saith, that he, the deponent, was sent back to St. Thomas,
when he heard Mr. Morrison say that Andrew was sold by him at Porto Rico.

Thirdly, Joseph Brooks saith that Andrew Gumbs was usually hired out with deponeut in St.
Thomas ; that he knows of his, meaning the said Andrew, going to Porto Rico, and that he, this
deponent, has since heard that he was sold there.

his
(Signed) VIOLET x GUMBS.
mark.
his
(Signed) BRISTOL x GUMBS.
mark,
his
(Signed) JOSEPH x BROOKES.
mark,
Sworn befere, &c., 25th March, 1835. ’
: (Signed) JOSEPH K. WATTLEY,
Chief Justice.
No. 18.

Before, &ec.

Personally appeared Benjamin Hanagan, Joseph Gumbs, Samuel Desbores, Frankey, and George
Gumbs, who, being respectively sworn on the Holy Evangelists of Almighty God, severally make
oath and say, and,—

First, Benjamin Hanagan saith that he knows Billy, belonging formerly to Belasse Desbores, and
Gift his brother, both native slaves of Anguilla, who were taken to St. Thomas, and sold there. Gift
was sold to a resident at St. Thomas, whose name deponent does not recollect. Billy was sold by
Mr. Belasse, and deponent saw him working with shackles on his feet in St. Thomas, and afterwards
saw him from the King’s Wharf go on board a vessel which had Spanish colours, bound to Porto
Rico.

Secondly, Joseph Gumbs saith that he knows Billy and Gift, slaves of Anguilla, and that they were
a short time ago sold at St. Thomas—Gift 1o a resident there; and that Billy was sold by Mr,
Belasse, and went to Porto Rico. - » ) .

Thirdly, Samuel Desbores saith that he was at St. Thomas when Billy arrived there with Mr.
Belasse ;- saw him taken from the chain gang and go on board a vessel with Spanish colours bound
to Porto Rico. ' .

Fourthly, Frankey saith that Billy and Gift went from Anguilla in the same vessel with this depo-
nent to St. Thomas, and were taken by Mr., Belasse and Mr. Benjamin Gumbs, and were sold there,
‘This deponent left Gift at St. Thomas, but Billy was sold at Porto Rico.
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Fifthly, George Gumbs saith that he knows Billy and Gift;. the lalter was sold to Mr. Dochedra,
and was at St. Thomas when deponent left there.  Billy was taken by Mr. Belasse to Porto Rico.
Deponent heard Mr. Belasse tell Billy when he was working in the chain gang to get ready to go to
Porto Rico, and saw them go on board a vessel with Spanish colours,

his
(Signed) BENJAMIN x HANAGAN,
mark. }
' ' his
(Signedy = JOSEPH x GUMBS.
mark,
his
(Signed) SAMUEL » DESBORES.
mark.
her
, (Signed) FRANKEY. x
mark,
his
(Signed) GEORGE x GUMBS.
’ mark,
Sworn before, &c. ‘ .
(Signed) JOSEPH K. WATTLEY,
Chief Justice.
No. 19.
Before, &c.

Personally appeared Joseph Gumbs, Rosey, and William Gumbs, who, being respectively duly
sworn, make oath and say, and,— .

First, the said Joseph Gumbs saith that he knew Pompey; Hester Pyor, and Mingo, and saw them
frequently in St. Thomas ; that Pompey and Hester were the slaves of one Mr. Ritchie, of St.
Thomas, and saw them frequently in that Island ; that Pyor was sold to Mr. Da Costa, of St. Thomas,
and that Mingo was sold in that Island ; but deponent does not remembsr the niame of his purchaser.

Secondly, the said Rosey saith that she knows the above-named slaves ;. that Pompey and Hester
were the slaves of Mr, Ritchie; that Poyer was sold to Mr. Da Costa in St. Thomas, and was sent to
Porto Rico; and that Mingo was sold to a person in St. Thomas, whose name deponent does not re-
collect. o .

Thirdly, William Gumbs saith that he knew Pompey, Hester Pyor, and Mingo, in St. Thomas
that he often saw Pompey and Hester working as the slaves of Mr. Ritchie ; that he knows that
Pyor was sold by Mr. Peter Adolphus Hedge to one Mr. Da Costa, of St. Thomas ; that deponent
heard this from Pyor himself and the grandson of Mr. Da Costa; and this deponent further saith that
he was working in the yard of Mr. Da Costa, when he saw Pyor carried on board a Spanish vessel
named * Chuaico Blanco;” that he saw the vessel sail out from the harbour under Spanish colours,
and that Pyor told deponent that she was about to be taken to Porto Rico ; and this deponent further
saith that he knows that Mingo was sold in St. Thomas, but does not recollect the name of his pur-
chaser, and that he saw the said Mingo working for his master after Mr. Peter Adolphus Hodge had
left St. Thomas.

his
(Signed) =~ JOSEPH x GUMBS.
mark.
her
(Signed) ROSEY. x
) marck.
his
(Signed) WILLIAM Xk GUMBS.
marg.
Sworn, &e., this 25th March, 1835.
(Signed) JOSEPH K. WATTLEY,

Chief Justice.

Second Enclosure in No. 15.

Extract of a Letter from Caplain Jones to Sir E. J. Murray Macgregor. o
“ Vestal” at Sea, 13th June, 1836.

I procEEDED on the 25th to St. Juan di Porto Rico, off which place I arrived the following day,
but when I landed to pay my respects to the Captain-General, I had the mortification to find that he
was absent on a tour in a distant part of the Island, and that the time of his return was uncertain ;
though the Lieutenant-Governor expected him soon, and even in a few days. - It was in vain, how-
ever, that I endeavoured to engage this functionary in any discussion on the business of my mission.
He professed his total inability to enter into any affaic of the kind in the absence of the, Captain-
General, nor could I persuade him to refer to any Register of Secretary for the result of those inquiries

~ which my Instructions led me to suppose had been instituted last year, to ascertain the number of
British negroesin Porto Rico. The most I could obtain was a promise that any letter which I thought
fit to write to the Captain-General should be immediately forwarded to him by express. I therefore
grote the Letter (No. 1.) which was sent with your Excellency’s Letter addressed to the Captain-

eneral, ' ' o L e

“T had promised to return for an answer in 8 days, and I arrived punctually off’ St, Jean ‘@&Porto
Rico on the 2d June, and sent a Lieutenant on shore with a Letter (No. 2.) addressed to the Cap-
f2in-General. His Excellency was still-absent, and was not now expected to return under 14 days.
He was said to be at Ponce, on the south side of the Island, and thither I resolved to proceed imme-
diately in quest of him ; but on the Ist June I received intelligence which materially affected my own
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position, and induced me to change my plans, By this time I had seen good reason to fear that the
success of my mission at Porto Rico was doubiful at best, and would probably be attended with much
delay ; for though the Spaniards made an outward show of cold civility, I could by no means reckoy
upon the cordial co-operation which I receivel from the Danish Authorities, and without which no-
favourable result could be expected. There was room to apprehend that, when I could no longer bg
amused and kept from an interview with the Captain-General, difficulties would be made as to the
terms on which the liberation of the slaves would be agreed to. As I had now obtained an insight into
the high value that was placed upon slaves in Portp Rico, I began to foresee that very serions obstacles to
my success might arise from that source, I therefore deemed it advisable to profit by the delays occa-
sioned by the uncertain movements of the Captain-General, to arrive at a clear pre\iminary under-
standing with him, as to the footing on which weé should treat for the redemption of the slaves within
his Government ; with this view I addressed to him the Letter No. 3, which I hope your Lxcellency
will approve of, in as far as I have ventured to make use of your name,”

Third Enclosure in No. 15.
Extract of a Letter from Captain Jones to Vice-Admiral Sir Peter Halkett, G.C.H.

) . His Majesty’s ship * Vestal” at Sea, 16th July, 1536,

“ Bur at Porto Rico, owing to the absence of the Captain-General from the seat of Government, no
satisfactory progress was made, and I am inclined to believe that no other result will be obtained in
that Island, except by virtue of a Royal Order from Spain; the grounds of this belief, and the details
are fully set forth in the Letter which, under Sir George Cockburn’s Instructions, I addressed to Sir
Evan J. Murray M*‘Gregor, and to the Copy of which, enclosed, I beg leave to refer you for the state
of the business, as far as it came under my management.” ‘

No. 16.

Viscount Palmerston to Mr. Villiers. :
SIRr, : Foreign Offfice, 10th August, 1837,

I uave received and laid before the Queen your Despatch, marked Slave
Trade, of the 18th June last, enclosing the Translation of a Note addressed to you
by M. Calatrava, in explanation of the delay in the enactment of a law for the
punishment of Spanish subjects convicted of being engaged in the Slave Trade.
This delay is attributed by M. Calatrava to the necessity of obtaining the con-
currence of the Cortes to the promulgation of any new penal law; and I have
therefore to instruct you to urge the Spanish Government, to propose the law in
question to the present Cortes at an early period, in order that time may be given
for its consideration and adoption by that body, before the close of the present
 Session. : :

I am, &c.
G. . F. Villiers, Esq. (Signed) PALMERSTON.
&e. &e. &e.
No. 17.
M. Villiers to Viscount Palmersion. —(Received August 14.)
My Lorb, Madrid, 5th August, 1837.

I uave the honour to enclose the Copies and Translations of a Note, and
its Enclosare, which I have received from M. Calatrava respecting the form of
Bond to be required from the owners of vessels entering outwards casks intended
to contain palm oil. ’ '

As no objection is made to the principle of this most necessary measure, and
that there appears only to exist a doubt on the part of the Spanish Government, as
to the form in which it shall be carried into effect, I have addressed a further Note
to-M. Calatrava upon the subject, of which I herewith enclose the Copy to your
Lordship.

I have, &ec.

(Signed) GEORGE VILLIERS.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B, '
&e. &e. §e.
, First Enclosure in No. 17.
(Translation.) M. Calatrave to Mr, Villiers.
S, - Madrid, 2Tth July, 1837.

Frou the enclosed Copy of the Reply which the Minister of Finance has given to the communi-
cation which I made to him respecting your request, that in order to carry into effect the 10th Article
of the Treaty between Spain and Great Britain, concluded in 1835, for the Suppression of the Slave
Trade, that the Captains of Vessels, who carry on board an extraordinary number of casks or vessels,
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should be required to give the same Certificates and Bonds as your Government haf ordered shog]dhbe
required from the Captains of British Vessels; you will perceive that Her Majesty’s Government, has
no objection to dispose that, in conformity with the Spanish law, the Bonds given as secun‘t‘y by the
Captains and Masters, who are capable of giving it, should only beur_the general c]a\’l,se, that * the pro-
erty which they comprise remains tied up as long as the Docament is not c:ancelled. .

1 have the honour of making you this'communication, requesting you to mforrr} me if it is in confor-
mity with your wishes, in which case Her Majesty’s Government will 6ider the said determination to be
ished and executed. .
publiched » I avail myself, &c.

The British Minister, (Signed) JOSE M. CALATRAVA.
&e. &ec. )
Second Enclosure in No. 17.
(Copy.) Mr. Villiers to M. Calatrava.
Sir, Madrid, 31st July, 1837.

I uavE have the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your Excellency’s Note of the 27th inst.,
enclosing the answer of the Minister of Finance, respecting the form of Bond to be required from the
Owners of vessels trading to the Coast of Africa, entering outwards an extraordinary number of casks to
contain palm oil, according to the 10th Article of the Treaty between Great Britain and Spain, con-
¢luded in 1835, for the suppression of the African Slave Trade. ' : oo

I observe, from the statement of the Minister of Finance, that no-objection exists to the adoption of
the form of Bond used by the British Governmeént, and of which I had the honour to enclose to your
Excellency’s predecessor a translation, in my Noteof the.9th of June, 1836, with the exception of the
clause which binds the heirs, administrators, and executor§te fulfil the conditions of the Bond, - I bave
the honour to remark that ¥ cannot but think that this clause has beefhisunderstood ; it is not intended
thereby, as is supposed by the Minister of Finance, to bind peérsonally the heirs, administrators, and
executors to the execution, but only so far as the property they inherit or hold in deposit will bear out
the claim to which the estate of the deceaséd has been made liable. S

In this point I believe the legislation of the two countries is precisely similar. By forwarding to your
Excellency, however, the forms of Bond and Certificate, it was not meant, in any way, to insist upon the
Spanish Government also adopting, them; but.simply as a means of preserving a certain uniformity
between the documents used by the two countries in carrying into.effect the Treaty. = Any form which
is binding upon a Spanish subject, and thus affords the security contemplated by the 10th Axticle of the
Treaty, will be satisfactory to the Government of Her Britannic Majesty ; and it is exceedingly urgent
that that form, whatever it is, may be adopted with as little delay as possible, in order that it may be
sent to the Mixed Courls of Commission, to assist them in coming to just decisions on the cases
brought before them, ‘ ,

1 beg, therefore, to press upon your Excellency the propriety of nrging upon the Minister of Finance
the necessity which exists for his causing to be drawn up immediately any such forms as may be bind-
ing according to the laws of Spain; and I have the Lionour, at the same time, to request, that, cn your
Escellency’s receiving them, they may be forwarded to me without delay for {ransmission to the
colonies., : :

: T have, &ec.
His Excellency Don Jose Maria Caolatrava, (Signed) GEORGE VILLIERS. -
&e. &e. &e. :

Third Enclosure in No. 17.
Translation.) M. Mendizabel to-M. Calatrava.

Most ExceLiEnT $ir, Madrid, 22d July, 1837,

Tt Queen Regent has been made acquainted with the inquiries set on foot, in consequence of
a communication from your office, of the 27th of June last year, enclosing a Note from the British
Minister at this Court, in which, in order to carry into effect the 6th Clause of the 10th Article of the
Treaty concluded between Great Britain and Spain, on the 28th June 1835, for the suppression of the
Slave Trade, it is wished that, on the part of the Spanish Government, they should require from the
Owners or Captains of vessels, entering outwards an extraordinary number of casks or vessels, the same
form of Certificates and Bonds as that which the British Government requires from its own subjects.
The object of these Bonds and Securities’is to prevent that the Privateers and Masters of British and
Spanish vessels should carry ona contraband traffic of slaves with infraction of the Treaty ; and although
Her Majesty has no objection to the adoption of what is proposed, still her conformity with it can never
go beyond what is permitted by the laws of the kingdom to which it is necessary that the Government
should accommodate its dispositions. According to them, guarantees, and all classes of obligations, do
not bind or affect the persons, but only the property upon which they are formed; the said property
remains responsible for the Bond until the Document is cancelled; but the executors are not respon-
sible for the obligations contracted by the testators, as also the heirs are only so far bound as is the
property they inherit ; consequently, it is impossible to adopt the clauses contained in the form of
Bond No. 2 of those enclosed by the British Minister in his Note. -

Notwithstanding, the object which the British Government has. proposed to itself with these Docu-
menls, for carrying intoeffect the said 6th Clause of the 10th Article of the Treaty, can be completely
fulfilled without necessity of iufringing our laws, Her Majesty has been pleased to vesolve that, in con-
formity with them, the Bonds taken as security from the Captains and Masters who can giveit, should
only bear the general “clause, that the property comprised under it remains bound as long as the
Document is not cancelled,” the said British Minister to be informed of this resolution before its being
{:)irculated and made publie, in order that he may express his concurrence, and that future complaints

e avoided,
I communicate this to your Excellency by Royal Order, &e.

. (Signed) JUAN ALVAREZ Y MENDIZABET.
His Excellency Don Jose Maria Calatrava, ' .

&ec. &e. &e.
Crass B.
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No. 18.
My. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received August 19.)

My Lorbp, Madrid, 12th August, 1837,

. I nave the honour to enclose the Copy and Translation of a Note which |
have received from M. Calatrava, in acknowledgment of mine dated the 3]st
ultimo, respecting the Bond to be required for empty casks destined to contain

palm oil.

( I have, &c.
Signed) GEORGE VILLIERS.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, E.C.B. S
&c. &e. &e.
Enclosure in No. 18.
(Translation.) M. Calatrava to Mr. Villiers.

Palace, Tth August, 1837,
¥ nave communicated to the Minister of Finance that which you have been pleased. to state to
me, in your Note of the 31st of July last, respecting the Bond to be required from the Captains or
Owners of vessels entering outwards empty casks or barrels destined to contain palm oil; recom-
mending to him, at the same time, to decide, with all possible speed, upon the terms in which that
Bond is to be drawn up, and to issue the proper orders for giving full effect to it, and that the stipula-
tion in the 6th Clause of 10th Article of the Treaty of the year 1835, for the suppression of the Slave
Trade, may be carried into full execution ; informing me of the resolution which shall be adopted, in
order that I may communicate it to you. All which I have the honour to state to you in answer to

your above-mentioned Note.
Upon this occasion I reiterate to you the assurances, &c.

Sir,

The British Minister, . (Signed) JOSE M. CALATRAVA.
&c. &ec.
. No. 19.
Viscount Palmerston to Mr. Villiers.
SR, * Foreign Office; 23d August, 1837.

I uErEWITH transmit, for your informagion; the Copy of a Despatch and of
its Enclosures, from Her Majesty’s Commissioners at the Havana, upon the sub- -
ject of an infraction of the Treaty of June 28, 1835, on the part of Lieutenant Cruz,
of Her Catholic Majesty’s ship ¢ Teresita,” who, it appears, has neglected to bring
before the Mixed British and Spanish Court of Justice the Spanish schooner
< Matilde,” which he had seized for being equipped for the Slave Trade.

I have to instruct you to-communicate the facts of this.Case, as detailed in_the
enclosed Papers, to the Spanish Government, and to. express the hope of Her
Majesty’s Government, that an inquiry will be set on foot into the circumstances
under which this vessel was seized, carried into St. Jago de Cuba, and, as it is
reported, released by the Authorities there; and Her Majesty’s Government also
trust, that the necessary orders will be issued, to ensure a more exact compliance
with the stipulations of the Treaty on the part of the Officers of Her Catholic

Majesty’s Navy.

I am, &c.
G. W. F. Villiers, Esq. (Sighed) =~ PALMERSTON.
&e. &e.
No. 20.
Mr. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received September 3.)
My Lorp, - Madrid, 26th August, 1837.

T mave had the honour to receive your Lordship’s Despatches, marked
Slave Trade, of the 8th, 9th, and 10th instaut. -

‘In conformity with the instructions contained in your Lordship’s Despatch of
the 8th instant, I have addressed a Note to M. Bardaji, the Copy of which I
herewith enclose, respecting the ill-treatment to which liberated negroes are
exposed in the Island of Cuba, and stating, that Her Majesty’s Government 18
willing to remove them, without distinction of agi or sex, to the British Colonies.

have, &c.
. (Signed) GEORGE VILLIERS.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B.

- e &e. &c. -
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Enclosure in No. 20.
(Copy-) M. Villiers to M. De Bardaji y Azara.

Sin, Madrid, 25th August, 1837,

I uave the honour to inform your Excellency that, on making a representation to your Excel-
lency’s predecessor, M. Isturiz, on the 27th May, 1836, complaining of the non.exe.cution qf those
Stipulations of the Treaty for the Suppression of the Spanish Slave Trade of 1817, Whlc}'l proylded for
the good treatment of negroes under that Treaty, M. Calatrava replied to my representations in a Note
addressed to me, under date of the 28th April last.

I regret to have to state to your Excellency that M. Calatrava’s answer, which contains only a
general denial of the facts reported to Her Britannic Majesty’s Government, with a summary of the
Regulations now in force for the treatment of emancipated negroes in Cuba, is not considered by my
Government as satisfactory.

The complaint of Great Britain was not so much of any defect in the Regulations themselves, as of
the manner in which they are allowed to remain unexecuted and disregarded.

The Despatch of the Captain-General of Cuba (the substance of which is recapitulated in M. Cala~
trava’s Note above mentioned) indeed states that he has put an end to the contribution of 17 dollars
formerly exacted on the hiring of each negro, znd which was applied to the support of public establish-
merits; but, in the same Despatch, it appears that, in the distribution of the emancipated negroes, a
preference is given to those persons who have rendered’some public service, or who have contributed
voluntary donations to public works ; but there is munifestly little or no difference, in principle, between
this method of taking money on the hiring out of the negroes and that which the Captain-General
makes a merit of having put an end to. » - ‘

I have, moreover, the honour to observe to your Excellency that, while it is admitted that the Treaty
of 1817 contains no positive stipulation under which the negroes are entitled to reside in the Havaua,
still, according to the spirit of that Treaty, the Authorities are bound not to allow the negroes to be
taken by their masters to such a distance as shall preclude the possibility of their being carefully
watched over and protected. )

The negroes are, it seems, hired out to proprielors of land, that is to say, of sugar and coffee
estates ; and, when once removed from the neighbourhood of the city, and employed with other negroes
in a state of slavery, it is obvious that their condition will be eventually assimilated with that of the
slaves with whom they are put to work, for they must be entirely at the mercy of their masters, and
utterly unable to avail themselves of the protection of the Government, however good the regulations.
for their treatinent may be, and however heavy the punishment denounced by the law for those who
may do them wrong. s L

Upon these considerations, I have been instrucied to express to your Excellency the regret with
which Her Britannic Majesty’s Government perceives that the only fruit produced by the Royal Order
to the Captain-General of Cuba on the subject, lust-year, is a mere recapitulation, by that cfficer, of
Regulations, unsupported by any statement of facts showing that these Regulations are duly executed ;
while, on the other band, Her Britannic Majesty’s Government continues to receive information from
the Havana, which places the present deplorable condition of the emancipated negroes. beyond the
possibility of doubt. But, hopeless as the case seems to be, I am instructed to state to your Exee]Iency
that one course still remains open, by the adoption of which these negroes may at length obtain the

"good treatment and complete freedom to which they are entitled, and which it seems impossible to
secure for them in Cuba. Great Britain is willing -to relieve that island from the burthen of these
negroes by removing them, without distiuction of age or sex, to the British Colonies, where, under the
protection of British law, and among freed men of their own colour, they will runno risk of being
treated as slaves, or of relapsing into a state of slavery through the bad faith or cupidity of slave
owners, to whose care they must unavoidably be committed under the system at present in force in the
Island of Cuba. .

I have the honour to request your Excellency’s early attention to this proposal, that, in case of Her
Qa_tholic Majesty’s Government consenting to it, immediate arrangements may be made for carrying
it into execution. '

I have, &ec.

His Excellency M. De Bardeji y Azara, ’ | ('Signed) ‘GEORGE VILLIERS.
&c c. &e. 7 .
No. 21. ,
Mr. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received September 3.)
My Lorbp, : Madrid, 26th August, 1837,

) I nave the honour to enclose the Copy of a Note, which, in conformity
with the instructions contained in your Lordship’s Despatch, marked Slave Trade,
of the 10th instant, I have addressed to M. Bardaji, requesting that a law, for the
severe punishment of all persons concerned in the Slave Trade, may be presented
by the Government to the Cortes during the present Session of that Body.

I haye, &c.
_ v (Signed) ~ GEORGE VILLIERS.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B. ' :
§ec. &e. &e. ' ‘

Enclosure in No. 21.
(Copy.) Mr. Villiers to M. De Bardaji y Azara.

Srr, Madrid, '25thmAugust, 1837.
I uAvE the honour to refer your Excellency to a communication made to your Excellency's
Predecessor, of the 6th of April last, in which I reminded his Excellency of the Article of the Treaty
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for the Suppression of the Slave Trade, concluded between Great Britain and Spain, in 1885, which
stipulates that a law shall be enacted for inflicting a severe punishment on Spanish subjects co’nvielzgd
of being engaged in this traffic.

M. Calatrava informed me that the reason of the great delay that had taken place in the passing of
this law was attributable to the necessity of obtaining the concurrence of the Cortes to the promulgation
of any new penal law. N

1 have been therefore instructed by my Government to urge upon your Excellency the proprfety of
proposing the law in question to the present Cortes, with the least possible delay, in order that time
may be given for its consideration aund adoption by that body before the close of the present Session,

. I have, &ec.
His Excellency M. De Bardaji y Azara. (Signed) '~ GEORGE VILLIERS.
&ec. &e. &c.
No. 22.
My. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston.— (Received September 17.)
My Lorbp, Madyrid, 9th September, 1837.

I uave the honour to enclose the Copy of a Note, which, in conformity
with the instructions contained in your Lordship’s Despatch, marked Slave Trade,
of the 9th ultimo, I have addressed to M. Bardaji, respecting the detention of 14
negroes at Porto Rico. :

I have, &ec.
(Signed) GEORGE VILLIERS.

P.S.—Since writing the above, I have received from M. Bardaji a Note, of
which I have the honour to enclose a Copy and Translation.
(Signed) G. V.
The Right Hon Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B.
&e. &e. &e.

First Enclosure in No. 22.

My, Villiers to M. De Bardaji y Azara.
Madrid, Ath September, 1831,

I nave the honour to inform your Excellency that I have received Instructions from my
Government to make an application to that of Her Catholic Majesty respecting certain British negroes
who, it is supposed, are detained as slaves in the Island of Porto Rico.

Evidence has been laid before the Government of Her Britannic Majesty, by which it would appear
that, about the year 1832, 19 British slaves were removed from Anguilla to the Island of St. Thomas,
and were there sold, and that, of this number, 14 were transferred to Porto Rico.

Tn the year 1836, a British vessel of war was employed to visit St. Thomas's and Porto Rico, for
the purpose of recovering such British negroes as might be found in those islands. In the Danish
island no difficulty was experienced in effecting the freedom of the British subjects there held in
slavery ; but, at Porto Rico, no satisfaclory result was obtained ; and the Report of the Officer charged
with the Commission gives reason to believe that there is not any prospect of recovering these negroes,
except by the direct interference of the Government of Her Catholic Majesty in their behalf.

1 have therefore received instructions to lay before your Excellency the enclosed translations of
Depositions on oath of the parties who speak to the transfer of these negroes to Porto Rico, with a view

_of guiding and assisting the inquiries of the Local Authorities in Porto Rico, and to request that
peremptory orders may be issued to the Captain-General of that island to cause a strict search to be
set on foof, not only for the 14 negroes named in the evidence, but for.any others, the subjects of Great
Britain, who may be held in slavery in that island, and to lend all the aid in his power to any Officers
of Her Britannic Majesty who may be employed 1o procure for such individuals the enjoyment of
those privileges, as free men, to which they are entitled in their capacity of subijects of Her Majesty.

) ) ) 1 bave, &ec.
His Excellency M. De Bordaji y Azara, (Signed) GEORGE VILLIERS.

&c. &c. &ec.

Sir,

Second Enclosure in No 22.

(Translation.) M. De Bardaji y Azara io Mr. Villiers.
Palace, 8th September, 1837.

I ru1s day forwirded to the Minister of Marine, Commerce, and Colonies, a Copy of the Note
which you addressed to me on the 4th instant, together with the other Documents which accompanied
it, in order that, through his office, the most positive Orders may be addressed to the Captain-General
of Porto Rico, directing him to proceed, without delay, to the emancipation of the British negroes who,
in the manner mentioned in those Documents, ar(iE detained as slaves irf that island,

) avail, &ec.
The Britisk Migister, (Signed) EUSEBIO DE BARDAJI Y AZARA.

&c. &c

Sir,




SPAIN. 21

No. 23.
My, Villiers to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received Sept. 17th, 1837)
My Lorp, Madrid, September 9, 1837.

I uavE had the honour to receive your Lordship’s Despatch, marked Slave
Trade of the 23rd ultimo.

In obedience to the instructions it contained, I have addressed a note, of
which I enclosed the Copy to M. Bardaji, complaining of the conduct of Lieute-
nant Cruz of the ¢ Teresita,” in not bringing a slave ship, which he professed to
have captured, for adjudication before the mi)ieil Court of Justice at the Havana.

ave, &e. , ,
‘ (Signed) - GEORGE VILLIERS.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B. '

&e. . &e. - &e. ‘

Enclosure in No. 23.
(Copy.) ' M. Villers to Mr. Bardagi.

S1r, Madrid, 7th September, 1837.

I HAvE the honour to call your Excellency’s attention to a very glaring infraction of the Treaty
of 28th June, 1835, for the Suppression of the Slave Trade, which, it appears, has been committed by
Lieutenant Cruz, the Commander of Her Catholic Majesty’s ship “ Teresita,” on the coast
of Cuba. - . o ;o

On the 4th May last Captain Jones, of her Brilannic Majesty’s ship ¢ Vestal,”” proceeding on- his
voyage from Port au Prince to Santizgo de Cuba, deseried a schooner of very suspicious appearance
lying at anchor in the entrance of'the harbour of Guautanamo; Captain Jones immediately took the
profer steps to ascertain the character of this vessel, which had every appearance of being a Pirate.
And on sending an officer on board, the people declared that she was a prize to the * Teresita” Pilot-
boat, in the service of Her Catholic Majesty, which was presently confirmed by Lieutenant Cruz, the
Commander of that vessel, who came himself and stated, that he had that day seized the schooner under
the Provisions of the late Treaty with Great Britain, for being fitted out for the Slave Trade. And it
appeared that Lieutenant Ctuz had been fully justified in so doing; for, according to the testimony
of the officer and others who examined the schooner, it appears that she was equipped exactly in' the
maunner described in the Article which directs the Capture of Vessels prepared for the reception and
detention of Slaves. : o _

Your Excellency is well aware that all cases of this kind can only be tried before the Courts of
Mixed Commission, appointed for the especial purpose.

I have, however, the honour to inform your Excellency that, up to the date of the last Despatches
from the Havana, Lieutenant Cruz had never brought in his prize for adjudication before the said
Court, the Judges of which had accordingly applied to the Captain-General on the subject, but they
had received no satisfactory answer. ’

1 have in consequence received instructions from my Government to urge upon your Excellency the
necessity of immediately setting on foot an inquiry into the circumstances under which this vessel was
seized, carried into Santiago de Cuba, and, as it is reported, released by the authorities there. ‘And
to state that Her Britannic Majesty's Government also trust that orders will be issued to ensure a more
exact compliance with the Stipulations of the Treaty on the part of the officers of Her Catholi
Majesty’s navy. , ’ '

I have, &c.
(Signed) : GEORGE VILLIERS.
| No. 24. o .
Sir George Villiers to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received Sept. 27.)
My Lorp, . : Madrid, Sept. 16th, 1837.

WitH reference to my Despatch of the 9th instant, I have the honour to
enclose the Copy and Translation of a mnote which I~ have received from
M. Bardaxi, informing me that orders have been issued for inquiry into the conduct
of Lieutent Cruz of the « Teresita.” . o v
' I have, &e. , :
(Signed) . - GEORGE VILLIERS.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B. ' o '

&e. &e. &e.

Enclosure in No. 24.
M. Bardaxi to Sir George Villiers.
: '= ’ Madrid, 14th September, 1837,
I mave the honour to inform you in reply to the Note which you were pleased to address to
me on the 7th instant, in which complaint is made of an infraction of the Treaty for the Suppression
of the Slave Trade, which, it appears, has been committed by Lieutenant Cruz, of Her Majesty’s
ship “ Teresita,” on the coast of Cuba ; that having taken into the most serious consideration all your

Sir,
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observations upon the subject, I have transmitted it to the Minister of Marine aud Colonies, in arder
that the certainty of the said complaint being verified, the guilty party may be proceeded against with
all rigour.

T avail myself, &ec.

Sir George Villiers, G. C. B. (Signed) EUSIBIO DE BARDAXI Y AZARA.
&c.” &ec. &e. ‘
No. 25.
Fiscount Palmerston to Myr. Villiers.
Sig, Foreign Office, October 6th, 1837,

ReprESENTATIONs having been made to this Office through the Colonial
Department, of the inconvenience suffered by the negroes of the *“ Kmpresa,” in
consequence of their detention on board the vessel, after the sentence had been
signed, in order that the descriptive list necessary for the completion of the
proceedings of the Mixed Court might be made out ; I addressed an instruction to
Her Majesty’s Commissioners at the Havana, desiring them to propose to the
Mixed Court, that, for the future, when the sentence condemning a slave vessel is
signed, the negroes should be placed at the disposal of the British Superintendent,
as soon as that officer should notify that he is prepared to receive them.

‘ I now transmit to you the Copy of a Despatch and of its Enclosures from
Her Majesty’s Commissioners, by which you will perceive, that their Spanish
Colleagues have refused to accede to this proposal. ;

- It is evident indeed from the Reply of the Spanish Commissioners, that
those gentlemen have misunderstood the application made to them by the British
Commissioners. They consider, that the effect of their consenting to the proposed
arrangement would be, to make the Delivery of the Negroes to the Superintendent
dependent upon a notice from that Officer that he is ready to receive them, a
condition which they very truly state is not contained in the Treaty; and as they
add, that it is not lawful for them to explain the Articles of the Treaty, it has
appeared to Her Majesty’s Government, that it would be better to address the
Spanish Government at once upon the subject, instead of instructing the British
Commissioners to discuss the subject farther with their Colleagues, with a view of
setting them right, as regards their misconception of the object of the arrange-
ment in question.

I have now, therefore, to request, that you will bring the matter under the con-
sideration of the Spanish Government, and express the earnest wish of Her
Majesty’s Government, that the Spanish Commissioners at the Havana may be
furnished with instructions, to accede at once to the proposed arrangement.

Itis true that Article 6 Annex B. stipulates that < the slaves shall receive
from the Court a Certificate of emancipation, and shall be delivered over to the
Government to whom the Cruizer which made the capture belongs.”

But Article 2 of Annex C states that *“émmediately after sentence of condemna-
“ tion on a vessel charged with being concerned in illegal Slave Trade, shall have
« peen passed by the Mixed Court of Justice, established under the Treaty to
« which these Regulations form an Annex, all negroes who were_found on board of
« such vessel, and who were brought on board for the purposes of traffic, shall be
« delivered over to the Government to whom belongs the Cruizer which made the
« capture :” and Her Majesty’s Goverhment trust, that the preference will be
given to that stipulation of the Treaty, which would secure to the negroes the
earliest possible release from their sufferings in a slave ship.

It may also be argued, that the proposed arrangement is not only desirable
on the score of humanity to the negroes, but as tending greatly to facilitate the
very proceedings on account of which their detention on board the slave vessel has
been thought requisite ; for, after the negroes have been removed to a clean and
roomy vessel, the officer of the Court will have ‘far less difficulty, in making out
the descriptive List of the persons to whom Certificates of Emancipation are to be
delivered, than he would experience in performing this duty on board a crowded
and unwholesome slave vessel, !

e o - I am, &e. :
G. W.F. Villiers, Esq. (Signed) PALMERSTON.
&e. &e. &e. ‘ ‘ '
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No. 26.
Myr. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received Oct. 9.)

My Lorp, Madrid, 80th September, 1837.

I HAVE the honour to enclose the Copy and Translation of a Note which I
have received from M. Bardaxi, informing me that Instructions had been sent to
the Captain General of the Havannah to afford to Lieutenant Jenkins, of Her
Majesty’s Ship < Romney,” all the protection and assistance that he may require in
the execution of his duty.

‘ . I have, &ec.
- (Signed) GEORGE VILLIERS.
The Right Hon. Lord Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B. = ‘
&e. &e. &e.
Translation.) Mr. Bardaxi to. Mr. Villiers. N
Sy, Madrid, September 20th, 1837.

I BAvE the honour to inform you, in reply to the note which you were pleased to address to my
predecessor, on the 12th of July last, in which, by order of your Government, you communicated that
Her Britannic Majesty’s ship ¢ Romney,” under the command of Lieutenant Jenkins, was about to
be sent to the Havannah, to serve there as a dépét for the reception of liberated negroes; that I bave
transmitted to the Captain-General of the island of Cuba whatiis expressed in your above-mentioned
communication ; desiring him, by order of Her Majesty, to afford all the protection to Lieutenant
Jenkin which is due, and to give every assistance to him in the discharge of his mission. -

T avail myself, &c.

The British Minister, (Signed) EUSEBIO DE BARDOXI Y AZARA.
&e. e e
No. 27.
Viscount Palmerston to Mr. Villiers.
SIg, Foreign Office, October 11, 1837.

I HEREWITH transmit to you the Copies of a Despatch, and of its Enclosures
from Her Majesty’s Commissioners at the Havana, reporting the sale’of a number
of bozal negroes In that city; and 1 have to instruct you to bring under the notice.
o the Spanish Government; this public violation of the laws of Spain, and of the
Treaty between Great Britain and that Country, for the Abolition of the Slave
Trade. ' '

Tt appears from the correspondence transmitted to this office by the Commis-
sioners, that the Commissioners reported the fact of the sale to the Captain General,
and that two days were allowed to_elapse, before the place named as the scene of
the transaction was visited by the Police; and, as was naturally to be expected,
during such a lapse of time, the offending parties took care to remove all the bozal
negroes from the premises. ‘ ' .

“The Assessor, in his report of the search which was made, does not throw any
doubt upon the correctness of the information, which was given by the Commis-
sioners ; but he attributes the escape of the guilty parties, and the removal of the
proofs of their crime, to want of vigilance, and neglect on the part of the officer of
the ward. But it is obvious, however, that, if the Captain General had lost no
time in instituting an inquiry into the facts, immediately upon receiving the Report -
of the Commissioners, the offenders would probably not have escaped ; and you
will therefore point out to the Spanish Government, that the delay which took
place in this case, upon the frivolous pretext put forward by the Captain General,
was a practical protection of the offence ; and affords a proof of the remissness with
which the Authorities at the Havana execute their duties in everything that relates
to the suppression of the Slave Trade. Iam, &c. = - ,

G. V. F. Villiers, Esq. (Signed) PALMERSTON.

&e. &e.

Enclosure in No. 27.
Havana Commissioners, June 30, 1837.
(See Class A.)
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No. 28.
Sir George Villiers to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received Nov. 6.)
My Lorp, : Madrid, October 28th, 1837,

I uavE the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your Lordship’s Despatel,
marked “Slave Trade,” of the 6th instant. In conformity with the instruetions it
contains I have addressed a note to M. Bardaxi, of which I herewith enclose the

Copy. '
I have, &ec. :
(Signed) GEORGE VILLIERS.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, ¢.C.B.

&e. &e. &e.

Enclosure in No. 28.
Sir George Villiers to M. Bardaxi.

Sin, , Madrid, 27th October, 1837,

T uavE received the Instructions of my Government to propose to the Government of Her
Catholic Majesty a measure of humanity arising out of the execution of the Treaty for the Suppres-
sion of the Slave Trade of 1835. ~ '

According to the present practice of the Mixed Court of Justice in the Havana, after sentence of
condemnation is pronounced against a vessel for having been employed in the traffic of Slaves, the
negroes remain on board the vessel until a descriptive list is made of the individuals, in order that
their certificate of liberation may be duly drawn out.

This practice is in conformity with Article 6, Annex B, of the treaty which stipulates that « the
Slave shall receive from a Court a'Certificate of IZmancipation, and shall be delivered over to the
Government to whom the cruizer which made the capture belongs.” But Article 2, of Annex C,
states that ¢mmediately after sentence of condemnation on a vessel charged with being concerned in
illegal Slave Trade shall have been passed by the Mixed Court of Justice established under the Treaty
to which these Regulations form an annex, all Negroes who were found on board such vessel, and
who were brought on board for the purposes of traffic, shall be delivered over to the Government to
whom belongs the cruizer which made the capture. _

If the latter stipulation be adopted in practice instead of the former one, the Negroes found on
board a condemned vessel would, on sentence being pronounced, be immediately taken out of the’
small and generally unhealthy ship in which they are crowded together, and placed in a large and
salubrious one, where the descriptive list which, agcording to the first quoted article, must be made
in the slave vessel itself, could be drawn up with far more convenience to the persons whose duty it is
to-do it, and with a great relief to the suffering Negroes. ‘

Your Exeellency will perceive that this js a difference which, in no respect, deviates from the spirit
of the Treaty, and is in strict conformity with the letter of one of ils clauses. My Government there-
fore trusts that your Excellency will see no objection to causing the preference to be given to the
interpretation which is most favourable to the cause of humanity, and be pleased to direct the Spanish
members of the Mixed Court of Justice in the Havana to act according to Article 2 of Annex C,
and in the case of the capture being made by a British ship of War, to deliver up to the British
superintendent, as soon after the condemnation of the slave vessel as he shall be prepared to receive
them, the Slaves found on board.

Your Excellency will perceive that the only difference this can make in the execution of the Treaty
is in the place where the Certificate of Emancipation is made out; whereas, on the other hand, nume-
rous lives and much suffering to the unfortunate negroes will be saved by their immediate removal,
after condemnation, from the slave vessel. ' ‘

. I have, &e.,
M. Bardaxt, (Signed) GEORGE VILLIERS.
&c. &e. §e..
‘ No. 29. '
Viscount Palmerston to Sir George Villiers.
SIR, Foreign Office, November 14th, 1837.

I HEREWITH transmit to you the Copy of a Despatch and of its enclosures
from Her Majesty’s Commissioners at the Havana, notifying the arrival in that
Port of the ‘ Romney,” the hulk which is to serve as a receiving ship for the
negroes emancipated by Decree of the British and Spanish Mixed Court of Justice
established under the Treaty of June 28th, 1835, with Spain, for the abolition of
the Slave Trade. . .

From the correspondence enclosed in this"Despatch it appears, that the Captain
General has demanded the removal of certain free negroes, belonging to Her
Majesty’s 20d West India Regiment, who have heen appointed to do duty as
marines on board the ““ Romney,” and has threatened to arrest them should they
land upon the island ; and that he founds his opposition to the presence of these
individuals within the limits of the Colony, upon the Royal Orders of March 12th,
-1837, in which he is charged, not to permit in any manner the introduction of free
negroes, under any pretext whatever, into Cuba,
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I bave now therefore to mstruet you to lay the case before the Spanish Goveru-
ment ; and to request, that such orders may be issued to General Tacon upon this
point, as may remove the seruples, which a too literal interpretation of his orders
seems to have raised in his mind. A \ ’

Tt is obvious, that when the Spanish Govermment directed him not to permit any
free persons of colour to he introduced into Cuba, that Government could not have
intended its order to extend to the soldiers in Her Majesty’s service, who are neces-
sarily employed as a guard on board the “ Romney.” , _

You will also take the occasion to draw the attention of the Spanish Govern-
ment to the considerations pointed out by Dr. Madden, as rendering the Black
Troops peculiarly well fitted for a duty which must he performed; and you will
express the hope of Her Majesty’s Government, that the men so employed may not
be kept perpetually prisoners on board the hulk, but may be permitted to enjoy
occasionally, and under proper regulations, the indulgence of going ashore.

I am, &e.
(Signed) PALMERSTON.
Sir George Villiers, G.C.B.
&e. &e. &e.

Enclosure in No. 29.

Havana Commissionérs, September 23, 1837.

(See Class A.).
: No. 30.. c
M. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston.— (Received Nov. 14.)
My Lorp, ' Madrid, 4th November, 1837. -

I mavE had the honour to receive your Lordship’s Despatch marked Slave

Trade of the 11th ultimo. . _
In conformity with the instructions contained therein, I have addressed a note to

M. Bardaxi, of which I enclose the copy to your Lordship, respecting the sale of

bozal negroes at the Havana.
I have, &ec. ‘

, : (Signed) GEORGE VILLIERS.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palnerston, G.C.B.
&e. &ec. &e.

Enclosure in No. 30.

Mpr. Villiers to M. Bardaxi. ’ )
Sz, Madrid, 3rd November, 1831.

I uAvE the honour to inform your Excellency that I am instructed by my Government to
bring under the notice of your Excellency a public violation of the laws of Spain and of the Treaty
between Great Britain and this country for the abolition of the Slave Trade, which has been permitted
in the Havana. : N

In that city the sale of 2 number of Bozal Negroes has been allowed after being publicly announced,
and it appears from the Correspondence of Her Britannic Majesty’s Commissioners at the Havana,
that after they reported the fact to the Captain-Geneyal that such a sale was advertised as being about
to be consummated, two days were allowed to elapse before the place named as the scene of the
transaction was visited by the Police, and, as was naturally to be expected, during such a lapse of
time, the offending parties took care to remove all the Bozal Negroes from the premises.

The Correspondence which took place on the subject, between Her Britannic Majesty’s Commis-

sioners and the Captain-General of Cuba, has been transmitted to my Government ; and I have the
honour to observe, that the Assessor of the Captain-General, in his report of the search which was
made, does not throw any doubt upon the correctness of the information which was given by the
Commissioners; but he ‘attributes the escape of the guilty parties, and ‘the removal of the proofs of
their crime, to want of vigilance and neglect on the part of the officer of the ward. It is obvious,
however, that if the Captain-General bad lost no time in instituting an inquiry into the facts imme-
diately upon receiving the report of the Commissioners, the offenders would probably not have
escaped. ' ' ,
- Thus I regret to have to observe, that the delay which took place in this case, upon the frivolous
pretext put forward by the: Captain-General, was a practical protection of the offence, and affords a
proof of the remissness with which the authorities at the Havana execute their duties in everything
that relates to the suppression of the Slave Trade. :

I have, &c.
His Excellency ) (Signed) GEORGE VILLIERS,
Don Eusebio de Bardaxt y Ayara, ‘
&e. &e. §e.

Crass B.
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No. 31.
8Sir George Villiers to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received Dec. 12.)

My Lorp, Madrid, 3rd December, 1837,

I HAVE the honour to enclose the copy of a note which, in obedience to the
instructions contained in your Lordship’s Despatch, marked Slave Trade of the
14th ultimo, I have addressed to M. Bardaxi respecting the free negroes belong-
ing to Her Majesty’s Second West Indian Regiment, who have been appointed to
do duty on board the receiving ship “ Romney.”

I have, &ec.
(Signed) GEORGE VILLIERS,
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B.

@'c. &e. | &e.

Enclosure in No. 31.

Sir G, Villiers to M. Bardaxi,
Str, Madrid, 2nd December, 1837,

I mave the honour to inform your Excellency, that Her Britannic Majesty’s Government have
received intelligence of the arrival at the Havana, of the “ Romney,” the hulk which is to serve as a
receiving ship for the negroes emancipated by Decree of the British and Spanish Mixed Court of
Justice, established under the Treaty of 28th June, 1835, with Spain, for the abolition of the Slave
Trade.

It appears from the communications made to Her Britanuic Majesty’s Government that the Cap~-
tain-General of Cuba, has demanded the removal of certain frée negroes belonging to Her Britannic
Majesty’s Second West Indian Regiment, who have been appointed to do duty as Marines on board
the “ Romney,” and has threatened to arrest them should they land upon the island. The Captain-
Generdl, it seems, founds his opposition to the presence of these individuals within the limits of the
Colony, upon the Royal Orders of 12th March, 1837, in which he is charged not to permit in any
manner, the introduction of free negroes, under any pretext whatever, into Cuba.

I have been, in consequerice, instructed by my Government to lay the case before your Excelleney,
and to request that such orders may be issued to General Tacon, upon this point, as may remove the
scruples which a too literal interpretation of his instructions seems to have raised in his mind, I
scarcely need remark to your Excellency, that when the Government of ‘Her Catholic Majesty
directed that officer not to permit any free persons of colour to be introduced into Cuba, that Govern-
ment could not have intended its orders to extend to the soldiers in Her Britannic Majesty’s service,
who are necessarily employed as a guard on board the *“ Romney.”

The fifteen individuals of colour who form the Marine Guard on board the hulk, have been selected
for that purpose, because they are in all respects best adapted to the nature of the duties they are
required to perform. .

They are much easier kept inorder than white men, they understand the language and habits of
the liberated slaves placed under their charge, and above all Her Britannic Majesty’s Government
is informed upon adequate authority that the mortality of white men so employed, and kept almost
continually shut up in a hulk in the port of the Havana, would be so great as to render the service
impracticable, Free men of colour are seen in the ports of Cuba, not only employed as sailors or
soldiers on board of Her Britannic Majesty’s ships, but in the American steam-boats, occupied in
plying between the Havanna and Rigla, they are also constantly employed ; so that the arzument of
novelty even canuot be alleged in favour of the course which the Captain-General has thought proper
to pursue. . .

Until some arrangement could be come to between the two Governments on the point, it has been
determined to keep these soldiers in the hulk, and not to permit them to land. I -have, however, fo
express to your Excellency, the hope which is entertained by .Her Britannic Majesty’s Government,

" that the men employed in this arduous service may not-be kept perfectly prisoners, but may be per-
mitted to enjoy occasionally, and under proper regulations, the indulgence of going ashore.

I have, &e.
His Excellency (Signed) GEORGE VILLIERS.
Don Eusebius De Bardaxi y Asara.
&ec. &ec. &ec.
: No. 32.
Sir G. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received Dec. 12.)
My Lorp, " Madrid, December 3rd, 1837,

I BAVE several times of late urged M. Bardaxi to cause a project of law
to be prepared for the punishment of individuals convicted of slave dealing, and to
present it to the Cortes, in fulfilment of the stipulations of the Treaty of 1835.

His Excellency assured me yesterday, that a law to that effect should be laid
before the Chamber of Deputies, immediately after the conclusion of the debate upon
the Address. :
. ' I have, &ec.
(Signed) GEORGE VILLIERS.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B.

&c. §e. §ec.
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No. 33.
Sir G. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received Dec. 19.)

My Lorbp, Madrid, December 10th, 1837.

I aAVE the honor to enclose the copy and translation of a note, which I have
received from M. Bardaxi, in acknowledgment of mine, dated the 2nd instant,
respecting the free negroes of the 2nd West India Regiment, employed on board
Her Majesty’s Ship *“ Romney,” at the Havana.

I have, &ec. ‘
(Signed) 'GEORGE VILLIERS.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B.

&e. &e. &e.

Enclosure in No. 33.

M. Bardaxi to Sir G. Villiers.

Sies In the note which yon were pleased to address to me, dated the 2nd instant, you state that the
Captain-General of the Island of Cuba objects to the landing of certain liberated negroes, who form
part of the erew of the hulk *“ Romney,’’ destined to serve as a depdt in the Bay of the Havana f?r
the negroes declared free by the Mixed Commission, in consequence of the instructions contained in
the Royal Order of the 12th of March last; and you request that the individuals employed in the
service of the said- hulk, may be allowed occasionally, and under proper regulations, to enjoy the
pleasure of going ashore.

T have the honour to inform you, in answer to your above-mentioned communication, that I hastened
to transmit the contents of it to the Secretary for the Department of Marine, in order that he may
communicate the proper directions to the Captain-General of the Island of Cuba, to act in the greatest
harmony with the British Commissioners, and endeavour to arrange these small differences in as far
as may be compatible with the good of the Queen’s service, and the tranquillity of the Island.

Upon this occasion T repeat to you, &c. &c.

Palace, Dec. 5th, 1837. :
(Signed) E. DE BARDAXI Y AZARA.
To the Minister of Her Britannic Majesty. :

No. 34. .
Sir G. Villiers to Viscount Palmerston.—(Recetved Dec. 26.)

(Extract.) Madrid, December 17th, 1837.

I HAVE the honour to transmit to your Lordship the Copy and Translation
of a Note from M. Bardaxi, together with its Enclosure, informing me that the
Government was dissatisfied with the manner in which the Captain-General had
proceeded in the case, and insisting on the necessity of a more punctual fulfilment
of the Treaty. ‘

Enclosure in No. 34.

(Translation.) M. Bardazi to Sir G. Villiers. ~
Sir, ' Madrid, November 10th, 1837.
IN order to attend in a becoming manner to your reclamation, respecting the sale of a certain
number of bozal negroes at the Havana, I have, by Royal command, informed the Captain-General
of the island of Cuba, and Governor of the said Capital, that Her Majesty desires that the Preaties be
religiously observed, and that she will see with pain, that the slightest infraction of them is tolerated,
as appears to have been the case in the matter which has given rise to your reclamation, although Her
Majesty feels persuaded that it was not in the power of the said Captain-General to have prevented it,
as appears from the testimony which: has been sent to this office, and which I have the satisfaction of
enclosing to you in original®.
I have the honour of making the above communication to you, in reply to your note of the 3rd in-
stant upon this subject.
I avail, &e.
(Signed) E. BARDAXI Y AZARA.

* Sub-Enclosures in No. 37.
Papers on the subject of the « Denunciation of the Sale of certain Bozal Negroes,” Translations of

which are enclosed tn Havana Commisioners’ Despatch of June 30, 1837,
(See Class A.)




23 SPAIN.

‘ No. 35.
Viscount Palmerston to Sir George Villiers.

SIR, Foreign Office, December 27th, 1837,

I pEREWITH transmit for your information a Copy of a Letter, which |
have received from Commander Nixon, of Her Majesty’s ship « Ringdove,” con-
taining some information, respecting a cargo of negroes shipped in the Rio Congo,
on board the Spanish Schooner “ Fencedora,” and concealed on board that vessel,
while she lay in the harhour of Cadiz, prior to her departure for the West Indjes.

I have, &ec.
(Signed) PALMERSTON.
Sir George Villiers, G.C.B.

&e. &e. &e.

Enclosure in No. 35.

My, Nizon to Viscount Palmerston.

H.M.S. Ringdove, Havana, October 28, 1837,

I ant well aware, my Lord, it may be irregular my addressing you, but, from reading the docu-
ments on the Slave Trade, and observing the strong personal feeling your. Lordship appears to have
init, I trust the new and extraordinary case I now state will plead my apology for addressing you.
On the 14th of this month I detained and brought in here * La Vencedora,” Spanish brigantine, for
having twenty-six negroes concealed on board. As my eorrespondence with the Commissioners wil]
of course go by this packet, and be laid before your Lordship, I will not occupy more of your time
than informing you that, from private but unquestionable information I have received, however
horrid the fact, the “ Fencedora’™ shipped a cargo of negroes at Rio Congo, ook them round by
Cadiz, and was there muny days with her wretched cargo concealed, but which must have been
known to the Spanish sanitory and custom-house authorities. She sailed from Cadiz about the 5th or
6th of September, and during the whole passnge out the wretched negroes were not seen by the
passengers, but who, from the offensive smell from below, the quantities of rice, &c., cooked, were
quite aware what they had in. Much of this information I had from a Spanish boy, a Carlist prisoner,
who, by some oversight, I suppose, has been left on board ; it has gradually eked out from him, but
I have no question of the truth; he has been quite consistent in his information, and it corroborates
what all the negroes have declared, that they were never on board another vessel; and the men of the
* Vencedora” told this boy they were from the coast of Africa: her preyious employment is still hid in
mystery. 'This unfortunate boy swore to all he said in the most solemh manner : he was and is in the
greatest dread of being assassinated on being taken on shore, if known what he has told us. Afier
being with us a few days, he was most anxious to remain with the Euglish, but from the first T told
him it was quite impossible. I had his information reduced to writing, and have it ready, with other
corroborative circumstances, to bring before the Court whenever they will allow me, and felt it my duty,
both verbally and by letters, to give the Commissioners the first and earliest gleam of information
that reached me, as in my letter of October 220d. I thiuk it may be interesting to your Lordship
to know the ahove facts, whatever may be the decision of the Court; and, should your Lordship care
to know any thing of me personally, I beg to state that Admirals the Honourable Charles Fleming and
Sir Philip Durham, and Lord Lynedoch, have long known me; and Sir Robert Gore Booth, whose
property in the county Sligo marches with some of your Lordship’s, is a nephew-in-law of mire.

' T am, &e.,
(Signed) H. STOPFORD NIXON,

P. S.—From private information received by Mr. Schenley, I was going to cruise for the “Socora,”
now expected, and will do so the moment I am clear of ** La Vencedora.” Will your Lordship pardon
me pointing out the great utility it might be having on board the “ Romney,” amongst the black
troops, men from as many different parts of the coast as possible, to act as interpreters in cases of
attempted concealment and fraud, like the * Pencedora 2’

To Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B,
&e. &e. &e.
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SPAIN. (Consular.)

No. 36.
Lord Palmerston to Mr. Brackenbury.

SIR, : Foreign Office, March 30th, 1837.
I HEREWITH transmit for your information the Copy of a Despatch which
I have received from His Majesty’s Commissioners at Sierra Leone, reporting the
purchase of two condemned slave vessels, the « Figilante” and «“ Esperanca,” (A)
on account of Pedro Blanco of the Gallinas; and I have to desire, that should
these vessels arrive at Cadiz, you will watch them  narrowly, with a view to
‘prevent their being again fitted out for the Slave Trade, for which, it is but too
probable, they are destined by their present owner.
' ‘ I have, &ec.

(Signed) PALMERSTON.
J. M. Brackenbury, Esq.
"No. 37.
Myr. Hardy to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received April 19th.)
My Logrbp, St. Jago, de Cuba, 18th February, 1837.

I BEG leave to acquaint your Lordship, that the Portuguese brig Boca
Negra, J. Cuamaiio, Master, landed on the 6th instant at Juragua (a little to wind-
ward of this Port) four hundred Africans of all ages, and subsequently entered this -
Port.

I have the honor, &e.
(Signed) JOHN HARDY, Jun.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B. Consul.

&e. &e. &e.

No. 88.
M. Brackenbury to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received April 25¢h.)

My LoRrbp, British Consulate, Codiz, 13th April, 1837.

IN acknowledging your Lordship’s Despatch of the 30th ultimo, enclosing
me a Copy of a communication from His Majesty’s Commissioners at Sierra
Leone, respecting the purchase of two condemned slave vessels by Mr. Robert
Hornell of that Colony.

I have the Lionour to acquaint your Lordship that the * Esperanga” arrived in
this Harbour in ballast on the 11th February last, and was purchasea by Mr.
Matteu, who states, that he has been too unsuccessful in his slave voyages to
employ the * Esperanga” again in that inhuman traffic, but purposes establishing
her as a constant trader between this Port and the Havana.

Her British Register was delivered to me by her late master, Mr. John Tucker,
on the 17th of February last, and was forwarded by me on the following day, by
Her Majesty’s schooner * Firefly,” to the Honourable Commissioners of Her
Customs.

I have, &c.
(Signed) W. N. BRACKENBURY, Jun.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B.

&e. &e. &e.
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No. 39.
Mr. Brackenbury to Viscount Palmerston.—Received April 25th.
My Lorp, British Consulate, Cadiz, 14th April, 1837,

I HAVE the honour to acquaint your Lordship, that the Russian barque
“ Cavallo Marino,” which formed the subject of my Despateh, of the 12th of
December, 1835, is on the point of sailing from this Port, under Spanish
colours, with a cargo of merchandise for Manilla.
I have, &ec.
(Signed) W. N. BRACKENBURY, Jun,
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B,

&e. &e. &c.
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“No. 40.
Lord Howard de Walden to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received January 23rd.)

My Lorp, Lisbon, 14th January, 1837.

AvrtaoueH I can report no progress made in the negociation of the Slave-
Trade Treaty, your Lordship will learn with satisfaction that the Decree of the
10th December has already produced beneficial effects. '

Three vessels which were lying in.the Tagus, under equipment for the Slave-
Trade, have been prevented from sailing. Another, a Spanish vessel, immediately
left this Port, for Cadiz, incomplete in equipment. '

An English house, which had imported a cargo of 200 barrels of gunpowder from
Liverpool, destined for Loanda by one of the reputed slavers, has not ventured to
ship it in the vessel in question. _

The Owners, or Consignees of the slave-vessels have made angry protests against
the application to them of that article 'of the Decree, which requires security to
be given in Lisbon, against their being employed in the Slave-Trade, but without
effect.

In this I must do the Viscount Sa da Bandeira the justice to report, that he has
acted with perfect good faith. It remains to be seen, whether he can enforce
obedience to the Decree, on the part of the Portuguese authorities in general.

I have, &ec. »
(Signed) HOWARD DE WALDEN.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B.
&e. &e. &e.
No. 41.
Viscount Palmerston to Lord Howard de Walden.
My Lorbp, ’ Foreign Office, February 28th, 18317.

Two months having elapsed, since your Lordship was instructed to resume
the negotiations for the conclusion of the Slave-Trade Treaty, His Majesty’s
Government are anxiously expecting some account of the result of your endeavours,
to bring this long-pending question to a satisfactory termination. ,

Ample proof of the mischief arising from delay is furnished by the accompanying
Copies of Despatches from Rio de Janeiro, and from the Havana ; which show, that,
in the Brazils, and at Cuba, the Slave-Trade, continues to be carried on, under the
the Portuguese flag, with unabated activity. ‘

You will communicate the facts, reported in these Papers, to the Portuguese
Government ; and you will state, that the daring conduct of the Slave-Traders is
encouraged by the delay in concluding the Treaty. :

As your recent Despatches upon this subject do not specify any fresh objections
raised by the Portuguese Ministers to the Draft of Treaty, I am not without hopes,
that your next communication may announce its acceptance ; but, should this not be
the case, I have to instruct you to inform His Majesty’s Government, what is the
actual state of the negotiations.

I have, &ec. ‘
(Signed) PALMERSTON.
Lord Howard de Walden, Lisbon. :

Enclosures in No. 41.

Mr. Hamilton, Rio de Janeiro, December 19, 1836,
His Majesty’s Commissioners, Rio de Janeiro, December 19, 1836,
His Majesty’s Commissioners, Havana, January 2, 1837.

(See Papers of 1836.)
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No. 42.
Lord Howard de H¥alden to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received March 27.)
(Extract.) Lisbon, 12th Mayrch, 1837,

I navE the honour to acknowledge your Lordship’s Despateli, marked Slaye-
Trade, of the 28th ult.

I have urged Viscount de Sa da Bandeira not to lose any time in completing,
by the signature of the Treaty proposed by His Majesty’s Government for the
abolition of the Slave-Trade, the work, so well and honourably commenced by him,
by the Decree of the 21st December, 1836.

I believe Viscount de Sa to be sincerely well disposed effectually to put an end to
the Slave-Trade.

I shall not fail, early this week, again to press His Excellency on this important
subject, on making known to him the ¢ontents of the papers transmitted to me by
your Lordship. I cannot, however, hold out any expectation to His Majesty’s
Government, that any progress will be made in the negotiation of the Treaty, until
after the prorogation of the Cortes.

No. 48.
Lord Howard de Walden to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received March 26.)

My Lorbp, Lisbon, 18th March, 1837,

I YESTERDAY informed the Viscount de Sa da Bandeira, that I had received
your Lordship’s instructions, to bring under notice of the Portuguese Government
the continued abuse of the Portuguese flag, as a cover for the Slave Trade, and
earnestly to press upon His Excellency to follow up, by an efficient arrangement
under Treaty, the measure of the 21st Decewmber, 1836, which had created so
good an effect in England, and was so honourable to himself and the Portuguese
Government.

His Excellency admitted, that he was {ully aware of the extent, to which the
Portuguese flag was used as a cover tp the Slave Trade, and assured me that he
was ‘seriously anxious to put an end to this traffic. He said, he really had so
much business on hand, that he had not been able to look into the Project of the
Treaty himself; that he thought, the work upon it which he had desired was pro-
bably completed ; and he promised, that, during the ensuing holidays, he would
look it attentively over, and then make his counter-proposition.

The Viscount acknowledged the continuance of the Slave Trade to be extremely
detrimental to the Portuguese African Colonies, and that the capital embarked in
this inhuman traffic was alinost entirely foreign.

~ T have, &ec.
(Signed) HOWARD DE WALDEN.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmersion, G.C.B.

&e. &e. &e.

No. 44.
Lord Howard de W alden to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received April 19.)

My Lorp, Lisbon, 1st April, 1837.

ViscounT de a Sa da Baudeira informs me, that he has been working at a
project for a Treaty to render effective the late Decree of the Queen of Portugal,
abolishing in fofo the Slave Trade, carried on under the Portuguese flag, and that
he hopes in a very short time to be able to enter with me upon the discussion of its
provisions.

- I'have, &e.
(Signed) HOWARD DE WALDEN.
The Right Hon. Fiscount Palmerston, G.C.B.

&e. &e. &e.
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No. 45. :
Lord Howard de W alden to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received April 25.)

My LoORD, » Lisbon, 8th April, 1837.
TrE Viscount Sa da Bandeira informed me yesterday, that he hoped in
a few days to send me a counter project of a Treaty for the entire abolition of
the Slave Trade, which he had drawn up, with original notes, explanatory of the
reasons for deviating from the Draft of that, which he had found in the Foreign
Office, so nearly concluded between me and his predecessor.

I expressed my anxious hope that he would fulfil his good intentions, as the
delays which had heen created in bringing this Treaty to a' conclusion, were little
creditable to Portugal, and operated injuriously on public opinion in England, as
regarded the character of the Portuguese Ministers. :

The Viscount then proceeded to inform me, that by accounts which he had
received from Brazil, it appeared that many British subjects were among the most
active encouragers of the Slave Trade, and, indeed, to such an extent, that it was
even insinuated that His Britannic Majesty’s eruizers kept sometimes purposely out
of the way, in order to afford them opportunities of disembarking their cargoes in
safety. :

Iny reply, I pointed out to His Excellency how superfluous it was to seek for
corrupt motives for such imputed proceedings on the part of the British cruizers,
as His Excellency was aware that the Slave Trade with Brazil was carried on
under the Portuguese flag, and that the Portuguese Government had not as yet
conceded to the British eruizers off the Coast of Brazil, the right of searching any
vessels whatever under their flag, whether the bond fide property of Portuguese
subjects, were suspected of being employed in the Slave Trade, or even known to
have slaves on board.

His Excellency acknowledged this, and repeated his determination to do every
thing which depended upon him to put down this inhuman traffic.

I have, &c.
(Signed) ~ HOWARD DE WALDEN.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B.

&ec. &e. &e.

No. 46.
Lord Howard de Walden to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received May 2nd.)

My Lorp, Lisbon, 22nd April, 1837.
In consequence of the suspicions circumstances connected with the
“ Latona,” 1 have during all this week been actively prosecuting my investigation
respecting her, for the purpose of obtaining such evidence, as may render 1t im-
possible for the Portuguese Government to refuse to seize her as a slaver. :

An officer, conversant with the equipment of slave vessels, on going over her
observed a considerable number of casks, four large iron tanks, more than was
necessary for the ordinary use of the crew of any merchant vessel. The hold was
fitted up with transverse beams, ready to receive a platform deck, such as is used
only by slavers.

On receiving this information, I reported it to the Viscount de Sa da Baudeira
in an official note, of which the enclosed is a copy. I also desired M. Consul
Smith to endeavour to elicit further details respecting the vessel. 7 )

. lil‘he particulars thus obtained were most important. The summary is as
ollows :—

The “ Latona” (which previously made a successful slave voyage) was sold b
a Mr. Oakley, of Philadelphia, to 2« man of the name of Faleao, an inhabitant of the
Havana. Part of the purchase money was paid at Philadelphia, and Mr. Oakley’s
son proceeded in the “ Latone” to the Havana, where, in the presence of one of
the deponents, an American, he received the remainder of the purchase money in
~ dollars. The crew who brought her to Lishon were engaged only for the voyage.

M. Faleio came in her, as did also a man by name Pauly, who did not make his
appearance until some days after leaving the Havana. During the voyage, Pauly
talked of the seizure of the « Disgenes” at Mozambique, of which vessel he stated
that he was then commander.

The Maée, another witness, an Englishman, early in the voyage, in moving some
LAss B
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ballast disclosed some ringholts ; they were, however, immediately put out of sight.
He subsequently became acquainted with a secret passage in the lining of the
vessel, through which a man could descend into a part of the hold. In this place
a stock of ringbolts was concealed. He also stated that there was false Wainscotting
in the stern, as also a double ceiling to the cabin, in which hiding-place arms ang
various other things were deposited. This evidence was confirmed by the above.-
mentioned American, who had also been one of the crew.

The Mate also declared that sinder the ballast were concealed the guns belong-
ing to the vessel, as also some large tubs or tanks for the use of the slaves, °

I desired the above deposition to be taken on oath before the Consul, and re-
corded in writing. At the same time I applied to the Viscount de Sa Baudiera
to institute, in presence of these witnesses, accompanied by a British officer, a
rigorous search of the «“ Latona.” The Viscount refused to allow of the presence
of a British officer, on the plea of its looking like Foreign Intervention. M., Vidal,
however, a very honourable man, one of the chiefs of the Foreign Office, called on
me by the Viscount’s desire, to arrange the necessary proceedings. 'This gentle-
man put info my hand a report of u-seareh which had been made the day before on
board the “Latona” by the Police, in which it was declared that the vessel was
free from suspicion !

I explained to him how matters stood, when he immediately proceeded at my
request to the Consul’s office, and having heard the evidence which had been col-
lected, he requested that the witnesses might accompany him to the Polic Office,
where their sworn depositions were immediately examined, and desired to be
translated, and arrangements were made to institute a fresh search of the
« Latona.”

During the day, the three witnesses in question have been offered by the Captain
of the «“ Latona” money and a free passage to England in a vessel which sails
to-Lmorrow, provided that they will not divulge anything they know about the
« Latona.”

I trust that unless previous information should have been given of the intended
search (which, however, is improbable), and which may afford time for throw-
ing the ringbolts, arms, &ec., overboard, a sufficient evidence will at once be
obtained to justify the Government in making an immediate seizure of the
« Latona.”

With reference to the letter contained in the “ Nacional” (transmitted by me
in my Despatch No. 130) signed by Senhor Santos, the Adjutante da Praca, at
Mozambhique, suspecting him to be an interested person, I have made inquiries
respecting him, and I fiud him to.be brother to a man of the same name in Lisbon,
to whom I have already referred in my Despatch No. 16, Slave Trade of the
13th May, 1836.

The Awmerican witness in his deposition further states Crocker the late Master
of the « Latona,” was formerly Mate of a slave vessel called the  Flying-Fish,”
the consort of the ¢ Maritata,” slave schooner, which was captured by the
“ Nimble,” scheoner-of-war, commanded by Captain Bolton. The ¢ Flying-Fish”
landed her slaves on that occasion at a place called Accoreau near Cape Blanco.

‘ I have, &ec. :
(Signed) HOWARD DE WALDEN.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B.

§e. &e. &e.

Enclosure in' No. 46.

Lord Howard de Walden to Viscount de Sa da Baudeira.

MonNsIEUR LE VICOMTE, ‘ Lisbon, 16th April, 1831,

Bzine informed that the © Lafona,” the repnted Slaver, is fitted up with ring-bolts, and has

200 wa'er-casks on board, which circumstances constitute evidence considered now sufficient in all
tribunals to prove her criminality, as connected with the Slave Trade, I lose no time in bringing the
eircumstances under the notice of your Excellency.
. It further appears that this vessel, which appears to have entered under the American flag, came
from/the Havana, -having some how or other received on board the Commander of the % Diogenes,
the Slaver, which is said to have been protected lately by the fort at Mozambique, and that she is not
navigated according to the navigation laws. ‘ )

Under these circumstances, considering the laws of Portugal respecting the Slave Trade (and as
those of America treat vessels in any way connected with the Slave Trade as Pirates), I submit to
eyour Excellency the policy of seizing on this opportunity for the purpose of affording a salutary warn=
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ing to vessels detained for the Slave Trade, and of subjecting the © Latona’ to the utmost rigour of

the law. . i
The Owner of the * Diogenes,” as also of this vessel, the * Lafona,” is reported to me as being a

Corsican. (Signed) HOWARD DE WALDEN.
To His Excellency Viscount de Sa da Baudeira.
No. 47.
Howard de Walden to Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B.—(Received Moy 4th.)
(Extract.) Lisbon, 26th April, 1837.

WiTH reference to my Despatch of the 22nd instant, on the subjéct of the

« Latona,” I have the honour to transmit the affidavits of three of the late crew, by

which the character of this vessel is fully proved. I add also the affidavit of 2

seaman who was engaged only after the arrival of this vessel in the Tagus, by

which it appears that notice had been given of the intended search, by the Portu-
uese authorities. : ‘ ' : :

I further enclose the affidavit of another individual, as corroborating evidence of
the disgraceful connivance, which exists between the Portuguese authorities and the
said Slave Trader. ) : '

Having represented the circumstances connected with the two last-mentioned
depositions to the Viscount de Sa da Baudeira, His Excellency requested me to
write to him officially on the subject, which I accordingly did, and I herewith
enclose a Copy of my Note to His Excellency, concerning the aflidavits before-
mentioned. .

I understand from the Spanish Minister, Senhor Perez de Castro, that Pauoly,
who is to have the command of the * Latona,” states himself to have been owner
of the * Diogenes,” and, as a Spanish subject, has claimed his intervention with
the Portuguese Government, to elaim compensation for damages suffered from His
Majesty’s ship «“ Leveret” while under the protection of the Portuguese flag at
Mozambique. I have inquired of M. De Castro what evidence he possessed of
this said Pauoly being really a Spanish subject. I have not yet received his
answer.

P.S.—1 have the honour to transmit the answer, which I have just received from
M. Perez de Castro.

First Enclosure in No. 47.

(Affidavit.)

Tris Deponent, John Williams, lately a seaman on board the brig “ Latona,” which arrived
in this port under American colours, being sworn on the Holy Evangelists, maketh oath and saith,
that on the seventh day of February last he shipped himself as a seaman on board the said brig, then
in the port of Havana, understanding that she was bound to. Lisbon, and from thence to London,
without any fixed ulterior destination, as he was told by the Master Crocker : ‘that deporent observed
that there were fifteen water-casks on board, in addition to which fifieen or twenty more were shipped
at the Havana, which he, deponent, helped to stow ; besides which there were some leigars or water-
tanks, capable of containing about twenty-eight pipes, on board : that, during the voyage to Lisbon,
he was told by the contramestre, or sailing Master, that Don Francisco de Falconie, who was on
board as passenger, had bought the vessel at Havana, and that Mr. Pauoly (likewise on board) was
to take the command of her at Lisbon: also that the said Mr, Pauoly was the person who had com- -
manded the Spanish vessel detained off Mozambique by an English ship of war : that the said Don
Franclsco pressed Deponent to continue on board, and go on in the vessel on a slave voyage to Mo-
zambique, as he would gain more by it than he would on board a fair trader. Aud, further, that the
said contramestre, whose name is Franecisco, and who, he believes, -is a Spaniard, had also told him
that the “ Lafona” was to take from this port a new crew for the vessel detained at Mozambique by
the English ship of war: and that the said contramestre further told himn that the other vessel was.to
stay at Mozambique till the arrival of the  Latona,” when they were to sail together for mutual
aid and protection: and Deponent further saith not. = :

. . o ) . his L
Witnesses to the Signature, , : L JOHN. xk WILLIAMS.
o . o ) mark,
(Signed) ~ Jose pe Ruvs E Sours, -
EvceNE Sunnivan, of Lisbon, Gentleman.

Sworn before me, by the said John Willliams, at Lisbon, this 21st April, 1837,

(Signed) JER. MEAGHER,
B. V. Consul,
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Second Enclosure in No. 47.
(Affidavit.)

Tuis Deponent, Charles Evans, a British subject,being sworn on the Holy Evangelists, voluntaril
maketh oath and saith, that he this Deponent being then at the Port of Havana, in the Island of Cnbay
on or about the 20th day of December last past, he shipped as second mate on board the American’
brig “ Latona,” then under American colours, commanded by Crocker, and signed articles to
proveed to Lisbon or elsewhere, but he was informed by said Master that the ¢ Latona” was to pro-
ceed from Lisbon to London, where she was to take in a cargo of dry goods, with which she was to
proceed to the Pacific Ocean, 'That immediately after he shipped himself said vessel was sold by a
Mr. Oakley, who came from New York in the “ Latona,” as supercargo, to a Spaniard then at
Havana, named Don Francisco Falconie, and paid the purchase-money for her to the said Mr. Oakley,
wlhio-after receiving it, immediately returned to New York. .That about a fortnight before he, depb:
nent, shipped on board the “ Latona,” a Mr. Pauoly arrived at the Havana.from Mozambique, and
from his having made all the arrangements, and superintended the stores and provisions ‘sent on board
the *Lafona,” s well as Deponent believes that the said Mr. Pauoly is gonnected and councerned:in
sdid brig ¢ Lafone.” 'That said vessel received at the Havana four leigars. or tanks, capable of con-
taining twenty eight pipes of water, of the sort generally used in the Slave Trade,-and thirty-five wine-
pipes, besides two gang-casks of rum, and half a pipe of cognac brandy, and two chests of muskets,
‘That the crew consisted of ‘thirteen men, composed of Portuguese, Americans, English, Swedes, and
Russians ; and that about the end of January said vessel proceeded on her voyage to this port, the said
Don Francisco Falconie and Mr. Pauoly being passengers in her: that during the yoyage the contra.
shestre or boatswain repeatedly asked deponent if he would consent to remain in the * Latona,” which
he told him was to be fitted out at Lisbon for the purpose of returning to Mozambiqiie, to be employed
in the Slave Trade, a circumstance which was generally made known to all the crew, but that Deponent
refused to proceed on such traffic. That Mr. Pauoly informed deponent that he was the person who
commnianded the Spanish vessel that was detained by the English brig-of-war at Mozambique, which
he said al-o belonged 1o the said Don Francisco Falconie ; and deponent further saith, that i clearing
away the dunnage to lay the water-casks on, he discovered four pairs of slave-irons, which he hove
down between the partner beams; and that he also discovered that she had a box-cabin, inside of
which he discovered a place containing small arms and powder; that the said vessel is also fitted with
iron cranks, tosling a slave-deck ; and that besides the four guns now on deck, the remainder (of 14)
are stowed dind hid under the iron ballast. And deponent further saith, that whilst at Havana, the
said Don Francisco Falconie and. Mr. Pauoly lived together, and that the said Mr. Pauoly repeatedly
told him, deponent, that he was to take the command of the * Lafona,” after she was fitted out in
Lisbon for the Slave Trade: and this deponent further saith not.

(Signed) CHAS. C. EVANS,

Witness to the signature,
EusENE STLLIvAN.

Swern before me to the truth of the foregoing statement, by Charles C. Evans, at Lisbon,

215t April, 1887. R
(Signed) JER. MEAGHER,
~B. V. Consul.

Third Enclosure in No. 47,
(Affidavit).

. Twuis Depanent, Solomon Collick, lately serving as ook on'board the brig * Latona,” which
arrived in this port under American colours, having been sworn on the Holy Evangelists, maketh
oath and saith, that he shipped as cook on board said vessel, in the port of New York, about five or
six months ago, aud proceeded in her, with a cargo of corn and flour, to the Island of St. Thomas,
where ss he heard from the then Master, she was intended to be offered for sale, and, if not sold, to
Pproceed to the Havana for the samé purpose. That not having found a purchaser, said vessel pro-
egeded from St, Thomas’s to Havana, where she arrived on the 24th of December last, and was there
sold to Don Francisco de Fualconie and Mr. Pauoly by a Mr. Oakley, who came as supercargo of the
vessel from New York, and by whose father she was owned. That to Deponent’s certain knowledge
the. purchase-money of said brig ** Lafona” was paid by Don Francisco de Falconie to Mr. Oakley.
'Luiat Mr. Oakley told deponent. that he had sold the vessel, and advised him to proceed in her to
Lisbon, Aud depouent further saith, that about eight years ago, being then in the city of Phila-
delphia. employed as a porter, he was sent on board said vessel to bring the Captain’s luggage on
shore, when he was told in conversation by the Mate, that said brig * Latona” had just returned with
a e go of cotton from New Orleans, to which port she had proceeded, after having landed a cargo of
slaves at a creek near Matauzas, in the Island of Cuba, which fact was corroborated in Deponent’s mind,
by his sceing a guantity of fire-arms, cutlasses, boarding-pikes, and tomahawks. . That while the
“ Latona” was at the Havana in January last, this Deponent and Charles Evans were stowing casks
ang leigars, or water-tanks, on the dunnage (the ballast having been removed), in doing which they
discovered a number of slave-irons, hid by the keelson, where they were covered by the ballast. That
he al-o knows that the % Lafona” has got false lockers behind the berths, and secret places by the
rudder-case and in the ceiling. That the said Don Francisco de Falconie and-Mr. Pauoly came as
passengers in the “ Latona® to this port ; and that the contramastre or sailing-master had pressed
him to remain in said vessel, and go in her on the slave voyage she was intended for after she was
fitted out at Lisbon, which request said contramestre likewise made to the rest of the crew. That
said contransestre told him. Deponent, that Mr. Pauoly was the identical person who com 1anded the
ve.s;]el whici had been detained at Mozambique by a British vessel of war: and further Deponcat
saith not. '

“his
(Signed) SOLOMON - Nk. COLLICK.
mar
‘Witneéss to the signature,
‘Eucesg Suiuivan,
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Sworn before me, to the truth of the foregoing deposition, by Solomon Collick, before me, at
i this 21st day of April, 1837, ' ,
Lishon, fis st Sy o7 Zprty (Signed)  JER. MEAGHER,
‘ - B. V. Consul.

——

Fourth Enclosure in No. 47.

(Affidavit.)

This Deponent, Jacinthe Patigneau, a native of the Isle of France, being sworn on the Holy
Evangelists, voluntarily maketh oath and saith, that he, Deponent, on the 29th ultimo shipped on
board the brig ¢ Lafona,” lately arrived in this Port under American colours, as seaman, where he has
continued until yesterday evening. That on some day last week the said ship’s boats conveyed from
on board a ‘quantity of bottles, containiug gunpowder (he having seen the men filling the bottles with
it) which were landed near Boa Vista (Bull Bay); and that the boat immediately returned empty,
and then conveyed another quantity of bottles, also containing gunpowder. That a few days since,
whilst shifting the ballast, he, Déeponent, observed under if, about one hundred manacles, under the
run of the vessel, and which are covered over with stones. That yesterday all of a sudden the contra-
mestre (boatswain) told him, Deponent, thaf the < Lafona” was going to be sold, and desired him
to quit the vessel, which he did last évening, and that he has reason to helieve that his being ordered
on shore was for the purpose of preventing his being acquainted with what was doing on, board, and to
avoid his making the same known : and Deponent further saith not.

. his: ] -
JACINTHE x VATIGNEAU.
) "mark
‘Witness to the Signature,
. EveENE SULLIVAN,

Sworn before me at Lisbon, this 22nd April, 1837.
JER. MEAGHER, )
B. V. Consul.

Fifth Enclosure in No. 47.

(Affidavit.)

'This Deponent, Samuel Grady, of Lisbon, lodging-house keeper, and a British subject, voluntarily
maketh oath and saith, that on the 21st day of April instant, he, Deponent, of his .own accord,. went
on board the brig *“ Latona,” (which vessel lately entered this port under American colours) together
with the Proveda, or Magistrate, appointed by the Portuguese Government to search said vessel for
certain ‘chains, manacles, and other instruments used in the Slave Trade, which were said to be con-
cealed in said brig. * That said Magistrate was accompanied by two persons, one of whom acted as
interpreter, and was escorted by a guurd of four soldiers. 'That with Deponent the following' persons
likewise went on board of their own accord, viz., Charles Evans; Solomon Colliett, John Williams,
John Baker, and John Lewis, all lately belonging to the said brig * Latona.” That the said
Proveda and the persons who accompanied them having got on board said brig, called for the
captain, and said he had -a warrant to search the vessel. ' That the late capfain was not on board at the
time, but came before Deponent and the others quitted the vessel. That the Contramestre. or Sailing
Master having furnished a light, said Provedor went below accompanied by.Deponient and all the
others (except the soldiers) who had gone on board with him. That the Ptovedor and his two
Portuguese attendants went into the cabin, and haviug merely looked round, returned again on dcck,
without having made any search whatever. That in the mean time Deponent, with Evans, Collick,
Williams, Baker and Lewis, went down into the and began to search in the place where some of
them recollected that the irons had been stowed away at the Havana, that is'near the Keelson, and
between the water casks and the ballast, but found notbing but a file and a key, which seemed to
belong to the padlock with which the slave ohain is fastened. That before they had time to make any
further search, the captain who had just returned on board, ¢alled out from the hatch way, ordering
them all to come up, which they accordingly did. That when they got on deck again they saw the
Proveda and the two other persons who came with him standing by the after hatchway. And the
Captain was pacing the deck apparently in great anger, and saying that if he had been on board he
would not have allowed any vne of them to enter the ship. That Deponent did not see said
Proveda, nor either of the persons who meet with him, make any search whatever on board said
brig; and that in a few minutes after Deponent came up from the hold. they all returned on shore.
That before they quitted the vessel the late Captain asked Colliett what business he had on board, to
which Colliett in Deponent’s hearing replied that he (the Master) had no business on board, as the
“ Latona” had been sold at Havana to Don Francisco Falconie and Mr. Pauoly, and that the
purchase-money had been paid for her. ’ . : - '

And this Deponent further saith, that from the interest he felt in this case, arising from the circum-
staqce that several of the “ Latona’s” former crew were lodging at his house, he on the 22nd instant-
again accompanied another Magistrate on board said brig, for the purpose of making a second search.
That said magistrate, with three persons who accompanied him, and Deponent, together with all the
individuals who bad gone with him on the preceding day, went before, first to the cabin and then to
the after-cabin, in both which. places they searched very carelessly, although Deponent repeatedly
Temarked to them that he thought they were very negligent, and even pointed out places which he
said ought to be examined, for which purpose he recommended that a plank should be taken out of
the sheathing on each side, which could have been done without. injuring the vessel. That De-
Ponent’s remarks were addressed to the interpreter and by him conveyed to the Magistrate, who,
however did not attend to them further than by observing that if any injury were done to the vessel he
(the Magistrate) would have to pay forit. That Deponent heard Solomon Colliett assure the inter-
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preter that there were itons on board; and likewise heard Jacinthe Patigneau, another of the former
crew of the * Lufona” tell the interpreter that he had assisted in stowing them away in a place
whe‘nce on.search being made it was found they had been removed. That the whole of the time
during which the said Magistrate was on board was about an hour : and further Deponent saith not
, (Signed) SAMUEL GRADY.
Wiltness to the Signature, g DY.
EvernNe SunLivan, ‘
Sworn before me at Lisbon, this 24th April, 1837.
JER. MEAGHER,
B, V. Consul,

Sixth Enclbsure in No. 47.

Lord Howard de Walden to Viscount Sa da Baudeira.

M. Le VicoMTE, ‘ Lishon, 25th April, 1837,

In compliance with your request, I have the hovour to transmit to your Excellency, herewith
the affidavits of three seamen lately of the “ Latona,” the contents of which had several days ago
been communicated by your Excellency’s desire to the Police Office. I further add, a fourth affidavit
made by a man who had been engaged on board the ¢ Latona,” after the dismissal of the crew which
brought her from the Havana to Lisbon; by which your Excellency will perceive, that what I had
anticipated from any delay, took place, namely, that notice had been immediately given on Friday of
the intended search of the vessel on Saturday, and that effects had in consequence been landed, which
would have tended to affprd additional proof of the character of the * Latona.”” The fifth affidavit
enclosed denounces the conduct of the officers intrusted with the search of the “ Laiona,” which is a
mere repetition of the disgraceful proceedings which took place with regard to the “ Esperanza,”
when the Duke of Palmella was Minisier.

Having already requested that a British officer convérsant with the fitting up of slavers, should be
allowed to be present at the search to be instituted on board the “ Latona,” for the double purpose of
pointing out to the Portugnese authorities what would constitute conclusive evidence as to the destina-
tion of this vessel, and of securing the witnesses from intimidation, and which your Excellency refused to
allow, I trust your Excellency will bear in mind the extent to which the honour of the Portuguese
Government will have been compromised, unless now, by the praiseworthy exertions of more
zealous officers, they may still obtain (in addition to the affidavits which I now place in your Excel-
lency’s hands) evidence equally conclusive as iere those incoutestible proofs, with which I offered to
furnish your Excellency, on board the vessel jisell, I am informed that the * Lafona™ this day
hoisted American colours, although His Britannic Majesty’s Cousul has seen in the American Consul’s
hand her register as an American vessel cancelled.

I have, &e.
(Signed) HOWARD DE WALDEN.

His Excellency Viscount Sa da Baudeira.

&e. &ec. &e.

Seventh Enclosure in No. 47.
(Translation.) M. de Castro to Lord Howard de Walden.
) Lisbon, 26th April, 18817,
Lk Chevalier Perez de Castro has the honour to present his respects to Lord Howard de
Walden, and wishing to satisfy his Excellency’s wish, to have some idea of the reasons on which
M. Peoli, Captain of the * Latona’® founds this claim to his protection ; he has now the honour to
state to his Excellency, that he has received letters from a Spanish commercial house at Bordeaux,
recommending M. Peoli, Captain of the “ Diogenes,” and announcing at the same time, that the pro-
tion of the Government as Her Catholic Majesty, had been claimed for him : that the publicity caused
by the debates which have taken place in the Chamber of Deputies, since the representations
addressed to the Government on the subject of the affair of Mozambique, and the answer of the
Minister of Marive, have confirmed him in the persuasion that M. Peoli is the Captain of the Spanish
brig  Diogenes,” detained at Mozambique; and lastly, that the authentic documents of which M.
Teoli is the bearer from Mozambique, prove him, beyond a doubt, to be the Captain of the brig
“ Diogenes,” whose papers were detained in the last-mentioned town, and are now on their way to
this capital, M. Peoli having o formal certificate of their existence.

According to these very positive proofs, the Chevalier Perez de Castro has not been able for a
moment to doubt that M. Peoli is the Captain of the * Diogenes.”

Moreover, he has informed his Government of what has passed, and he will thus be enabled to know
how far the claims of the said Captain are carried. .

The Chevalier Perez de Castro had no previous knowledge of- the suspicions raised by His Excel-
leney as to the part which M. Peoli may have taken in the Slave Trade; but he is very thankful to
Lord Howard for the iuformation, by which he will not fail to profit, if possible,

The Chevalier Perez de Castro, begs, &e.
To His Excellency Lord Howard de Walden.
&c. &ec. &ec.

No. 48. _
Viscount Palmerston to Lord Howard de Walden.
My Lorp, v Foreign Office, 6th May, 1837,
1 HErREWITH transmit to your Lordship the Extract of a Letter from the
Havana, stating that Don Jozé Fernandez, a notorious ‘slave dealer, has been
nominated Portuguese Consul in that city. o
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Your Lordship will make inquiry into this matter; and, if the information
furnished to the writer, as to the appointment of Don Jozé Fernandez, should
prove correct, you will communicate to the Portuguese Government the fact of
his connexion with the Slave Trade, and will at the same time point out to the
Portuguese Government, how much the selection of such a person for this parti-
cular post must tend to assist the Slave Traders'at Cuba, and to encourage a be-
lief, that the Portuguese Government favours, instead of discountenancing that
trafic.

I am, &e.

(Signed) PALMERSTON.
Lord Howard de W alden.
&e. &e.

Enclosure in No. 48.
Esztract of a Letter dated the Havana, 24th February, 1837.

‘A Rerort has reached me upon creditable authority, that Don José Fernandez, a pariner of
the American House of George Night and Co., has lately been nominated Portuguese Cousul for
Havana. This individual is one of the most notorious slave dealers either here or upon the Coast of
Africa. His brother resides at Whydato, having various establishments likewise for slave dealing.
An appointment of such a nature by the Portuguése Government, could ouly be made with the inten-
tion of forwarding the Slave Trading enterprises (fiow carried on to such an extent under her flag), by
an act of the most open barefacedness, .

No. 49.
Lord Howard de Walden to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received May Tth.)

My Lorb, Lisbon, 30th April, 1837.

WitH reference to my Despatches of the Slave Trade Series, of the 22nd
and 26th instant, respecting the  Latona” Slaver, I have the honour to inform
your Lordship, that the American Chargé d’Affaires has withdrawn his protection
from this vessel. ,

I have made known to him all the particulars connected with her, and have
furnished him with certified copies of the depositions of the various witnesses
against her.

Viscount de Sa da Baudeira also assured me yesterday, that she should not be
allowed to use the Portuguese flag, but he could not tell me what course of pro-
ceeding against her was in progress. ;

It remains now to be seen whether Pauoly will address himself to the Spanish
Minister for protection.

I have, &ec. ~ ‘
(Signed) HOWARD DE WALDEN.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B. ‘ ' -
&e. &e. &e.

No. 50.
Lord Howard de Walden to Viscount Palmerston.—( Received May 'Tth).

My Lorp, Lisbon, May 1st, 1837.
I AM informed to-day that the “ Latona” has been purchased by a British

merchant at Lisbon, by name of Shore. ' T
. Your Lordship will perceive by the proceedings of this case, how hopeless it
I'Is‘ ‘cod expect the punishment of any parties in Portugal connected with the Slave

rade. ' B
It is probable that Pauoly and Falconie have disposed of the “ Latona,” her
character having become too notorious for their purpose, and that they will pur-
chase some other vessel in this port, which may answer their purpose equally well,
without attracting the vigilant attention of His Majesty’s cruizers in the same way
they apprehend the * Latona™ would have done. - -~ :

I shall have the proceedings of Pauoly and Falconie closely watched. The two
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houses here of Perfumo and Scheffer, the reputed principal and woents i
< - e ’ d m the
Slave Trade, have failed within the last week. °

s ) I have, &e.
igned’ HOWARD DE WALDEN.,
To Viscount Palmerston, G.C.I3. ' EN
No. 1.
Viscount Palmerston to Lord Howard de ¥ alden.
My Lorbp, Foreign Office, May 10th, 1837.

I HEREWITH transmit to you, for your information, the copy of a Despatch
from His Majesty’s Commisioners at Sierra Leone, containing a Report upon the
Slave Trade, during the year 1836, together with the extract of a letter from a
respectable merchant in the Rio Minez upon the same subject. :

You will communicate the information contained in these papers to the Por-
tuguese Minister, pointing out to his particular notice the open manner, in which
the Portuguese Authorities at Porto Praya, and at other Settlements belonging to
Portugal, supply Spanish vessels engaged in the Slave Trade, with the means of
sheltering their unlawful transactions under the Flag of Portugal ; and you will
state, that if this fraudulent use of the Portuguese colours shall continue to be per-
mitted, the Portuguese Government must not be surprised, if a flag, thus deliberately
prostituted to such base purposes, should no longer be respected by British
cruizers.

I am, &e.
(Signed) PALMERSTON.

First Enclosure in No. 51.

Sierra Leone Commissioners, January 5, 1837,
(See Class A.,1836. Supplement A., No. 3,)

Second Enclosure in No. 51.
Exztract of a Letier dated Rip Minez, 24th February, 1837.

Taere have arrived in the river Rio Ponzas during the last three weeks, four vessels under
Portuguese colours, which, it appears, are now readily obtained at the Cape de Verde Islands, on
payment of a douceur of 15f. per cent. on the value of the vessel and cargo. From what you know
of Portuguese Governors, you may judge what is the probability of any of them having the virtue to
resist the temptation of 1500 or 2600 dollars, frecly given by any Spanish slaver for a set of Portu-
guese papers. I am told, and I believe it to be a fact, that no less than fifteen from Cuba have,
within the last two months, received Portuguese papers from Porto Praya, on payment of sums varying
from 1500 to 2000 dollars, according to the size of ihe vessel and the value of the cargo.

No. 52.

Lord Howard de Walden to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received May 14th).
(Extract.) ' Lisbon, 5th May, 1837.

I REPORTED to your Lordship in my Despatch, of the lst instant, that an
English merchant, by name Shore, had purchased the * Latona.” On reference
to that gentleman, I find this not to be the case; although it was so stated by
those on board, and, moreover, that they were going to hoist British colours.

I have now to add, that the “ Latona” continues to carry Portuguese colours;
and I am assured that she has been transferred (nominally only I suspect) to the
notorious Gil dos Santos, the owner of the * Rapina,” and brother to the Adjudonte
de Praco, at Mozambique, to which place the « Latona” is bound.
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No. 53.
Lord Howard de Walden to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received May 14¢h.)
(Extract.), 'Lisbon, 5th May, 1837.

Tugr Viscount de Sa da Bandeira has at last transmitted to me his counter
project of a Treaty for the Abolition of the Slave Trade.
This document is much at variance with the project transmitted to me under
your Lordship’s instructions, .as to principle, spirit, and efficiency.

No. 54. :

Lord Howard de Walden to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received May 27.)
My Lozrbp, Lisbon, 13th May, 1837.

I HAVING signified to the Viscount de Sa Bandeira, that in transmitting to
me the counter-project for a Treaty of Abolition of the Slave Trade, it would
have been a more regular proceeding, if it had been accompanied by an Official
Note of transmission, his Excellency accordingly addressed sich a Note to me,
which I received only late last night, and of which I now have the honour to
transmit a Copy and translation.

I have, &c. o 3
(Signed) HOWARD DE WALDEN.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B.
&e. §e. &e.

Eneclosure in No. 54.

M. Sa da Bandéira to Lord Howard de Walden.
(Iranslation) Foreign Office, 12th May, 183%7.

Tue Undersigned, &c. has the honour to transmit to Lord Howard de Walden, &c., the Counter
Project of a Treaty for the Abolition of the Slave Trade, such as it ought to be concluded, in order to
make it harmonize with the Decree of the 10th December, 1836, which completely abolishes that
odious traffic throughout the Portuguese dominions. Certain stipulationis are also adopied therein,
similar to those of the Treaty for the Abolition of the Slave “Trade, contluded between France and
Sweden on the 21st of March 1836, a printed Copy of which is annexed, and which is based through-
out upon the Conventions concluded for the same object between Great Britain and France, on the
30th November 1631, and the 22d March 1833, to which both the said Powers have requested and
obtained the consent of other Powers. These stipulations of the Counter Project, at the same time
that they are founded upon a perfect and just equality, and are in complete conformity with what
Great Britain has latterly agreed to with other Powers wpon this point, are mutually honourable to
both Crowns, and are consequently deserving of the apprabation of His. Britannic Majesty’s Govern-
ment. ’

The Undersigned, &e. .
Lord Howard de Walden, (Signed) SA. DA BANDEIRA.

&e. &e.
No. 55.
Viscount Palmerston to Lord Howard de Walden.
My Lorbp, Foreign Office, 9th June, 1837,

I BEREWITH transmit to your Lordship, for communication to the Por-
tuguese Government, the accompanying Extracts from a Letter addressed to Lord
Glenelg by His Majesty’s Superintendent of Liberated Africans at the Havana,
reporting the continued use of the Portuguese flag and Papers by Spanish vessels
engaged in the Slave Trade. ' :

- Tam, &ec. ‘
(Signed) PALMERSTON.
The Lord Howard de Walden,
&e. &e.

Enclosure in No. 55.
Extract of a Letter, dated Havana, 14th February, 1387.

TaE Spanish slavers now, almost universally, and without the slightest impediment, adopt the Por-
tugnese flag, and by this means get rid altogether of the Equipment Clause, the most valuable part of
the Treaty.

CrLiass B



42 PORTUGAL.

This facility with which the Portuguese flag is adopted, and the exemption from all inquiry here
into its adoption, even in cases of vessels known in the Havana to have sailed under the Spanish flag
—except in a single case, that of the “ Soccors,”—has now made the practice general, There ig
neither difficulty nor danger in_ it, the Commanders are Spaniards ;—an oath to a Custom-House—
a bribe to a Consul-—fictitious Papers and false colours—and a Spanish slaver is at once converted
into a Portuguese merchant vessel,

No. 56. -
Viscount Palmerston to Lord Howard de I alden.

My Lorbp, Foreign Office, Tth October, 1887,

WirH reference to my Despatch to your Lordship; < Slave Trade,” of the
10th of May last, upon the subject of the facilities afforded to persons engaged in
the Slave Trade, by the Authorities of the Portuguese Settlements on or near the
Coast of Adrica, I herewith transmit to your Lordship the Copies of 2 Despatehes,
and of their Enclosures, which I have received from Her Majesty’s Commissioners
at Sierra Leone, containing an account of the condemnation of 2 vessels, the
“ Flor de Tejo” and the Providencia,” captured with slaves on board, under
Portuguese colours. A

From the evidence produced at the trial of these vessels hefore the Mixed Court
of Commission, it appears, that the « Flor de Tejo” sailed from the Havana bearing
the character of a Spanish schooner, and under the name of « Flor de Mar,” and
that while at the Cape de Verde Islands she assumed the flag of Portugal ; and
that the “ Providencia,” in like manner, arrived at Princes Island, under the Bra-
zilian flag, and there assumed the flag of Portugal.

Both cases, indeed, afford .the plainest proofs of the readiness, with which
the Portuguese Authorities at the above-mentioned places extend, by mock transfers,
the protection of the flag of Portugal to vessels engaged in the Slave Trade; and
Ihave, therefore, to instruct you to renew the representations, which, by my
Despatch above mentioned, you were desired to make to the Portuguese Govern=
ment upon this subject. v

On referring to the First Enclosure in my Despatch of the 10th of May above
mentioned, your Lordship will find that F. Cardozo de Mello, and Ribeiro, the
Master of the « Flor de Tejo,” have already been reported to Her Majesty’s
Government, as parties concerned in transactions of this nature, and you will, there-
fore, further demand from the Portuguese Government, that the necessary steps be
taken for the due execution of the Decree of the 10th December, by the trial and
punishment of the above-named Portuguese subjects, as implicated in offences
against that Decree. ‘

. I am, &ec. ,
(Signed) PALMERSTON.
The Lord Howard de Walden,

&e. &e.

Enclosures in No. 56.
Sierra Leone Commissioners, Sth July, 1837,

2 »” 14t » »
(See Class A.)
No. 57. ' _
Viscount Palmerston to Lord Howard de Walden.
My Lorbo, " Foreign Office, 16tk October, 1837.

I HEREWITH transmit for your information the accompanying Copies of
3 Despatches and of their Enclosures, which I have received from Her Majesty’s
Commissioners at Rio de Janeiro, containing Returns of vessels that arrived from,
and sailed for, the Coast of Africa during the months of May, June, and July ; and
X have to instruct your Lordship to draw the attention of the Portuguese Govern=
ment to the statements therein contained, as affording an additional proof of the
increasing extent to which the flag of Portugal is used, to cover transactions in
Slave Trade.

‘ I have, &ec.

The Lord Howardaéfe Walden, (Signed)  ~ PALMERSTON.
&e. c. ‘ '
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Enclosures in No. 57.

His Majesty’s Commissoners at Rio de Janeiro, June 15th, 1837,

» » July 1st, »
s August 14th, ,,

»
{See Class A.)

No. 58.
Viscount Palmerston to Lord Howard de W alden.

(Extract.) Foreign Office, 27th October, 1837.
Your Lordship’s Despatches of the Slave Trade series bave been received
at this Office up to that of the 24th May last. ‘

With reference to your Despatch of the 5th of May last, inclosing the counter-

roject of Treaty which the Portuguese Government then proposed for adoption,
instead of the project submitted to them on the part of Her Majesty’s Government,
I have to inform you, that Her Majesty’s Government deeply regret, that, after
nearly two years’ negotiation, the Government of Portugal should have refused
its consent to the Draft, which was proposed by Great Britain, and which was
nearly word for word the same with the Treaty which Spain, so much to her honour,
has agreed to.

Her Majesty’s Government cannot refrain from expressing its great disappoint-
ment at this refusal, which it had no right to expect; and Her Majesty’s Govern-
ment has learnt with some surprise, that, in reply to a proposal to conclude a Treaty,
founded upon one already concluded between England and Spain, the Portuguese
Government has asked it to take for its model a Treaty concluded between France
and Sweden, to which England is not directly a party.

Your Lordship will now acquaint the Portuguese Minister, that the Draft pro-
posed to you by M. Sa da Bandeira is inadmissible, and you will again make a
vigorous effort to persuade the Portuguese Government to accept the Draft first
sent out to you, with the addition of the 2 Articles, the insertion of which you were
instructed to admit by my Despatch, of 25th April, 1886. -

No. 59.
Lord Howard de W alden to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received November 24.)

My Lorp, Lisbon, 14th November, 1837,

I aave spoken to Viscount de Sa da Bandeira on the subject of the renewal
of the suspended negotiations on the Slave Trade ; and his Excellency has assured
me of his disposition to enter into a consideration of the question in its general
bearings without delay.

I have, &ec. S ;
(Signed) HOWARD DE WALDEN.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B.
&ec. &e. &ec.

No. 60.
Lord Howard de WWalden to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received November 29.)

My Lorp, Lisbon, 21st November, 1837.

I have been informed by the Under Secretary of State, that the Portuguese
brig «“ Eugenia,” suspected of being a slaver, has been captured by the Brazilian
sloop-of-war “ Regeneragao,” and sent by her to Rio de Janeiro.

I have &ec. ‘
(Signed) HOWARD DE WALDEN.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palwmerston, G.C.B.

&e. &e. &e.

No. 61.
Lord Howard de Walden to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received November 29.)
My Lorp, Lisbon, 21st November, 1837.

_ I mave again urged Viscount de Sa to lose no time in resuming negoti-
‘ations for a Treaty with Great Britain, under which the Slave Trade, carried on
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under the Portuguese flag contrary to law, may be effectually suppressed. His
Excellency has promised to give his early atfention to the subject, and has
requested me to furnish him with a Copy of the Treaty concluded on the 28th
June, 1835, between Great Britain and Spain for this object, which I have done.
I have, &c.
(Signed) HOWARD DE WALDEN.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B.

&c. §e. &e.
‘No. 62.
Viscount Palmerston to Lord Howard de W alden.

My Lorbp, Foreign Qffice, 4th December, 1887,

I uerEwITH transmit to your Lordship, for communication to the Portu-
guese Government, the accompanying Copy of a Letter, addressed by Rear-
Admiral Hamond to Her Majesty’s Minister at Rio de Janeiro, containing a repre-
sentation, that the Portaguese Authorities at that port allow slave-vessels to
pavigate under the Portuguese flag, in open defiance oflthe lagcvs of Portugal.

am, &e.
The Lord Howard de Walden, (Signed) PALMERSTON.

&e. &e.

Enclosure in No. 62.
Sir E. Hamond to Mr. Hamilton.

Sir, Dublin, Rio de Janeiro, September 9th, 1837,

T nave the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of this date, with an extract from
one addressed to you by the Imperial Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, requesting you will exert
your influence in order that Her Majesty’s ship-of-war under my command may be instructed to
cruize on the coasts of this province, for the suppression of the Slave Trade, and in reply, I request
you will be pleased to make known to the Imperial Government, that the limited number of Her
Majesty’s ships-of-war under my command, stationed on the east coast of South Africa, cruise
for that purpose, as much as possible, consistently with the other duties which they have to perform;
and that I consider it would not be proper to withdraw from the distant provinces, and from the river
Plate, the vessels now necessarily stationed there for the protection of British commerce, with the sole
view of guarding the province of Rio de Janeiro from the scandalous illicit traffic in Slaves, which
although unhappily so prevalent, it is so easy for the Imperial Government itself to check in the very
outset, by simply giving orders that no vessel shall be cleared outwards or inwards at the Custom Houses
of any of ihe ports of Brazil without producing the national register and other documents required by
the law of the country, whose flag the vessel may show to prove that she is lawfully navigated as a
merchant vessel of ithat couniry, instead of allowing merchant vessels (as is now notoriously the case)
to shift their flag, and change their names, at will, and proceed 10 sea with the most irregular and in-
complete papers; and to return, entering inwards from the coast of Africa, 50 pipes of salt water and
one parrot, to the reproach of all good governments, and the effectual encouragement of the illicit
traffic in quesiion.

I have, &ec. -
(Signed) G. E. HAMMOND.
Vice-Admiral.

P.S.—1In the * Journal de Commercio” of this day, there is recorded the “ Entrada >’ of the Por-
tuguese schooner, “ Andorinka,” from Benguela, cargo 10 gamelas of wax and 21 tusks of ivory. It
is not possible that such a cargo can pay the freight of the vessel, and that alone makes her more sus-
picious, but it is more than probable, that vessel has not one of the papers required by the law of
Portugal, to enable her to navigate under that flag.

Similar entries are recorded almost daily, and are passed by the authorities of the country ; thus
attempting to cast the blame upon the few English ships-of-war on this station.

Wili the Brazilian Government authorise me to examine and search the vessels so coming into
port, after evading the crnizers on the coast, and prove (if the Government is blind to the fact) the
wilful remissness of the Portuguese authorities here, in suffering such vessels to navigate, in open
defiance of the laws of Portugal.

(Signed) G. E. HAMMOND.

No. 63.
Lord Howard de Walden to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received December 18.)
My Lorp, Lisbon, 11th December, 1837.

I uavE the honour herewith to enclose a Copy of a Note which I have
addressed to the Viscount de Sa da Bandeira, in execution of your Lordship’s
Instructions, conveyed to me in your Despatches of the 24th July and 16th October,
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of this year, marked « Slave Trade,” relative to the encouragement given to that
disgraceful traffic by different Portuguese Authorities, and the extent to which the
national flag of this country has been prostituted for the ends of that inhuman
commerce.
I have, &ec.
~ (Signed) HOWARD DE WALDEN.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B. '

c. &e. &e.

Enclosure in No. 63.
Lord Howard de Walden to Viscount de Sa da Bandeira.
Lisbon, 6th December, 1837.

Par Undersigned has been instructed by Her Majesty’s Government to communicate to that
of Her Majesty’s Foreign Minister the Documents herewith enclosed, demonstrating the encourage-
ment continued to be given by Portuguese Authorities and subjects in the Dominions of Portugal
to the disgraceful and prohibited traffic in slaves.

By the Returns of the vessels which have sailed from the Coast of Africa, his Excellency will
receive a convincing proof of the extent to which the Flag of Portugal is used to cover trausactions
‘in the Slave Trade.

From the Reports of Her Majesty’'s Commissioners at Sierra Leone, coutaining an account of the
condemnation of two vessels, the ¥ Flor de Tejo’” and the * Providencia,” and from the evidence
produced at the trial of these vessels before the Mixed Court of Commission, his Excellency will
learn that the * Flor de Tejo* sailed from the Havana bearing the character of a Spanish schooner,
and under the name of * Flor del Mar,” and that, while at the Cape de Verde Islands, she assumed
the flag of Portugal; and that the € Providencia” in like manner arrived at Princes Island under
the Brazilian flag, and there assumed the flag of Portugal. Both cases afford the plainest proofs of
the readiness with which the Portuguese Authorities at the above-mentioned places extend, by mock
transfers, the protection of the flag of Portugal to vessels engaged in the Slave Trade,

The Undersigned is therefore instructed to address the Portuguese Government, calling upon them
in virtue of the assurances and declarations so repeatedly made to the British Government, to cause
the necessary measures to be taken for the due execution of the Decree of the 10th December; 1836,
by the trial and punishment of the above-menticned subjects as implicated in offences against that
Decree.

" The Undersigned in now addressing his Excellency the Viscount de Sa da Bandeira, the Minister
to whom everlasting honour is due for having relieved the institutions of his country from the debas-
ing stigma of legalized Slave Trade, cannot too strongly urge his Excellency to complete the noble
work he has so honourably commenced, by rendering effective the law prohibiting this inhuman traffic,
and thus raising the national character of Portugal to its proper station among civilized nations.

: The Undersigned, &e.

His Ezcellency Viscount de Sa de Bandeira. (Signed) HOWARD DE WALDEN.
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No. 64.
Viscount Palmerston to My, Egan.

SIr, Foreign Office, 10tk May, 1837,

WitH reference to my other Despatch to you of this day's date, containing
Instructions for your guidance in the performance of the duties of His Majesty’s
Consul at the Cape de Verde Islands, I herewith transmit to you printed Copies of
the Treaties concluded between this country and foreign powers for the suppression
of the Slave Trade, together with printed Copies ofg the Correspondence of His
Majesty’s Government with the British Commissioners appointed under certain of
those Treaties, and with Foreign Governments on the same subject.

One of the principal reasons, which have induced His Majesty’s Government to
nominate a British Agent to reside at the Cape de Verde Islands, is the fact that
slave-vessels are much in the habit of touching at those Islands on their way to the
Coast of Africa. So far back, indeed, as the year 1828, it was considered that
much useful information with respect to the real character and the intended move-
ments of such vessels might. be obtained from these Islands, and be communiecated to
His Majesty’s cruizers and the other Officers of the British Government specially
employed in the execution of the Treaties above referred to ; and I now send to you
a2 Copy of the, Instruction, addressed with this view by the Earl of Aberdeen to
Mz. Consul Goodwin.

The Reports recently received from Sierra Leone and the Havana, give reason to
believe that the Cape de Verde Islands are now more than ever frequented by slave-
vessels, and particularly by those under the Spanish flag, to whom an opportunity
is there afforded of assuming the colours and character of a Portuguese vessel, under
which they escape the provisions of the Treaty with Spain, which are stricter and
more eflicacious, than those of the Conventions at present in force between Great
Britain and Portugal.

I have, therefore, to desire, that you will use your best endeavours to obtain every
information with respect to the Slave Trade, and that you will communicate to His
Majesty’s Cruizers, and to the British Commissioners, at Sierra Leone, those facts
which may appear to you worthy their attention, and likely to conduce to the capture
and condemnation of slave-vessels; taking care to transmit to this Office Copies of
your Despatches to the functionaries above mentioned, together with any particulars,
as to the part borne in these transactions by the Local Government and the Merchants
resident in the Islands. ' ,

Your Despatches upon this subject should be marked « Slave Trade,” and num-
bered separately from the series of your Despatches on Consular Service.

In conclusion I must point out to you that great caution and prudence, as well as
vigilance, are essentially necessary to the effectual performance of the duties sketched
out for you in this Despatch.

I have, &ec.
To Joseph Egon, Esq. (Signed) PALMERSTON.
&c. &e.
No. 65.
Mr. Consul Egan to John Bidwell, Esq—(Received December 18.)
SIr, Madeira, 17th November, 1837,

CapTaIN Rosenberg, touching at Madeira, affords me the opportunity of
informing you that we have on board a Portuguese, called Don Rafael José Alvares,
a prisoner in charge of a Mate (Mr. Shannon) of His Majesty’s brig  Racer,”
Captain Hope, who brought him from the West Indies to Plymouth, where he was
put on board the “ Forester,” to be taken to Sierra Leone. This man commanded
the slave-ship “ Quorda Marina,” but in consequence of her fast sailing, was after-

wards called * Traga Millas,” and was taken off the Island of Cuba, with 283
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slaves on board. The erew and slaves were landed at Port Antonio, in the Island
of Jamaica; but as there is no Portuguese Commissioner attached to the Mixed
Commission at the Havana, it became necessary to send the Captain of the slaver to
Sierra Leone before the vessel can be condemned. I felt it my duty to have some
conversation with this man and as he seems to take pride in his nefarious trade, he
was communicative. He tells me the voyage on which he was taken was the first
he made, but the sixth made by the vessel ; she got all her slaves at the Gallinas ;
was built at Baltimore, purchased for the Slave Trade by merchants at:the Havana,
and obtained her Portuguese Papers and colours at the Cape Verdes ; had when taken
a crew of 12, of whom 8 were Spaniards and 4 Portuguese ; one-fourth of the crew,
including the Captain, must be Portuguese to give a right to the colours of that
nation. 'This man is a native of Lishon, and was banished by Don Miguel’s Go-
vernment to the Cape Verdes, where he remained 5 or 6 years. From thence he
went to the Coast of Africa and became acquainted with and employed by Pedro
Blanco, a Spaniard, at the Gallinas, who is the chief encourager of the Slave
Trade in that quarter.
I have, &ec. ‘ ‘

To Jokn Bidwell, Fsq. (Signed) JOSEPH EGAN.
&e. &e. -
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No. 66.
Viscount Palmerston to Sir E. C. Disbrowe.

Sir, Foreign Office, June 0.

Wira reference to my former Despatches upon the subject of General
Verveer’s mission to Ashantee, I herewith transmit to you, for communication to
the Government of His Netherlands Majesty, the extract of a Letter which has
been received at the Colonial Office from the London Committee of Gold Coast
Merchants, announcing (General Verveer’s arrival at Coomassie, and containing
some remarks on the tendency of that Officer’s mission.

Iam, &ec.
Sir E. C. Disbrowe, (Signed) PALMERSTON.

&ec. &ec.

Enclosure in No. 66.

Extract of @ Letter from the London Commiltee of Geld Coast Merchants lo Sir George Grey,
dated 6th June, 1637,

The Dutch General Verveer had undertaken his Mission to the King of Ashantee, and was received
with all the honours which that Chief could confer on his entrance inte Coomassie.

That mission, being to stimulate the King to send recruits, as they are termed, to enlist into the
service of the King of the Netherlands, has already had the effect of suspending the entire commerce
of the country ; and it cannot but be feared that, if the Ashantees incline to the negotiation, they will
make aggressions on their neighbours to obtain prisoners, and for these people procure the head-
money and pay that is allowed at Elmina. Should such a course be pursued, the country will again
become involved in a general war; and, however harmless the professed intention of the Dutch
Government may be, it cannot be denied that the measures pursued are a specious covering toa
traffic in slaves. It is so considered in that country, not only by the natives themselves, but by the
European traders who visit the Gold Coast; and, should the Dutch Government continue this system,
the most injurious effects to the improvement of the natives and to legitimate commerce must follow.

No. 67.
Sir E. C. Disbrowe to ¥iscount Palmerston.—(Received July 18.)

My Lorb, The Hague, Tth July, 1837.

I had yesterday the honour to receive your Lordship’s Despatch, marked
« Slave Trade,” of the 30th nltimo.
I beg to inclose the Copy of a Nete which I have consequently addressed to
the Minister for Foreign Affairs.
I have, &ec.

(Signed) E. C. DISBROWE.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B.
- & &e. &c.

Enclosure in No. 67.

Sir E. C. Disbrowe to Baron Verstolk.
M. Lz Baron, Hague, 6th July, 18317.

Ix referring to the communications which, by the order of my Government, I have already had
the honour of holding with your Excellency, on the subject of the Mission of General Verveer to the
Coast of Africa, I now take the liberty of drawing your further attention to this important point; for,
although the explanations which I have already had the honour to receive and transmit to my Govern-
ment, and more particularly those in your Excellency’s Note, of the 21st December, were certainly
satisfactory as to the intentions of the Netherland Government not to take any steps which it deemed
likely to encourage a renewal of the Slave Trade; still it appears that the tendency of the arrange-
ments entered into by that Officer have, in fact, already heen made by the natives a specious covering
to a traffic in slaves; and, should the system be persevered in, it must cause a renewal of this detestable
traffic all along the Coast ; at the same time that, by puiting an end to legitimate commerce, it will
counteract those means by which alone any hope can be held out of a permanent improvement in the
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social condition of this unfortunate race: an improvement which I am confident your Excellency will
agree with me in deeming it a Christian duty to promote.

In transmitting, therefore, to your Excellency the enclosed Document, I do so, not with the inten-
tion of offering the remotest reproach to General Verveer, still less to the Government which employed
him; but I trangmit the Extract exactly as it was received by the Colonial Office in London, in order
to point out the unfortunate impression which that Mission has made in Africa; and I feel perfectly
confident that His Netherlands Majesty will at once give the necessary orders to counteract its baneful

-effect.
I avail myself, &ec.

His Excellency Baron Verstolk, . (Signed) E. C. DISBROWE.
&e. &ec. &e. ,
No. 68.
(Extract.)

Sir E. C. Disbrowe to Fiscount Palmerston.—(Received July 20.)

The Hague, 17th July, 1837.

GENERAL VERVEER has brought back with him from Africa two Ashantee
Princes, of the age of 8 and 9 years, for the purpose of educating them in this
country.

Thegf were represented as extremely intelligent and willing to learn, but they
have not made much progress in the Dutch language during the voyage.

General Verveer is represented to have been extremely well received by the
King of the Ashantees.

No. 69.
Fiscount Palmerston to Sir K. €. Disbrowe.

SIR, Foreign Office, 11¢h August, 1887.

I uerewrtH transmit to you the Copy of a Communication, which I have
received from the Colonial Office, containing a Report made by the British
Authorities at Cape Coast Castle, with respect to the proceedings of General
Verveer in the neighbourhood of that seftlement, in fulfilling the mission with
which he was charged by the Dutch Government, for the purpose of raising -
recruits for the Dutch East India Possessions.

Her Majesty’s Government have learnt with much satisfaction from these
Papers, that the system formerly practised by the Datch Governor Laus, -of giving,
to the masters of slaves who enlisted, a monthly note to draw part of the pay, has
been put a stop to, and that the recruits who now quit the Coast leave no claims
whatever existing against them. But, with every desire to do justice to the
promptitude, with which the Dutch Government has attended to the representa-
tions made to it, through you, upon these points, Her Majesty’s Government feels
it right again to draw the serious attention of the Government of the Netherlands
to the statements, contained in the accompanying Papers, respecting the tendency
of the .measures, taken for procuring these recruits, to revive and foster among
the native chiefs the practice of slave-dealing.

It is true, that the facts now reported afford no evidence of an actual traffic
between the Dutch Agent and the chief, from whose dominions the recruits were
obtained, beyond the circumstance, that, in Ashantee, the formal process of emanci-
pation was not gone through, until affer the payment of the bounty money; but all
the men so engaged were slaves, and in all probability procured as such by the
Native Authorities, for the purpose of being disposed of as recruits ; and experience
has proved, that, so longasit is the interest of the head-men to continue this barter,
the Slave Trade will be promoted by it.

You will therefore lay thése considerations before the Dutch Government, and
express the hope of Her Majesty’s Government that, measurés so prejudicial to
the cause of humanity will not be persisted in.. :

. Tam, &c. ,
Sir E. C. Disbrowe, G.C.B. (Signed) PALMERSTON.

&e. &e.

Crass B.
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Enclosure in No. 69.
James Stephen, Iisq., to the, Hon. W. Fox Srangways.

Str, Downing-:etreet, 4th July, 1837,

Wirn reference to the Correspondence which has passed, relative to General Verveer’s Mission
to Coomassie, 1 have received Lord Glenelg’s directions to transmit to you, for Viscount Palmerston’s
information, a Copy of a Letter from the Committee of Gold Coast Merchants, covering an Extract of
a Report from the President and Council of Magistrates of Cape Coast Castle, respecting General
Verveer’s proceedings at Coomassie. Lord Palmerston will perceive that the Dutch Envoy has been
completely successful in the object of his Mission ; that the King of Ashantee has bound himself to
supply 1,000 recruits for the Dutch service; that 2 vessels have already transported 150 recruits to
Batavia, and that 200 more are awaiting their embarkation.

On the general aspect of these proceedings, Lord Glenelg would observe that, although they furnish
no evidence of a distinct traffic, yet, that they afford little doubt of the establishment of a practice
which must have the effect of nourishing the Slave Trade. It is clearly shown that the native Autho-
rities are induced to acquire slaves for the purpose of disposing of or selling them as recruits; and so
long as it shall be made, by presents or other inducements, the interest of the head-men to continue
this barter, the Slave Trade must be promoted by it.

Lord Glenelg recommends this view of the subject to the serious consideration ng Lord Palmerston.

I am, &c.
Hon. W. Fox Strangways, (Signed) JAMES STEPHEN.

&e. &ec. &e.

First Sub-Enclosure in No. 69.
The Commitiee of Gold Coast Merchants in London to Sir G. Grey, Bart., M. P.

SIR, London, 21st June, 1831,

Wz have the honour to transmit for the information of Lerd Glenelg, exiract of a Letter, ad-
dressed to us by the President and Council at Cape Coast Castle, dated 18th April last, on the subject
of the proceedings of the Dutch Authorities on the Gold Coast, for procuring recruits for the East
Indian Possessions, which we beg leave to submit without comment, and to apprise his Lordship that
General Verveer, is now in London, having arrived yesterday from Elmina, on the Gold Coast.

We are, &e.
(Signed) JOSEPH REID.
WILLIAM HUTTON.
8ir G. Grey, Bart., M.P. J. G. NYXCHOLAS.

v Second Sub-Enclosure in No. 69,
Ecxtract of a Letter from the President and Council, dated Cape Coast Castle, 18th April, 1837,

“ We have used every attention in keeping our eye on the proceedings of the Dutch Government
on this Coast, in raising recruits for the Dutch East India Possessions, and, according td your request,
have to lay before you the following information on that subject :—

« As you are already aware, General Verveer, about 3 months ago, proceeded to Coomassie, ac-
companied by several Officers, and having at his disposal presents of various sorts, amounting to a
large sum, for the avowed purpose of procuring recruits, and afterwards establishing a recruiting
depbét, and entering into a Treaty with the King of Ashantee, to bind himself to supply a certain num-
ber more within a limited period. Induced by the splendour of the presents, and flattered by the
appearance and attention of Officers of so high a rank in his capital, the King has consented to his
wishes. ‘

¢ He has entered into a Treaty of Alliance, binding himself also to supply 1,000 recruits from his
dominions, within thespace of one year from the date of the Treaty, independently of 200 raised during
General Verveer's stay there,and who accompanied him to Elmina, and for whom the bounty money
paid, was, according to circumstances, from 8I. to 10/. Two vessels have been at Elmina within
these last six weeks for the purpose of transporting these recruits to Batavia. The former of these
carried away 80 and the latler 70, and we are informed there are still upwards of 200 in Elmina
Castle. All those raised in Ashantee have been slaves, with whom a formal process of emancipation
was gone through in the King’s presence, after the payment of the bounty money. The system for-
merly practised by Governor Laus, of giving the friends or masters of these slaves a monthly note to
draw part of the pay, has been put a stop to, and these recruits now leave the country, having no
claims existing either against them, or for any service from them.

¢ Many of those enlisted at Elmina belong to towns situated on the sea coast, and several from
towns or districts’ claiming British protection. Amongst all these care has been taken to acquaint
the natives, that should any of them be compelled by their masters, or others having any claims upon

‘them, to enlist for the Batavian service, it was only necessary to convey information thereof to the
Authorities of Cape Coast Castle, and every protection would be promptly afforded to them. - The
number of those, however, who have left the tribes, over which we have control, is very small indeed.

‘¢ While upon this subject we may mention, that General Verveer has induced the King to give him
2 Princes, 1 & son and the other a nephew (sister’s son) of his own, to be carried to Holland and
there educated. ‘

% We suppose, however, that the design is to make the King more cautious in observing the terms
of the above-mentioned Freaty. Itis probable that the latter of these 2 Princes (the nephew) will
eventually succeed to the throne.”

The Dutch and the Danes are using every exertion to increase their influence on the coast.
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No. 70. .
Sir E. C. Disbrowe to Piscount Palmerston.—(Received Angust 24.)

My Lorp, - The Hague, 21st August, 1837;

I HAVE the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your Lordship’s De-
spatch, marked “ Slave Trade,” of the 11th instant, and I beg to enclose the Copy of
a Note, which, in obedience to your commands, I have addressed to his Excellency
Baron Verstolk. , :

: I bave, &e. ‘
(Signed) E. C. DISBROWE.
‘The Right Hon. Fiscounf{ Palnerston, G.C.B. ’

&e. &e. &e.

Enclosure in No. 70.
Sir E. C. Dishrowe to Baron Verstolk.

M. L Baron, The Hague, 2st August, 1887. -

1 aap the honour on a formikr-oceasion (July 6th) of transmitting, in a Note to your Excel-
lency, the Copy of 2 communication received by the British Government, relative to the impression
which, unfortunately, the mission of Geveral Verveer had made on the Coast of Africa.

I now beg leave to enclose a Copy of the further communications which have reached Her Majesty's
Government. ‘ o o

It is with great satisfaction that Her Majesty’s Government has learnt that the system formerly
practised by the Netherlands Governor Laus, of giving the masters of slaves who enlisted a promissory
note to draw part of the pay, has been put a stop to, and I am particularly charged to offer the thanks
of Her Majesty’s Government for the promptitude with which that of His Majesty the King of the
Netherlands has acted on this point. 8till it must be observed that, from the statements contained
in the accompanying Paper, the measures taken for procuring recruits have revived among the native
Chiefs the practice of slave-trading. Although we can perfectly undersiand that the Article in the
Treaty of Alliance which General Verveer has signed in the name of his Government with the King of
Ashantee, binding him to supply 1,000 recruits from his dominions, within the year, for the Nether-
land regiments in Batavia, is a bona-fide Treaty, and not intended as a renewal of slave-trading ; still
it must be remembered that it is 2 Treaty with a state which, till the present epoch, has known no
convention regarding men, except one having for its basis the actual purchase and sale of human:
beings. It will, therefore, be extremely difficult for the uninformed minds of the natives, to compre-
hend the difference between a Treaty for the purchdse of slaves, and a Treaty for paying a bounty to
slaves for enlisting as recruits, and more particularly if those very slaves are emancipated in the pre-
sence of the authorities, after that bounty is paid. .

However possible it may be for future generations, without the danger we are now deploring, to
enter into such conventions, whenever the .united efforts of all European Governments have com-
pletely suceeeded in putting an end to the recollection of Slave Trade on that Coast, it is much to be
feared that the execution of such a Treaty as that which has been signed by General Verveer will
postpone so desirable a consummation of our wishes. . '

If it be not practicable at once to put an end 1o this Treaty, it is to be hoped that for the future
the Government of His Majesty the King of the Netherlands will be enabled to discover some other
method of recruiting its black regiments, less open to. the reinarks which, according to' my Instruc-
tions, I have found it my duty to lay before your Excellency; and I have doneso with the freedom
which the conviction that the Government of His Netherland Majesty (fully alive, as it is, to the
iniquity of slave-dealing) will not scruple to make any sacrifice of self-interest to gbtain its complete
suppression. ’ ’

T avajl myself, &e.

Baron Verstolk, (Sigried) E. C. DISBROWE.
e &e. , : v
No. 71. , , .
Sir E. C. Disbrowe to Viscount Palmerston.—(Received October 5.)

My Lorp, The Hague, 3d October, 1837.

Baron VErsToLE has expressed to me the desire which he entertains, of
vindicating the Mission of General Verveer from the charge, of encouraging the
traffic in slaves, which the British Authorities on the Coast of Africa conceive, will
be the effect of the Treaty, signed by that Officer with the King of the Ashantees.
His Excellency has replied, in the accompanying Letter, to the Notes, which, in
obedience to your Lordship’s commands, I addressed to him on the 6th of July
and on the 21st of August; and, at the same time, encloses the Copy of a Report
from General Verveer, of the whole of his proceedings on that Coast, a Translation
of which I have the honour to annex. _ B

- .. I have, &c. Co e

(Signed) E. C. DISBROWE,
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B. :
&e. &e. &e.
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Enclosure in No. 71.
{Translation.) Baron Vertolk to Sir E. C, Disbrowe.
Monsieur LE CHEVALIER, The Hague, 6th Sept. 1837,

ThEe Colonial Department having taken into consideration the further observations which youn
had the goodness to address to me in your Notes of the 6th of July and 20th of August last, touching
the recruiting of negroes for the Netherland Army in the East Indies, in virtue of the Convention
lately concluded by Major General Verveer with the King of Ashantee, has transmitted a Report
made on this Question by the said Officer in such detail, that it may be considered as eutirely work-
ing out the subject.

T believe, sir, that I cannot act more frankly than by sending you the enclosed Copy of this Report ;
from which it results that the Government of the Netherlands, far from having, by this recruiting,
given new lifé to the Slave Trade on the Coast of Guinea, has, on the contrary, taken all possible pre.
cautions to prevent this culpable traffic more and more ; that the bounty on the recruits, far below the
ordinary price of a slave, has been fixed at the present low rate for the very purpose of preventing
slaves from being destined to military service; and that in order that the Convention may not give
rise to wars among the various nations, it has heen expressly stipulated with the King of Ashantee
that no individual shall be presentable to the Netherland Resident at Coomassie, or be accepted by
him, who shall have been made prisoner of war; who shall have been condemned to slavery as a
criminal ; who shall have become a bondsmen in consequence of debts or obligations contracted either
by himself, his relations, or others; or who shall have been taken by force from his country.

I venture to flatter myself, sir, that this communication will dissipate the fears which have given

rise to the observations above alluded to, and will suffice to prove that the enlistment of negroes for
the military service of the Netherland Colgnies, tends rather to liberate a considerable number of
unhappy men from the deplorable destiny which awaited them, and to convert them to Christiauity,
which several of the recruits have already embraced.

T avail myself, &c.
Sir E. C. Disbrowe, (Signed) VERSTOLK DE SOELEN.

&e. &e.

Sub Er.‘lclosure No. 71.

General Verveer to the Minister of the Colonial Department.
Sir, The Hague, 29th August, 1837,

I uave the honour tp acknowledge the receipt of your Excellency’s Despatch of the 18th
ultimo, No. 179, enclosing a Lelter, dated the 10th, from His Majesty’s Minister for Foreign Affairs,
accompanying the Copy of a Note from the British Minister at the Court of the Netherlands, dated
the 6th of the same month, together with Extract of a Letter from the London Committee of Mer-
chants trading to the Coast of Guinea, to Sir George Grey, concerning which Documents, having all
a reference to my Mission te, and Operations on the West Coast of Africa, and at Coomassie, and
particularly to the enrolling of men for the Netherlands Indian Army, at present proceeded at Elmina,
and in the country of the Ashantees, your Excellency desires to receive my advice and opinion.

From the abovementioned Note of Sir E. Disbrowe, it appears that that Minister had received
orders from his Government to make fresh representations to that of the Netherlands on the subject of
the said enrolments, and this in consequence of the amount already mentioned as received by the
London Committee from the Coast of Guinea, in which the establishment at Elmina is represented as
giving reason to fear, that in case the Ashantees should enter into the object of my Mission, that
nation might be disposed to commit aggressions on their neighbours for the purpose of making
prisoners, the consequence of which would be, again to involve the country in one general war; and
further, that the enrolments on the part of the Dutch bave already produced an entire suspension of
trade on the coast.

My first remark on perusing these complaints laid before the said Committee was, that they must
have been transmitted from the coast either before my departure thence, or else with the very vessel in
which I performed the passage to London, viz., the English brig the “ Governor Maclean;” it there-
fore follows that at the time these representations were committed to paper, no person could have a
better opportunity than myself, who was at Coomassie and transacted business with the African
Princein person, of receiving the impression that enrolments on the part of the Dutch had, or even
might have the dreadful consequences pretended by the writer of the Letter in question. Such an
objection, therefore, must have lain beyond the reach of my cognizance, or else I must have been
willing gratuitously, and in contempt of every feeling for the honour of my Sovereign and my
country, to lend myself to the revival of the traffic, which, as a Christian, as a Hollander, and, let me
add, as a Soldier, I must abominate, and thus blindly, if not designedly, have given occasion to a
barbarous warfare throughout a considerable portion of the world! But no! the European inha-
bitants of the west coast know better. In the most unreserved manuer I explained to them the whole
plan of the Netherlands enrolment, and not only did they never express their present pretended fear of
war and kidnapping; they even, on the contrary, repeatedly applauded the enrolments at Elmina, as

- having, in many respects, a direct philanthropical and beneficent tendency towards improving the
deeply miserable condition of at least some of those wretches, who, along the west coast of Africa, are
submitted to the yoke of slavery.

The Elmina was visited particularly by Mr. William Topp, Vice President of the British Possessions
in Guinea, who, with an opportunity of minutely examining them, might, and certainly did, witness the
careful treatment, even in the most trifling details given to the African recruits. That gentleman was
likewise. more than once witness how completely the young soldiers are themselves sensible of the
amelioration of their fate, and how impassioned was the expression of their satisfaction, particularly at
thelr unequivocal change from the most wretched state of cruel slavery, to that of free men.

T cannot for a moment suppose that facts so well known should require to be proved, or that it
should be necessary to repel with the indignation it deserves, the doubt mysteriously yet obviously
expressed, respecting the real destiny of the persons enrolled, by the writer of the letter to Sir George
Grey, but should such proof be necessary, it were easy to be found., A number of Fantees, British
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subjects, or Jiving under British protection, were enlisted at Elmina for the Netherlands Indian army,
and those of them who had been slaves, were, before their engagement, and by a public notarial act,
conducted before the competent Authorities at Cape Coast, where, according to the form and custom
of Great ‘Britain, they were entered and manumitted, and that such took place with an entire fore-
knowledge that the object of the enfranchisement of the slave was to enable him to-serve under the
Netherlands standard, I call with confidence upon those authorities themselves to witness.

These individuals, as I have already stated, were all seen and spoken with at the Castle of Elmina
by Mr. Topp. On my own part, as will appear from my latest instructions to the Commander
Tonneboeyer, dated at Elmina the 21st April last, I have all along taken care that whenever British
subjects were concerned, it should be scrupulously required at the establishment that. the Instruments
of Manumission and Emancipation should be passed before their own Authorities.

But it may be urged, All this, though it afford the satisfactory explanation required by the British
Minister’s Note respecting the moral effect of the Netherland enrolments on the African West Coast,
yet it does not entirely remove the fear of war and of kidnapping expressed in the abovementioned
Letter to Sir George Grey. No !—1I repeat it, no. The Europeans settled in Guinea, the Autho-
rities representing the British Government there ; in a word, the whole population of the coast, as well
as that extending into the northern interior, know better. '

I am, probably, trespassing on your Excellency’s patience, but I owe it to my government, to
myself, to have this question probed to the bottom. .

The Netherlands enrolment is calculated to revive the spirit of the Slave Trade; to excite the
cupidity of the King of Ashantee ; and, consequently, to give rise to war, and {o encourage the capture
and enslaving of human beings! And this is written from the coast of Guinea, and officially, as it
appears, submitted to the attention of their government by persons perfectly aware that in the king-
dom of Ashaqtee, as at Elmina and Cape Coast, the slave may purchase and obtain his entire freedomn
and emancipation for 2 or 2} ounces of gold (at most 100 florins, orlabout £8) ; whereas the same
individual, conducted by his master to the lower Coast, by whom it may be done with impunity, may
be sold for double, treble the price, to the slave dealers settled there under the very smoke-of the
European forts ; and who live in luxury, and amass treasures by the blood of their. countrymen and
fellow-creatures. It is to these wretches, the tools not ouly of the Brazilians and Cuba Spaniards, but
also of infamous European and North American individuals, who provide themselves with other -or
duplicate Charters at Bahia, or other ports of Brazil.v It is to these that the slave whose freedom has
been purchased for a compensation even below his local value at Elmina and Cape Coast may be sold,
I repeat it, for double and treble the sum. Let it not be urged, that the easier and more legitimate
emancipation of the slave as a recruit for the Netherlands Indian army, for there is no authority; no
power existing on the Coast, to prevent the conveyance of slaves to places south of Acrda, even with
respect to the inhabitants of the Coast. = This conveyance is carried on uninterruptedly from Dahomey,
from the low-lying districts adjoining, and even from the Niger, while embarkation is but tco much
promoted, undoubtedly promoted, by the facility afforded to the slave dealers at Elmina, atthe Danish
settlement Acria, and at the British Commenda, and elsewhere, for providing themselves with canoes
and rowers for that purpose.

What now becomes of the pretended fear, lest the Netherlands enrolment should encourage the
chief of the Ashantees to war with his neighbours by way of cloak, for carrying off men by force, in
order to furnish slaves? It is not to be disputed that if the desire of gain on the part of the prince,
or his subjects, had such an unhappy tendency, it would be natural for them to endeavour to obtain the:
utmost compensation for their trouble, danger, and sacrifices ; in other words, is it to be supposed, or
are we to be made believe, that the Autocrat will, for the sum of 100 florins, do that for which he
could gain double and treble the sum, and with no European power in Africa to prevent him ? v

Nor will I stop here: in the full consciousness of the truth which I owe to my Government, I here-
declare, that I found the reigning Prince of Ashantee, the persons more immediately about him, and
the Ashantees in general, if not positively averse, at least altogether indifferént to the Slave Trade.
I do not mean by this that I ascribe to the Ashantees a higher degree of moral feeling than to their
neighbours. I should rather believe that the distinction in their favour arises chiefly from the abun-
dance of gold possessed, either actually or in their mines, by this nation, and which is always more
than sufficient to exchange against European or other * foreign commodities ;” whereas, in the coun-
tries more to the south and north-east, where the Cowries and Romale-cloth are almost the only
:érticles available for such traffic, the minus must be made good by the sale of slaves on the lower

oast. .

Moreover,—and I am probably the first to make the remark,~even beforethe abolition of th
Slave Trade, the Ashantees, of all the Western Tribes of Africa, hag the smallest share in that traffic.
The reason, perhaps, is, that unlike the slaves in the European Kast and West Indian possessions,
the slaves here, in as far as they are natives of Ashantee, according to the institutions of the country
(which greatly resemb'e the old feudal system of Europe), are by no means considered as movable
property. In fact, the slaves throughout the whole Ashantee dominions rather rank among the serfs
common to our part of the world in the Middle Ages, and still found in some of the Eastern countries
of Europe. 'They are attached to the soil, and consequently cannot be alienated, unless it be with
the consent of the males of the collateral branches of their families : for in this kingdom, as in almost
all Western Africa, the latter are exclusively the lawful heirs. : - )

I have one more remark, and a most important one, to make ;—it is, that I feel convinced in my
own mind, that the present Ruler of Ashantee, and all his family, together with many, very many,
among his subjects, are, if not absolutely disgusted with the cruel practice of human sacrifices on
solemn festivals, and at the graves of their relations,—at least disposed to co-operate in the abolition
of those butcheries. . And I must be greatly mistaken in the personal character of the Prince, if the
ptherwise explicable facility with which he entered into the spirit of the Netherlands Indian enrolment
is not chiefly to' be attributed to a hidden desire on his part to see those inhuman practices gradually
fzbolished, and to attain this laudable object the more  easily by connecting it with the individual
interests cf his subjects. : : : ‘

The efforts made to put an end to the African Slave Trade are undoubtedly among the chief duties
of Christians, and worthy of the age in which we live; but do those noble efforts cast entirely into
the shade all the moral merit felt in the consciousness of having delivered at least several hundreds
of unhappy beings from the horrors of the slaughtering knife ?. of having exicted in the African slave
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the idea that a better fate may yet be his 7 of having joined hands with the chief of a barbarous tribe
in the attainment of an object honourable, humane, and lofty, beyond anything that migh{ have been
expected'of him? Should this, my conviction, be called in question, I appeal at once from all con.
tradiction, to the full and eager consent of the King of the Ashantees to confide one of his sons, and
one of his near relations, to the care of the Netherlands Government, with the absolute foreknowledge
that his children should return to him—return with the privilege of an European civilization, and con-
secrated in the religion of Christians, ‘ , ,

_If I have anything to regret in the performance of my mission, it is, that none of thoge who now
censure the Netherlands African levy, witnessed the passionate feelings of the slaves at the moment
when, by their enrolment in the Register of the African Dep6t, they obtained the certainty of an
amelioration of condition, which, till ihen, eould not have come within the range of their ideas jome
that none of them witnessed their religious gratitude, and their first use of freedom in calling out to -
their former masters : “ Now at least my head is safe from your bloody law.”

On this point I have now only to call yoyr atiention to the words of the Treaty, in which it is
resolved and solemnly agreed upon by the Princes,—*“That no person shall be offered as a recruit,
and accepted as such by the Netherlands Agent at Coomassie, who has been made prisoner in war;
who has been condemned to slavery for crimes committed ; who is pledged on account of debts, or an
engagement contracted by himself or relationF 5 and who has been carried off by force from his native
country.” ' : .

“But,” says the writer of the Letter to Sir G. Grey, “ But the Netherlands enrolment has oceca-
sioned a suspension of trade hetween Ashantee and the coust.” It is true, that on my way to

Coomassie, and before I had crossed the ]}ozempra, I received information that the King of the

. Ashantees bad taken measures to prevent the trading journeys of his subjects to the ecoast; but it is
false that that Decree, or whatever it may have been, was in any way connected with our African
levy, or with my mission. So far from this l‘)eing the case, the Prince, if not wholly ignorant of the
chief object of the mission, was, at all events, not sufficiently acquainted with it to make it a motive for
a change of views with regard to the interests of trade.

* The sole and entire truth is, that the Governments of the Dutch, British, and Danish possessions
on the coast, in conjunction with the principal merchants at Elmina, Cape Coast, Anpaboo, and
Airaci, had, on the 30th of November, 1835, entered into a kind of written agreement, or rather they
had issued a Decree, by which the direct conyeyance of saleable articles to the interior, on account of
merchants settled on the coast, was prohibited on pain of the confiscation of such goods; and it was
adopted as a principle, that the inland dealers should thenceforth be waited for on the coast.

I deem it unnecessary to enlarge on the merits of this measure, as far as regards the principle;
but, on my return to the coast, I considered it my duty not to give it my approbation, and for a two-
fold reason ; first, because in as far as the Dutch Governor was concerned, he had no authority for
entering into such an engagenient; T have seen reason to suspect, that no notice of such an arrange-
ment hasbeen transmitted by him to the Colonial Department here ; and, secondly, because, though
the interests of the merchants of the second and third rank were equally involved in it, yet no oppor-
tunity bad been offered them of expressing their consent to, or dissent from, the same. In éne word,
I considered the whole measure as being adopted exclusively in the interests of the wholesale importers,
and 3 havjng the unquestionable tendency to ruin, or at all events to cripple, the retail trade in a most
arbitrary:taanner. * In sddition to this, it must be observed, that the so called Treaty of the 30th of
November;4835, was concluded without the King of Ashantee taking any part in, or even ofhis having

any knowledge of it. .

Such an arrangement was naturally calculated to disgust the Ashantee Prince, but the refractory
spirit afterwards shown by him, was excited chiefly by his learning that the Directors of Commerce
at Cape Coast, without consulting him, or even the subscribers to the agreement concluded, either at
Elmina or Acria, had thought proper, it would be difficult to say for what reason, again to repeal the
prohibition, thereby “to open the paths anew,” as it is termed in the language of the country.
But the prohibition of direct importation from the coast to the interior had already been displeasing
to the King of the Ashantees, forcing, as it did, his subjects to travel through the Assim and Fantee
countries, the only paths then remaining open, and to subject themselves to annoyances of various
descriptions.  And here I must observe, as I did to the Vice President Topp, that the hostile feelings
between the Ashantees and the inhabitants of Assim and Fantee are far from being extinguished,
and that it is only the united influence, and, it need be, the united power, of the British and Dutch
authorities on the coast, that can prevent quarrels, and, sooner or later, even a war from breaking out
in the South-western countries of Africa.

"The instructions given by me to M. Tonneboeyer on this head, before leaving the coast, will testify
the anxiety I felt upou that important subject.

After this éxplanation, is it still to be maintained that the suspensions of the trade of the interior
‘with the coast, or rather, if you will, of the coast with the interior, which then took place, and has in
all probability ceased by this time, are to be attributed to the simple and open enrolment of recruits
on the part of the Dutch Government, or to. my opérations at Coomassie? With regard to the latter,
I trust I have aright to appeal to M. Topp himself; and the forcible measures, chiefly in the interests

* of British subjects on the coast, to which I resorted against the Chief Priest' of the Fetchis and his
party at Elmina, will, as I have reason to expect from the character of that Gentleman, ere now have
been reported to his Government. :

Thus far I had proceeded in the task imposed upon me, when I had the honour of receiving your
" Excelfency’s Letter of the 26th current, No. 208, inclosing a later Note from the British Minister at
the Court of the Netherlands, dated the 20th, and containing Extract of a Leiter from the President and
Council of the British possessions on the Coast, all relating to the Netherlands enrolment in Africa. Itis
worthy of remark, in the last-mentioned Document, (likewise dated Cape Coast, before my departure
thence, and probably despatched by the same vessel,) that there is not even the most remote mention
made of that fear of war, of the encouragement of slave-dealing, of the suspension of trade on the
Coast, which occupy so prominent a place in the Letter to Sir G. Grey; whatever may be the rzason
of this, the Letter of the Presideat and Council (I am happy to acknowledge it) bears the stamp of a
Report free from all express prejudice. I should therefore have no remark to make on it, did I not
conceive that I was rendering a service by pointing out certain mistakes of a very trifling description
which oceur in it, and which most probably originate in incorrect information.
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The writers of the Report speak of ** presents of immense value for the King of the Ashantees.”
From the account handed to your Excellency before my departure for the Coast, it is known to you'
that the sum total paid for those presents did not amount to 5,000 guilders in all, exclusive of a gilt
copper cuirass and helmet, 4 or 5 small silver table articles, and a few yards of gold and silver fringe
and lace, which latter had been asked for in the reign of the former King of the Ashantees, and by
that Monarch himself. . . .'

The British Embassy, under Messrs. Bowdich and Dupuis, presented to the then reigning Prince,
presents which, if they did not exceed, at least equalled ours in value.  Splendid presents” and * im-
‘mense value,” therefore, are far from being justifiable expressions. ) .

Further, there is mention made of a Treaty of Alliance said to have been concluded between the
Prince and me; now, though I received more than one hint at Coomassie to bring about a close con-
nexion between the Dutch Government, or at least the establishment at Elmina and the Government
of Ashantee, I not only expressly avoided every political point, but even refrzined, as much at least as
was possible, from involving the person of my Sovereign or his Government in the question.

My Treaty with Hevakoo Dua, concluded on the 18th Mareh, and exclusively referring to the sub-
ject of the levy, will bear testimony to this; and I think I may flatter myself that your Excellency
will do me the justice to allow that my precaulion in this respect was by no means an imitation of the
test of the Treaty concluded by Messrs, Bowdich and Dupuis.

An agreeable recollection was excited in me by the mention made in the Letter of the highly respect-
able and meritorious President of Cape Coast, of the measure I adopted for the total suppression of
the former so called Delegations of African recruits in favour of any one whatsoever. " Indeed I must
have much misunderstood the instructions with which your Excellency honoured me, had I allowed
a system so entirely opposite to the principle of our enrolment to continue. It was no less flattering
to me to receive the other day the approbation of my conduect in this particular from the Lieutenaat-
General the Governor of Netherland India, as well ac his promise to support my proposal to your
Excellency for doing away with the system of stopping part of the pay of the African soldiers formerly
levied, at least in as far as those in the employ of Government are concerned. ,

I have besides to thank President Topp for his care in warning the - British subjects on the Coast
against all force and unlawful influence on the part of masters with regard to the engagement of their
slaves in the Indian service. This measure gives me the assurance anew, that my instructions to the
Commanding Officer at Elmina, and to the Officers of the Depbt under his command will be followed,
strictly followed, in the full spirit of the example given them by me, by leaving it to the choice of every
recruit at the moment of embarkation, to consider himself free from this military engagement, and ye?
still to retain his emancipation, by allowing the free egress and ingress of the forts to.all the troops
in the intervals betweer: military service ; and even to give the preference to the Ashantee recruits in
their fall uniform as-conductors of the transports from Coomassie to Elmina.

T may not venture to give your Excellency any advice respecting the answer to be returned to the
2 Notes of the British Minister, nevertheless I trust that the foregoing may not be found wuttérly inade-
quate to that purpose.

With the present I have the honour to return to your Excellency inclosed the Documents sent for
my perusal. ) -
(Signed) GENERAL-MAJOR VERVEER.
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No. 72.
My. Humilton Hamilton to Viscount Palmerston.—(Rec. May 4th, 1837.)
My Lorbp, Rio de Janeiro, 27th February, 1837,

T navE the honour to enclose for your Lordship’s information the answer
returned, by the Imperial Government, to my note on the subject of the * Mindello”
slaver, captured on the Coast of Africa, which was sent home in my Despatch of
the 17th of January last.

The same note, however, launches out into very many other topics, connected
with this detestable traffic, and seemed to require the detailed rejoinder, which also
I have the honour to forward herewith, under No. 2.

Inclosure No. 3 contains a report of arrivals in this vieinity from the Coast of
Africa during the month of January:

Accounts from England, brought by Her Majesty’s Ship ¢ Conway,” speak of
the conclusion of the definitive %qnvenﬁon between Great Britain and Portugal
for the Abolition of this commerce ; and reports, direct from Senhor Galvao to the
TImperial Government, speak also to the same point. Considerable anxiety is in
consequence felt for the arrival of the next packet. Intelligence of such an event
would be hailed by the Government with great cordiality.

I have, &e.
(Signed) HAMILTON HAMILTON.
The Right Hon. Viscount Palmerston, G.C.B. :
&e. &e. &e.

T

First Epclosure in No. 72.
M. & Agulay Pantoja to Mr. Hamilion.

{Translation.)
- Rio de Juneiro, 30th January, 1837,

Tue Undersigned, &c. &c., has the honour to acknowledge the receipt of the note addressed
to him on the st instant by Mr. Hamilton Hamilton, &c. &c., accompanied by a Despatch from the
British Commissioners in Sierra Leone, announcing the capture and condemnation of a vessel named
the * Mindello,”” employed in the Slave Trade, under the Portuguese flag; and by two reports, one
showing the number of vessels which had entered and landed slaves in Rio de Janeiro, and other
provinces, or which were fitting out for the same object ; and the other, the names of several officers
of the Brazilian navy, who are said to have commanded some of these vessels! The Undersigned
can assure Mr. Hamilton that the Imperial Government detests the infamous traffic, and has taken,
and continues to' take the niost active measures for its suppression, and will immediately issue the
most positive orders to institute the most rigorous inquiries respecling the persons mentioned in the
said reports, in order that, in case of their protection or connivance being proved, they should be
exemplarily punished with the utmost rigour of the law.

The Undersigned cannot; however, omit to observe to Mr. H. Hamilton, that the person who
supplied the information relatively to the landing of slaves on the estates of Brazilian proprietors,
renders himself liable to suspicion, innsmuch as he did not scruple to impugn the honour of an
upright magisirate, such as Sefior Joze Carlos d’Almeida Torres, with whose probity and honour the
Undersigned is well scquointed, and whom he knows to be incapable of commitling an unworthy
aetion ; his esiate, moreover, being situated in the interior, on which, in consequence, negroes could
not, as was affirmed, have been landed. ~

The Undersigned must also inform Mr. H. Hamilton that the Imperial Government has learnt
with great surprise and regret, that several English merchants, moved by the desire of gaining great
profit, have imported from Great Britain merchandises calculated only for the Slave Trade, and which
has had the effect of encouraging the said traffic; these illegal dealers in human flesh, supposing that
it is only philanthropists belonging to the African Society who oppose the traffic, and not the general
mass of the English nation. Were it not the wish of the Imperial Government to use the greatest
circumspection in such a scandalous affair, it would now point out the English houses and merchants
who encourage this nefarious commerce, and of whom it has received information.

It being necessary, however, 10 correct this terrible abuse, the Undersigned brings this fact to the
knowledge of Mr. Hamilton Hamilton, in order that the enlightened English Government, which has
acquired indelible glory from having been the first to employ its utmost efforts to destroy this scourge,
may take the necessary steps to prevent the exportation of the said merchandise to Brazil.

‘The Undersigned, however, cannot but regret that the continual communications made by Mr.
Hamilton Hamilton en this subject, should appear to indicate that the Brazilian Government does
not employ all its means in order to crush at once a monster so criminal as the traffic in question, it
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ing obvious that the Imperial Government, struguling as it is with civil war at the two extremities
Z?iﬁi litgpire, where nearllyjr all its naval force has been employgd, has not _been able to ass‘l)st effe(;‘tw
ally in its suppression, and hawing:, moreover, to mutenfl ‘with the opinion, erroneous, but En or-
tunately very general with the puhlhc {from what may be mferre(_l from represeatations to.th_e egis~
Iative body), that African labour is absolutely necessary for agriculture; whilst Great Dritain, m}(:rre
interested in the execuiion of the Treaty which she herzelf proposed, and to effect which she l¢s
laboured so strenuously, does not employ the cruizers, or the necessary activity stipulated for in the

"reaty. :
samT;;l E[mgerizd Government, without designing in the slightest degree to tolerate, and still less to
exculpate Brazilian subjects, thus viclaling the laws, cannot but observe that persous employed in
the service of Great Britain seem desitous to exercise on the territory of Brazil alone a degree of
vigilunce which is far from becoming them, when they might employ it with greater benefit to the
eaus ity on the sea.
cause of humanity o The Undersigned, &c.,
(Signed) GUSTAVO ADOLPHO D’AGUILAR PANTOJA,
My, Homilton Hamifton,
&c.  &e.  &e.

Second Enclosure’in No. 72.
M. Homilton to M. & Aguilar Panigja.

Rio de Janciro, February 22d, 1837.
Monsieva L MINISTRE,

I nave the honour of replying to your Excellency’s note of the 30th uitimo, on the subject of
certain reports relating to Slave Trade, which were submitted to your consideration in my note, dated
the 7th of the same month.

It onght not to be assumed that the representations which I may have to bring forward respecting
the traffic in slaves, I should pledge myself for the exael truth of every essential particular contained in
them, It must often be very difficnlt to proeure full and satisfactory proof even in cases of the most
atrocious delinquency, where so many individuals are implicated, and so many interested in conceal-
ment, but whenever any are pointed out by public rumour as connected with the traffic in question, it
must surely be both desirable and convenient to a Government bound by Treaty to its suppression, to
be made acquainted with these rumours, and even these individuals themselves, if innocent, are bene-
fited by the opportunity thus afforded for establishing and proclaiming that innocence. .

But with reference more particularly to the case of the slave cargo of the brig  Silencio,”” “said to
have been landed on the Fagenda of Senhor Jozé Carlos d’Almeida Torres, in the month of Decem-
ber last, I have to state that immediately after the receipt of your note of the 30th ultimo, in which
that information is called in question, 1 caused further inquiries ‘to be made, and have again “been
assured that such = landing did take place, if not on, at least,near to the said Fagenda ; for although
not absolutely on the coast, the estate is said to be not very far from it, and to be accessible by a river:
and furthermore, that is believed the negroes were still on the property for sale a short time back.
It is by no means asserted that the debarkation was effected with the privity of Senlior d’Almeida
Torres, or that he was a party to the transaction ; but if he has lately visited his estate, he may be able
to explain, probably, in what the erroneous report may have originated, and who are the persons reaily
concerned. '

Far be it from me, M. Le Ministre, to question for one murq}ent the probity and integrity of Senhor
Almeida Torres, or to consider him capable of 2 base or derogatory action, because I do. not enjoy the
honour of his acquaintance. But it is unfortunately notorious that numberless individuals here, of
characters most reputable in other respects, are stiil engaged in the traffic now under the ban of almost
all the civilized world ; and that from being promoted and proteeted by such characters, it is rarely
considered in Brazil in the light even of a moral blemish, much less as a crime of the blackest die of
inhumanity and of irreligion. . :

I could bere mention other estates in the country, depositories of slaves, of which the proprietors are
exalted alike in rank and in reputation, together with other corroborating circumstances, in testimony
that this rank and reputation does not always scruple to partieipate in a commerce so degrading ; but
A refrain from doing so, for I believe the Imperial Government to be quite sincere in its desire to ~
abolish it: and that its desire to abolish it, and that its labours to that end, how much soever thwarted
and opposed at the present juncture, by individuals eminent in authority, or powerful through their
wealth, must ultimateiy prove successful, ’ : :

But Your Excellency advances that the traffic in negroes is encouraged and supported by English
commercial houses established in this place, who import merchandise suitable to its demands; and in
consequence you recommend that the British Government prohibit the exportation of such merchan-
dise to Brazil. This certainly appears a strange argument, and 2 still more strange proposal, but I
will endeavour to reply.

The Brazilian market c